

EUROPEAN MEDICAL JOURNAL

ISSN 2397-6764 ------

———— Vol 2.2 • June 2017 • europeanmedical-journal.com ———





CONTENTS

EDITORIAL BOARD.....

FEATURE

VAGINAL REJUVENATION' AND THE REGULATION OF NEW TECHNOLOGIES:

Antonios Antoniou, Ahmed Yassin

ARTICLES

EDITOR'S PICK: A REGENERATIVE BIOLOGY VIEW ON ARTIFICIAL TISSUE CONSTRUCTION AND THREE-DIMENSIONAL BIOPRINTING: WHAT MAY WE LEARN FROM NATURAL REGENERATIVE PHENOMENA?

Henrik Lauridsen

EFFICACY OF THE ARTIFICIAL URINARY SPHINCTER ZSI 375 FOR TREATMENT OF POST-RADICAL PROSTATECTOMY INCONTINENCE IN PATIENTS WITH INTRINSIC SPHINCTER DEFICIENCY: A PRELIMINARY STUDY.....

Alejandro Carvajal Obando et al.

DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY HEALTHCARE SOLUTIONS IN AN ERA OF MOVING POPULATIONS AND CHRONIC ILLNESSES: ARE WE BEING REALISTICALLY SMART?......

Judith Ansaa Osae-Larbi

 COMPREHENSIVE ASSESSMENT AND PHARMACOTHERAPY OF PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC PAIN SYNDROME DUE TO DIABETIC NEUROPATHY AND POSTHERPETIC NEURALGIA.

Katarzyna Rygiel

BENCHMARKING OUTCOMES THAT MATTER MOST TO PATIENTS: THE GLOBE PROGRAMME

Andre G. Dias et al.

EUROPEAN MEDICAL JOURNAL

CANCER.		
Camila Libardi do Amaral	1	
CONCERNS ABOUT THE USE OF NON-HIGH-DENSITY I A LIPID PREDICTOR	LIPOPROTEIN CHOLESTEROL AS	
William E. Feeman, Jnr.		
OCCUPATIONAL ALLERGY.		
Stacey E. Anderson et al.		
EXTENSION OF 2016 WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION A NEW SET OF CLINICAL, LABORATORY, MOLECULAR FOR THE DIAGNOSIS OF MYELOPROLIFERATIVE NEOF VAINCHENKER, GREEN, AND KRALOVICS	N (WHO) CLASSIFICATION INTO R, AND PATHOLOGICAL CRITERIA PLASMS: FROM DAMESHEK TO	
Jan Jacques Michiels et al.		
E 'NUCLEOLUS' HYPOTHESIS OF AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES AND ITS IMPLICATIONS		
Wesley H. Brooks, Yves Renaudineau		
PAIN DURING ILLUSORY OWN ARM MOVEMENT: A STU REALITY	UDY IN IMMERSIVE VIRTUAL	
Alessandro Zanini et al.		
PARADIGM SHIFT FOR THROMBOLYSIS FOR PATIENTS STROKE, FROM EXTENSION OF THE TIME WINDOW TO	WITH ACUTE ISCHAEMIC O THE RAPID RECANALISATION	
AFTER SYMPTOM ONSET		
Hye Seon Jeong, Jei Kim		

Str

. . .

Ž

EDITORIAL BOARD

EDITOR-IN-CHIEF

Prof Markus Peck-Radosavljevic, Klinikum Klagenfurt am Wörthersee, Austria

THE BOARD

Dr Pierfrancesco Agostoni, St. Antonius Hospital, Netherlands

Dr Fernando Alfonso, Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Princesa, Spain

Dr George Anifandis, University of Thessaly, Greece

Dr Emanuele Angelucci, Chairman, Hematology and Transplant Center, Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Istituto di Ricovero e Cura a Carattere Scientifico, Genova, Italy.

Dr Riccardo Autorino, Case Medical Center, USA

Prof Ahmad Awada, Jules Bordet Institute, Belgium

Dr Sorin T. Barbu, "Iuliu Hațieganu" University of Medicine and Pharmacy, Romania

Prof Andrew Bush, Imperial College London, UK

Dr Abdullah Erdem Canda, Ankara Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, Turkey

Dr Ian Chikanza, Barts and The Royal London Hospital, UK

Prof Robert Dellavalle, University of Colorado, USA

Dr Adam Fox, Guy's and St Thomas' Hospitals/King's College London, UK

Prof Jörg Huber, University of Brighton, UK

Prof Norbert Lameire, Ghent University, Belgium

Dr Lorenz Räber, Bern University Hospital, Switzerland

Prof Lászlo Vécsei, University of Szeged, Hungary

Dr Mátyás Benyó, University of Debrecen, Hungary

European Medical Journal is published four times a year. For subscription details please visit www.europeanmedical-journal.com

All information obtained by European Medical Journal and each of the contributions from various sources is as current and accurate as possible. However, due to human or mechanical errors, European Medical Journal and the contributors cannot guarantee the accuracy, adequacy, or completeness of any information, and cannot be held responsible for any errors or omissions. Front cover and contents artwork: Stacey Rivers/EMJ

AIMS AND SCOPE

- The European Medical Journal (EMJ) is an online only, peer-reviewed, open access general journal, targeted towards readers in the medical sciences. We aim to make all our articles accessible to readers from any medical discipline
- EMJ allows healthcare professionals to stay abreast of key advances and opinions across Europe
- EMJ aims to support healthcare professionals in continuously developing their knowledge, effectiveness, and productivity. The editorial policy is designed to encourage discussion among this peer group
- EMJ is published quarterly and comprises review articles, case reports, practice guides, theoretical discussions, and original research
- EMJ also publishes 16 therapeutic area journals, which provide concise coverage of salient developments at the leading European congresses. These are published annually, approximately 6 weeks after the relevant congress. Further details can be found on our website: www.europeanmedical-journal.com

EDITORIAL EXPERTISE

EMJ is supported by various levels of expertise:

- Guidance from an Editorial Board consisting of leading authorities from a wide variety of disciplines
- Invited contributors are recognised authorities from their respective fields
- Peer review, which is conducted by EMJ's Peer Review Panel as well as other experts appointed due to their knowledge of a specific topic
- An experienced team of editors and technical editors

PEER REVIEW

- On submission, all articles are assessed by the editorial team to determine their suitability for the journal and appropriateness for peer review
- Editorial staff, following consultation with either a member of the Editorial Board or the author(s) if necessary, identify three appropriate reviewers, who are selected based on their specialist knowledge in the relevant area

- All peer review is double blind
- Following review, papers are either accepted without modification, returned to the author(s) to incorporate required changes, or rejected
- Editorial staff have final discretion over any proposed amendments

SUBMISSIONS

- Contributors are identified and invited by editorial staff with guidance from the Editorial Board
- Following acceptance of an invitation, the author(s) and editorial staff formalise the working title and scope of the article
- Editorial staff will provide instructions to authors, or submission details can be found through our website: www.europeanmedical-journal.com
- Editorial staff are always keen to hear from healthcare professionals wishing to discuss potential submissions

REPRINTS

All articles included in EMJ are available as reprints (minimum order 1,000). Please contact hello@europeanmedical-journal.com if you would like to order reprints

DISTRIBUTION AND READERSHIP

EMJ is distributed through controlled circulation to healthcare professionals in the relevant fields across Europe

INDEXING AND AVAILABILITY

- EMJ is indexed on DOAJ, the Royal Society of Medicine, and Google Scholar[®]; selected articles are indexed in PubMed Central[®]
- EMJ is available through the websites of our leading partners and collaborating societies
- EMJ journals are all available via our website: www.europeanmedical-journal.com

EUROPEAN MEDICAL JOURNAL 2.2

JUNE 2017

Director Spencer Gore **Project Director** Daniel Healy Project Manager Stephanie Somuah Senior Account Manager Jeremy Betts Account Manager Max Roy **Executive Assistant** Sadia Rob Publisher Zoë Webster Head of Operations Rob Dohoo **Operations Co-ordinator** Alice Angus Finance Co-ordinator Martin Bircher **Editor-in-Chief** Prof Markus Peck-Radosavljevic Senior Editorial Assistant James Coker **Editorial Assistants** Katie Earl, Laura Mason **Editorial Administrators** Lucy Buchholz, Mark Wilkes Product Development Manager Stacey Rivers Product Development Co-ordinator Joe Ellis **Product Development Administrators** Louise Chick, Kim Cordell, Louisa Kewell Production Co-ordinator Peter Wilkes Production Administrator Jessy Redfern



Staff members attend Medical Congresses as reporters when required.



EUROPEAN UNION Investing in Your Future European Regional Development Fund 2007-13

Published by the European Medical Group The MedBIC, Anglia Ruskin University, Chelmsford, CM1 1SQ

SUBSCRIBE TO THE EMJ NEWSLETTER

www.news.emjreviews.com





Hello and welcome to the second edition of our flagship journal, *European Medical Journal*, for 2017. As always, this unique, mixed therapeutic area publication displays research and studies from across a plethora of fascinating medical topics. In this edition, there is a particular emphasis on medical innovation and technology to improve patient care, as well as peer-reviewed articles from several fields, including cardiology, neurology, and haematology.

Antoniou and Yassin present the featured article for this journal. This looks at 'vaginal rejuvenation' and the safety of current methods and devices for such a procedure, as well as an analysis of regulations in this area.

Due to the large increase of migrants and refugees in the modern era, there is an additional challenge for healthcare systems, especially with the resulting increased risk of chronic illnesses developing. With this in mind, Osae-Larbi discusses ways in which mobile digital health technologies can help tackle this potential burden in the future. In another medical innovations article, Zanini et al. investigate whether it is possible to combine the analgesic effects of looking at one's body with those deriving from the illusion that one's own limb is moving, in order to assist with the goal of developing pain-relieving outcomes. Also from the sphere of innovations, Lauridsen writes about the potential impact the fields of regenerative biology and medicine can have in artificial tissue construction by considering how intrinsic tissue regeneration takes place in nature.

66 As always, this unique, mixed therapeutic area publication displays research and studies from a plethora of fascinating medical topics.

We have a pair of papers from the sphere of allergy and immunology; Brooks and Renaudineau have provided a paper on the nucleolus hypothesis of autoimmune diseases, while Anderson et al. review the incidence, agents, and mechanisms of occupational allergy before going on to detail research needs. From the field of cardiology, Feeman examines the extent to which non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol is a predictor of the population at risk of atherothrombotic disease. Neurology is also a strong focus: Jeong and Kim provide a thought-provoking piece on intra-arterial thrombectomy and the limitations of extending this therapeutic tool for improved functional outcomes after thrombolysis. Rygiel describes the main mechanisms underlying chronic nociceptive and neuropathic pain, before discussing techniques to help practitioners evaluate and regularly monitor pain, emphasising the importance of collaboration between a team of medical specialists.

We hope that you enjoy this edition of *European Medical Journal* and that the content is both intellectually stimulating and useful to you in your future work. We would like to thank all the authors who have contributed to this edition, as well as our esteemed editorial board for their support and expertise, and we look forward to further editions of this journal in 2017.



Spencer Gore Director, European Medical Journal

??

Bosulif[®] (bosutinib): Helping you give the right patient the right TKI, at the right time

Now recommended by NICE,

making it an option for use in patients who have received a first-line TKI and for whom other TKIs are inappropriate¹



Bosulif[®] is indicated for the treatment of adult patients with chronic phase, accelerated phase, and blast phase Philadelphia chromosome-positive chronic myelogenous leukaemia previously treated with one or more tyrosine kinase inhibitor(s) and for whom imatinib, nilotinib and dasatinib are not considered appropriate treatment options.

Bosulif[®] was granted 'conditional approval' by the EMA. A confirmatory phase IV safety and efficacy study is underway and will be submitted to the EMA when possible.

This advert is intended to be viewed by healthcare professionals only.



Please refer to the Summary of Product Characteristics (SmPC) before prescribing Bosulif 100mg or 500mg film-coated tablets.

This medicinal product is subject to additional monitoring. This will allow quick identification of new safety information. Healthcare professionals are asked to report any suspected adverse reactions. See section 4.8 of the SmPC for how to report adverse reactions.

Presentation: ilm-coated tablet containing 100mg or 500mg bosutinib (as monohydrate). Indications: Bosutinib is indicated for the treatment of adult patients with chronic phase (CP), accelerated phase (AP), and blast phase (BP) Philadelphia chromosome positive chronic myelogenous leukaemia (Ph+ CML) previously treated with one or more tyrosine kinase inhibitor(s) and for whom imatinib, nilotinib and dasatinib are not considered appropriate treatment options. Dosage: Therapy should be initiated by a physician experienced in the diagnosis and the treatment of patients with CML. The recommended dose of bosutinib is 500mg taken orally once daily with food. In clinical trials, treatment with bosutinib continued until disease progression or until it was no longer tolerated by the patient. Dose escalation to 600mg once daily was allowed in the phase 2 clinical trial of adult patients with previously treated Ph+ CML who did not experience severe or persistent moderate adverse reactions, and who did not meet certain early efficacy criteria. For details of dose escalation and dose reduction guidelines for non-haematologic adverse reactions and for haematologic adverse reactions, refer to SmPC section 42. Patients with serum creatinine >1.5 x ULN were excluded from CML studies. Increasing exposure (AUC) in patients with moderate and severe renal impairment during studies was observed. For details of dosage in patients with moderate and severe real impairment please refer to SmD Section 4.2. Caution should be exercised in patients with relevant cardiac disorders and in patients with recent or ongoing clinically significant gastrointestinal disorder (see section 4.4 of SmPC). No specific dose recommendation is necessary in the elderly (>65 years). Since there is limited information in the elderly, caution should be exercised in these patients. The safety and efficacy of bosutinib in patients under 18 years of age has not been established. **Contraindications:** Hypersensitivity to the active substance or to any of the excipients. Hepatic impairment. Special warnings and precautions for use: Treatment with bosutinib is associated with elevations in serum transaminases (ALT, AST). Transaminase elevations generally occurred early in the course of treatment. Patients receiving bosutinib should have liver function tests prior to treatment initiation and month for the first 3 months of treatment, and as clinically indicated. Treatment with bosutinib is nt initiation and monthly associated with diarrhoea and vomiting, therefore patients with recent or ongoing clinically significant gastrointestinal disorder should use this medicinal product with caution and only after a careful benefit-risk assessment. Patients with diarrhoea and vomiting should be managed using standard-of-care treatment, including an antidiarrhoeal or antiemetic medicinal product and/or fluid replacement. In addition, these events can also be managed by withholding bosutinib temporarily, dose reduction, and/or discontinuation of bosutinib (see SmPC sections 4.2 and 4.8). The antiemetic agent, domperidone, has the potential to increase QI interval prolongation and to induce "torsade de pointes" - arrhythmias; therefore, co-administration with domperidone should be avoided. It should only be used if other medicinal products are not efficacious. In these situations an individual benefit-risk assessment



is mandatory and patients should be monitored for occurrence of QT prolongation. Treatment with bosultinib is associated with myelosuppression, defined as anaemia, neutropenia, and thrombocytopenia. Complete blood counts should be performed weekly for the first month and then monthly thereafter, or as clinically indicated. Treatment with bosutinib may be associated with fluid retention including pericardial effusion, pleural effusion and pullmonary oedema. Patients should be monitored and managed using standard-of-care treatment. Elevation in serum lipase has been observed. Caution is recommended in patients with previous history of pancreatitis. Bosutinib may predispose patients to bacterial, fungal, viral or protozoan infections. Automated machine-read QTc prolongation without accompanying arrhythmia has been observed. Bosutinib should be administered with caution to patients who have a history of or predisposition for QTc prolongation, who have uncontrolled or significant cardiac disease including recent myocardial infarction, congestive heart failure, unstable angina or clinically significant bradycardia, or who are taking medicinal products that are known to prolong the QT interval. Monitoring for an effect on the QTc interval is advisable and a baseline ECG is Contract in the provided prior to initiating therapy with Bosutinib and as clinically indicated. Hypokalaemia or hypomagnesaemia must be corrected prior to bosutinib administration and should be monitored periodically during therapy. Treatment with bosutinib may result in a should be monitored periodically during therapy. Treatment with bosutinib may result in a should be monitored periodically during therapy. Treatment with bosutinib and as the should be monitored periodically during therapy. dinically significant decline in renal function in CML patients. A decline over time in estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) has been observed in patients treated with bosutinib in clinical studies. It is important that renal function is assessed prior to treatment initiation and closely monitored during therapy with bosutinib, with particular attention in those patients who have preexisting renal compromise or in those patients exhibiting risk factors for renal dysfunction, including concomitant use of medicinal products with potential for nephrotoxicity, such as diuretics, ACE inhibitors, angiotensin receptor blockers and nonsteroidal anti-inflarmatory drugs (NSAIDs). Bosutinib can induce severe skin reactions such as Stevens-Johnson Syndrome and Toxic Epidermal Necrolysis. Bosutinib should be permanently discontinued in patients who experience a severe skin reaction during treatment. Due to the possible occurrence of tumour lysis syndrome (TLS), correction of clinically significant dehydration and treatment of high urio acid levels are recommended prior to initiation of bosultinib (see SmPC section 4.8). Reactivation of hepatitis B (HBV) in patients who are chronic carriers of this virus has occurred after these patients received BCR-ABL tyrosine kinase inhibitors. Some cases resulted in acute hepatic failure or fulminant hepatitis leading to liver transplantation or a fatal outcome. Patients should be tested for HBV infection before initiating treatment with Bosulif. Experts in liver disease and in the treatment of hepatitis B should be consulted before treatment is initiated in patients with positive hepatitis B serology (including those with active disease) and for patients who test positive for HBV infection during treatment. Carriers of HBV who require treatment with Bosulif should be closely monitored for signs and symptoms of active HBV infection throughout therapy and for several months following termination of therapy. Th concomitant use of bosutinib with strong or moderate CYP3A inhibitors/inducers should be avoided as an increase/decrease in bostlinib plasma concentration will occur. Grapefruit products, including grapefruit juice and other foods that are known to inhibit CYP3A should be avoided. **Drug interactions:** The concomitant use of bosutinib with with strong CYP3A inhibitors (including, but not limited to itraconazole, ketoconazole, posaconazole, voriconazole, clarithromycin, telithromycin, nefazodone, mibefradil, indinavir, lopinavir/ritonavir, nelfinavir, ritonavir, saquinavir, boceprevir, telaprevir, grapefruit products including grapefruit juice) or moderate CYP3A inhibitors (including, but not limited to fluconazole, ciprofloxacin,

erythromycin, diltiazem, verapamil, amprenavir, atazanavir, darunavir/ritonavir, fosamprenavir, aprepitant, crizotinib, imatinib) should be avoided, as an increase in bosutinib plasma concentration will occur. Refer to section 4.5 of the SmPC for further details. If a strong or moderate CYP3A inhibitor must be administered during bosutinib treatment, an interruption of bosutinib therapy or a dose reduction in bosutinib should be considered. The concomitant use of bosutinib with strong CYP3A inducers (including, but not limited to carbamazepine, phenytoin rifampicin St. John's Wort) or moderate (YP3A inducers (including, but not limited to bosentan, efavirenz, etravirine, modafinil, nafcillin) should be avoided, as a decrease in bosutinib plasma concentration will occur. Caution should be exercised when administering bosutinib concomitantly with proton pump inhibitors (PPIs). Short-acting antacids should be considered as an alternative to PPIs and administration times of bosutinib and antacids should be separated (i.e. take bosutinib in the morning and antacids in the evening) wheneve possible. Bostium is should be used with caution in patients who have or may develop prolongation of QT, including those patients taking anti-arrhythmic medicinal products of other medicinal products that may lead to QT prolongation. Refer to sections 4.4 and 4.5 of the SmPC for further details. Fertility, pregnancy and lactation: Not recommended in pregnancy or whilst breast feeding. Bosutinib has the potential to impair reproductive function and fertility. Driving and operating machinery: Bosutinib has no or negligible influence on the ability to drive and use machines. Undesirable effects: Very common adverse events are: respiratory tract infection, thrombocytopenia, neutropenia, anaemia, leukopenia, decreased appetite, headache, cough, diarrhoea, vomiting, nausea, abdominal pain, alanine aminotransferase increased, aspartate aminotransferase increased, rash, arthralgia, pyrexia, oedema, fatigue. Commonly reported adverse events are: pneumonia, influenza, bronchitis, nasopharyngitis febrile neutropenia, drug hypersensitivity, dehydration, hyperkalaemia, hypophosphataemia dizziness, dysgeusia, pericardial effusion, electrocardiogram QT prolonged, hypertension, dyspnoea, pleural effusion, gastritis, hepatotoxicity, hepatic function abnormal, blood bilirubin increased, gamma-glutamyltransferase increased, urticaria, acne, pruritus, myalgia, back pain, renal failure, chest pain, pain, asthenia, lipase increased, blood creatinine increased, blood amylase increased, blood creatine phosphokinase increased. Refer to section 4.8 of the SmPC for further information on side effects, including description of selected adverse reactions. Gradina Machine and Carlos Carlos (100mg, 28 tablets [EU/N13/88/001] [859.17. Bosulif 500 mg, 28 tablets [EU/N13/88/003] E436.67. Marketing authorisation holder: Pfizer Ltd, Ramsgate Road, Sandwich, Kent, CTI3 9NJ, UK.

Further information is available on request from: Medical Information at Pfizer Limited, Walton Oaks, Dorking Road, Tadworth, Surrey, KT20 7NS, UK. Tel: +44 (0) 1304 616161 Last revised: 12/2016 Ref: B0 8 0

> Adverse events should be reported. Reporting forms and information can be found at www.mhra.gov.uk/yellowcard. Adverse events should also be reported to Pfizer Medical Information on 01304 616161.

References

1. Pfizer Ltd. Bosulif SPC. Available at: www.medicines.org.uk/emc/



PP-BOS-GBR-0387 • Date of preparation: February 2017



Dr Markus Peck-Radosavljevic

Professor of Medicine and Chairman, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Endocrinology and Nephrology, Klinikum Klagenfurt am Wörthersee, Klagenfurt, Austria.

Dear Colleagues,

I would like to welcome you to the second edition of the *European Medical Journal* 2017. In this latest edition, we highlight a number of topics related to different areas of medicine and public health.

We begin with an article on the use of digital technology solutions in healthcare to help address chronic illness. Electronic diaries and other forms of communication have become standard practice in clinical trials, but here they are being trialled in the migrant population of Europe to help manage and prevent chronic diseases. Next, we move towards regenerative biology and address artificial tissue construction and three-dimensional (3D) bioprinting. The major issue is that artificial tissues are often not completely reliable or fully functional compared to the original tissues, which is an issue that needs to be resolved before its application can be introduced on a broader scale to the wider public.

I am sure that this edition will cover many topics of interest, and I hope that you enjoy reading our latest edition of the *European Medical Journal* 2017.

Following an article on virtual reality to tackle pain, we present a very important public health topic. In order to compare health outcomes globally, the International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (ICHOM) has engaged in a non-interventional, observational, benchmarking programme to evaluate standard sets of outcomes for important medical conditions. This will enable improved comparisons of the quality of healthcare and health systems globally.

Other relevant topics include a paper on the nucleolus hypothesis for the development of autoimmune diseases. In addition, the extension of the 2016 World Health Organization (WHO) classification for myeloproliferative neoplasms will be discussed, with particular emphasis on the use of new sets of clinical, laboratory, molecular, and pathological criteria. Other topics include epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) in prostate cancer and occupational allergies, amongst others.

I am sure that this edition will cover many topics of interest, and I hope that you enjoy reading our latest edition of the *European Medical Journal* 2017.

Kind regards,



Markus Peck-Radosavljevic

Professor of Medicine and Chairman, Department of Gastroenterology and Hepatology, Endocrinology and Nephrology, Klinikum Klagenfurt am Wörthersee, Klagenfurt, Austria; Fellow, Austrian College of Physicians; Member, American Association for the Study of Liver Disease (AASLD), the European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL), the Austrian Transplant Association, the Austrian Society for Infectious Diseases and Tropical Medicine (OEGIT), the Austrian Association for Gastroenterology and Hepatology, and the Austrian Society for Internal Medicine (ÖGIM).

EMJ EUROPEAN MEDICAL JOURNAL

EMJ Innovations 1.1 2017

Includes a selection of the latest features, articles, interviews, and a full review of Medica 2016.

Review of the Annual Meeting of MEDICA 2016, held in Düsseldorf, Germany, 14th–17th November 2016

Featured Inside:

Revolutionising Healthcare by Empowering Patients to Innovate

Editor's Pick: Democratising Healthcare: The Role of eHealth Technologies in Driving Patient Participation

Virtual Reality Assisted Anaesthesia During Upper Gastrointestinal Endoscopy: Report of 115 Cases

Just some of our must read content...





Review of the European Association of Urology Congress 2017, held in London, UK, 24th-28th March 2017

Featured Inside:

Nocturia: What Do We Need to Know in 2017? Identifying the Cause and Tailoring the Treatment

Incidentally Detected Renal Arteriovenous Malformation: A Case Report and Review of the Literature

Management of Anterior Urethral Strictures

And, much more...

EMJ Urology 5.1 2017

Includes a selection of the latest features, articles, abstracts, interviews, and a full review of EAU 2017.

europeanmedical-journal.com





'VAGINAL REJUVENATION' AND THE REGULATION OF NEW TECHNOLOGIES: CONTROLS ARE STILL LACKING

*Antonios Antoniou, Ahmed Yassin

Sidra Medical and Research Center, Doha, Qatar *Correspondence to aantoniou@sidra.org

Disclosure: The authors have declared no conflicts of interest. **Received:** 05.01.17 **Accepted:** 17.02.17 **Citation:** EMJ. 2017;2[2]:12-14.

Keywords: Vaginal rejuvenation, new technologies, regulation, registries.

A tour of the stands at the 41st International Urogynaecology Association (IUGA) Annual Meeting in August 2016 revealed a growing number of companies with machines aimed at 'vaginal rejuvenation', an industry-driven misnomer, with promises of tightening of the vagina (for laxity primarily caused by childbirth) and improved sexual satisfaction. A review of the literature regarding the use of energy-based devices, including CO₂-based or erbium:Yttrium-aluminum-garnet (Er:YAG) lasers and radiofrequency-based devices, for the treatment of vaginal rejuvenation, reveal the procedures to be easily performed in the outpatient setting, generally tolerable to the patient, and easy to do. However, most of the studies performed to date are pilot studies with low patient numbers and short follow-up, indicating that both efficacy and safety are yet to be established.¹⁻⁴ Moreover, there remain many questions that have yet to be answered, including the possibility of energy transmitted as heat affecting adjacent tissues (such as the cervix, rectum, and bladder) as well as the potential for neoplastic lesions, vulvar dermatoses, and the long-term effects of possible scarring on future obstetric outcome.

It remains unclear as to how online content influences women's consideration and acceptance of female genital cosmetic surgery. Further research is needed into the role the internet plays in its promotion and normalisation, and the consequent effect on patient demand.⁵ What is it that drives patients to seek such treatment? Is it the woman herself who seeks better sexual fulfilment or her partner? What is the psychological background of such behaviour? These issues warrant further investigation.

Of greater concern is the fact that there appears to be little worldwide regulation in the sale and use of such devices, with no apparent requirement for the organisation and collection of data in the form of databases or registries. This at least could be used to collect evidence of efficacy and long-term outcomes and to monitor the safety of the devices. These devices are available and have been used by a variety of practitioners including general gynaecologists, urogynaecologists, dermatologists, and plastic surgeons, further complicating matters.

The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency (MHRA) in the UK regulate the use of medical devices. These regulatory bodies must act in an efficient and timely manner such that patients are not deprived of beneficial innovations, whilst at the same time minimising harm. These bodies have not approved devices for use in this procedure. However, some of the devices used for vaginal rejuvenation have FDA approval for non-genital use. Nonetheless, many sites advertising the procedure misleadingly state that FDA approval has been met. The procedure is also openly advertised without regulation, and is available worldwide.

Although many medical devices for various indications have improved clinical outcomes, not all are beneficial and some have been harmful. Concerns over hip resurfacing techniques and breast implants have raised serious questions about how medical devices are evaluated. Furthermore, it would appear that we have yet to learn the lessons of the vaginal mesh fiasco with industry led introductions of treatments of utero-vaginal prolapse with minimal evidence, and lack of long-term outcomes rather than using a systematic base of evidence prior to using such products on our unsuspecting and vulnerable patients.⁶ The outcome of this has led to a plethora of litigation cases leading the manufacturers to remove their vaginal mesh products from the market.⁷ An unfortunate by-product of the vaginal mesh disaster is that evidence-based products such as 'tension-free' vaginal tapes, a treatment for stress urinary incontinence with excellent outcomes and low complication rates, are being unfairly associated with the meshes and mesh kits being used for prolapse treatment, leaving patients with fewer alternative treatments. The Scottish independent review of the use, safety and efficacy of transvaginal mesh implants concluded that robust clinical governance must surround the decision to use the product.⁶ It also recommended that the Scottish Government consider alternative methods for the capture of adverse events to further determine the most effective way to ensure complete notification, and that the lack of extended long-term follow-up and related outcome data should be addressed.

The surgical world is a collection of different personalities, some of whom will jump on the latest bandwagon promising innovative new treatments to their patients whilst others at the opposite spectrum wait for an adequate evidence base prior to training and use of new techniques or technologies. What drives this difference in early versus late adopters of new technology? Why are some surgeons much more cautious whilst others will apparently shun the lack of evidence and embrace new treatments? Is it driven by patient demand, financially driven with the promise of increased private income, the desire to use new innovations for the benefit of patients, or inappropriately perceived as being safe? Are patients aware of where their surgeon sits in this debate? More studies are required to investigate the differences between early and late adopters, including surgeon characteristics, their surgical outcomes, complication rates, patient satisfaction surveys, and private practice.

Understanding the considerations that influence physician adoption of new, unproven methodologies is critical to the development of strategies to better align clinical practice with available evidence and to control healthcare costs.⁸ Several factors influence this decision, one being physician's peer exposure, since exposure to early or late adopters may influence physician comfort with new innovation.⁸

As a reaction to the analysis of how innovations were taking place in surgery, an expert group was set up within the framework of the Balliol Collaboration to compile recommendations for scientific evaluation of surgical innovations.⁹ This group made a series of recommendations including encouragement of the widespread use of prospective databases and registries. Reports of new techniques should be registered as a professional duty, anonymously if necessary, when outcomes are adverse. Protocols for studies should be registered publicly, and randomised trials should be used wherever possible.9 In the surgical innovation process, registries constitute an important scientific tool that affords insights from the outset and accordingly merits evaluation.¹⁰ This will provide for early identification of any problems or complications on the basis of outcome analysis.

A recent study looking at the regulatory approval of new medical devices suggests that many new devices do receive regulatory approval but often lack clinical trial data supporting their safety and effectiveness.¹¹ The optimal framework for the regulatory approval of medical innovations remains unclear.¹¹

Surgeons should be cautious in the adoption of new technologies. Evidence-based medicine should be used in the decision on when to begin the use of a new methodology and this must only be within the remits of data collection via clinical trials allowing the collection of long-term outcomes of efficacy and safety. Regarding the use of vaginal rejuvenation, the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) has stated that these procedures are not medically indicated and the safety and effectiveness has not been demonstrated.¹² This has not precluded its use by gynaecologists or other specialists. Regulation preventing practitioners advertising and offering such interventions to patients outside a trial, for unproven interventions, will help protect patients until safety and efficacy of these devices for use in the vagina is established.

REFERENCES

1. Karcher C, Sadick N. Vaginal rejuvenation using energy-based devices. Int J Womens Dermatol. 2016;2(3):85-8.

2. Singh A et al. Laser vaginal rejuvenation: not ready for prime time. Int Urogynecol J. 2015;26(2):163-4.

3. Salvatore S et al. A 12-week treatment with fractional CO2 laser for vulvovaginal atrophy: a pilot study. Climacteric. 2014; 17(4):363-9.

4. Millheiser LS et al. Radiofrequency treatment of vaginal laxity after vaginal delivery: nonsurgical vaginal tightening. J Sex Med. 2010;7(9):3088-95.

5. Mowat H et al. The contribution of online content to the promotion and normalisation of female genital cosmetic surgery: a systematic review of the literature. BMC Womens Health. 2015; 15:110.

6. Scottish Government. The Scottish Independent Review of the Use, Safety and Efficacy of Transvaginal Mesh Implants in the Treatment of Stress Urinary Incontinence and Pelvic Organ Prolapse in Women: Interim Report. 2015. Available at: http://www.gov.scot/Publications/2015/ 10/8485. Last accessed: 17 January 2017.

7. Classaction.com. Transvaginal mesh lawsuit settlement. 2017. Available at: https://www.classaction.com/transvaginal-mesh/settlement/. Last accessed: 17 January 2017.

8. Pollack CE et al. Physician's peer exposure and the adoption of a new cancer treatment modality. Cancer. 2015;121:

2799-807.

9. McCulloch P et al. No surgical innovation without evaluation: the IDEAL recommendations. Lancet. 2009; 374(9695):1105-12.

10. Köckerling F. The Need for Registries in the Early Scientific Evaluation of Surgical Innovations. Front Surg. 2014;1:12.

11. Marcus HJ et al. Regulatory approval of new medical devices: cross sectional study. BMJ. 2016;353:i2587.

12. Committee on Gynecologic Practice. American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. ACOG Committee Opinion No.376: Vaginal "rejuvenation" and cosmetic vaginal procedures. Obstet Gynecol. 2007;110(3):737-8.

If you would like reprints of any article, contact: +44 (0) 1245 334450.

EMJ EUROPEAN MEDICAL JOURNAL

Watch our exclusive interviews from a variety of events that took place across 2016 & 2017

- Click on an image below to view -



EAU 2017 -Congress Highlights



EAN 2016 -Prof Günther Deuschl



An interview with Dr Rahul Potluri at the 2016 ESC Congress



ESC 2016 -Congress Highlights

SUBSCRIBE

FREE TO OUR YOUTUBE CHANNEL www.youtube.com/EMJreviews



europeanmedical-journal.com



EUROPEAN UNION Investing in Your Future European Regional Development Fund 2007-13

EDITOR'S PICK

The choice of editor's pick for this edition comes courtesy of Henrik Lauridsen. A stimulating consideration of the nature of regeneration and the impact of humans' low regenerative potential is given throughout this paper. The author provides some excellent examples from the natural world and, in discussing the current technological state of affairs, highlights how far this field has developed. It is certainly thought-provoking to contemplate the potential of artificial tissue regeneration.

A REGENERATIVE BIOLOGY VIEW ON ARTIFICIAL TISSUE CONSTRUCTION AND THREE-DIMENSIONAL BIOPRINTING: WHAT MAY WE LEARN FROM NATURAL REGENERATIVE PHENOMENA?

*Henrik Lauridsen

Comparative Medicine Lab, Department of Clinical Medicine, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark *Correspondence to henrik@clin.au.dk

Disclosure: The author has declared no conflicts of interests. **Received:** 30.10.16 **Accepted:** 20.03.17 **Citation:** EMJ. 2017;2[2]:16-21.

ABSTRACT

The implications of the low tissue regenerative potential in humans are severe and widespread. Several of our major diseases are direct results of this deficiency that leaves us vulnerable to events of tissue damage. This is opposed to some animal groups, such as the urodele amphibians (salamanders), that display distinct tissue regeneration after injury. An important goal of biomedical engineering is the construction of artificial tissue that can ultimately be transplanted into patients, however, such constructs are still in their infancy for more complex structures. Approaches of constructing artificial organ structures by decellularisation/ recellularisation procedures and recently with three-dimensional (3D) bioprinting show promising results in obtaining anatomically accurate constructs, however, the function of these artificial tissues is still lacking compared to natural tissues. This review will highlight how the relatively mature fields of regenerative biology and medicine can have potential usage in the younger bioengineering field of artificial tissue construction by drawing on the knowledge of how intrinsic tissue regeneration takes place in nature.

Keywords: Regeneration, three-dimensional (3D) bioprinting, artificial tissue.

THE RECONSTRUCTION OF TISSUE

Tissue regeneration is the process of replacing tissue lost from damage, disease, age, or injury with new tissue. This process is fundamental for life and all animal species to some degree possess mechanisms that can maintain homeostasis and the functional integrity of cells and tissue. Richard J. Goss,¹ one of the pioneers of regenerative research, summed up the relationship between life, death, and regeneration with the words: "If there were no regeneration there could be no life. If everything regenerated there could be no death. All organisms exist between these two extremes. Other things being equal, they tend toward the latter end of the spectrum, never quite achieving immortality because this would be incompatible with reproduction". However true this statement is, regenerative potential varies quite a bit between different organisms. Humans and mammals, in general, have not been blessed with extensive regenerative potential and tend to resolve tissue damage events by fibrosis and scar formation.² This fibrotic situation results from an inflammatory response to injury that generates fibroblastic granulation tissue that is ultimately modelled into an acellular collagenous scar. This maintains the overall integrity of the damaged organ but usually reduces function. On the other hand, 'lower' vertebrate species (e.g. urodele amphibians) do exist with an unsurpassed ability to recapitulate embryonic development and regenerate tissue and even whole organs and appendages to perfection without any scar formation.³⁻⁵ This perplexing conundrum of why mammals have lost this apparently ancestral and seemingly highly beneficial trait has been a driving force in the history of regenerative research. It may be that evolution of warm-blooded mammals susceptible to infections has favoured the individuals with the fastest response to injury, with this being a swift immunological response and subsequent fibrosis to 'seal off' damaged parts rather than regeneration.^{6,7} After all, although regeneration of extremities and organs is desirable, it is not essential for reproduction.

The low regenerative potential of humans has far-reaching consequences in medicine. Heart, liver, and renal failure; disorders of the nervous system (e.g. amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, multiple sclerosis, and Parkinson's, Huntington's, and Alzheimer's diseases); and burns and traumatic injuries (to skin, bones muscles joints, ligaments, and tendons) are all examples of diseases and conditions resulting from poor regenerative potential. Other than the personal consequences for patients suffering from these ailments, the cost to society is enormous. In the USA alone the annual cost was estimated to be >\$400 billion.³ Naturally, this has inspired great interest with the field of regenerative medicine seeking to develop and apply future regenerative therapies for human patients. However, it is highly unlikely that regenerative medicine can fulfil this task without a thorough understanding of the basic mechanisms involved in regenerative events. Therefore, advancements in the field of regenerative biology and the understanding of basic molecular and cellular processes during tissue regeneration are a prerequisite for regenerative medicine to develop its full potential.

THE ENGINEERING SOLUTION TO LOW REGENERATIVE POTENTIAL

The lesson from nature is that intrinsic *in situ* regeneration of even highly complex tissues is possible in basic vertebrate models. Most human tissues do in fact replenish themselves to some degree over life; with the strategy to stimulate innate tissue regeneration being one of the most desirable approaches for future regenerative therapies. However, as the key to unlock this intrinsic regenerative potential in humans is yet to be found it is worth considering alternative strategies for rebuilding damaged organs.

A fundamentally different approach of constructing organs or tissue components has arisen in the last decade, namely the *de novo* construction of organs in vitro that can later be transplanted into patients. An instructive example is the construction of heart transplants. Since Dr Barnard's successful heart transplantation in the mid-twentieth century the heart transplantation procedure has become a well-established lifesaving treatment to extend and dramatically improve the quality of life for recipients. A patient's heart can either be fully replaced with a donor heart (orthotopic procedure) or supported by an extra heart (heterotopic procedure). Unfortunately, suitable donor hearts, as well as other organs, are a scarce commodity and as the demand is increasing, so is the need for alternative strategies. Two novel engineering approaches to alleviate the problem of scarce donor organs have received much attention in recent years, namely the construction of bioartificial organs either using a decellularisation/repopulation procedure of extracellular matrix scaffolds or bottom-up constructions of artificial organs using three-dimensional (3D) bioprinting.

ARTIFICIAL ORGANS BY DECELLULARISATION/ RECELLULARISATION

Bioengineering laboratories around the world have long sought to construct artificial biocompatible scaffolds for cell seeding and transplantable tissue generation. This has led to several successful procedures and especially in orthopaedics multiple useful constructs have been designed.⁸ Similar approaches of scaffold construction have been applied for soft tissue construction; however, it is hard to replicate the complex cellular environment found in most organs in simple scaffolds moulded in the lab. One way to circumvent this limitation is to generate extracellular scaffolds made by decellularisation of true organs that may be too old or do not match the receiver type and hence cannot be used directly for transplantation. This procedure can be a complicated washing process in which all living cells are removed from the organ leaving behind only the supporting extracellular matrix as intact and unmodified as possible.⁹ The resulting tissue scaffold is then reseeded with living cells either by immersion in a cell containing medium or more efficiently by perfusion via the skeletonised vasculature of the decellularised organ. As a cell source, either differentiated cells that have previously been dissociated from their host tissue into a single cell state or patient-specific stem cells that have been cultured prior to perfusion, can be applied. The underlying assumption of the decellularisation/recellularisation procedure that perfused cells migrate through the is extracellular matrix scaffold. Differentiated cells should ultimately settle when they reach a suitable environment, whereas stem cells may in fact start to differentiate in a manner defined by cues in the surrounding matrix components.

Following a maturation period of cell proliferation, the final result is a 3D multi-cell type culture that can be thought of as a 'breath of life' into a once dead and skeletonised organ. However, the decellularisation/ recellularisation technique does not come without important limitations. In 2008 Ott et al.¹⁰ applied the procedure to recellularise rat hearts using neonatal cardiomyocytes, fibrocytes, endothelial cells, and smooth muscle cells and subsequently transplanted the constructed hearts into host rats. Remarkably, this study demonstrated how contractile and drug responsive hearts could be constructed, however the function of the generated constructs were only ²% of that of an adult rat heart. In a similar fashion, Lu et al.¹¹ in 2013 were successful in repopulating decellularised mouse hearts with induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiovascular progenitor cells from humans. This attempt also yielded heart constructs that exhibited spontaneous contractions, generated mechanical force, and were responsive to drugs. However, in similar fashion to the attempt by Ott et al.,¹⁰ these constructs only showed minute pump function and were overall unable to propel blood.

The attempts described above to rebuild the heart, as well as other organs,¹² by decellularisation/ recellularisation of already existing organs, are interesting because they suggest that this type

of organ construction that can be viewed as a very engineering-based mindset (breakdown then build up) and not a biologically inspired way of regenerating organs. However, for now the procedure is insufficient in producing fully functional organs. To overcome this obstacle, repopulation technologies need to consider how organs are constructed during development and in natural regeneration in competent species.

THREE-DIMENSIONAL BIOPRINTING: A POTENTIAL LOOPHOLE FOR TISSUE RECONSTRUCTION

A fundamentally different approach of producing complex organs to that of cell repopulation of scaffolds is 3D bioprinting. The prospects of this technology have been glorified in recent years in TED talks and other quasi-scientific fora; however, the method has in fact shown promising results in terms of producing *de novo* tissue constructs.

As the name suggests, 3D bioprinting originates from 3D printing (also known as rapid prototyping or more precisely as additive manufacturing) of prototypes and models in a large variety of materials such as plastic, wood, ceramics, glass, and metals in industry. 3D printing is additive in nature, i.e. it starts from nothing and ends with a structure after adding layer upon layer. This is opposed to computer numerical control drilling, which performs what can be described as negative manufacturing by carving out a structure from a solid object. From an historical perspective, it is interesting that 3D printing has existed for several decades,¹³ but primarily due to proprietary issues gridlocking technological development and competition the technology has only flourished within the last decade with the expiration of early patents. This has resulted in modern day 3D printers becoming better and more affordable at an astonishing pace. 3D printing has been applied in medical and life sciences to create organ models from computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) information and implantable constructs.¹⁴⁻¹⁸ Some major 3D printer manufactures now offer dedicated software and hardware for this field of modelling i.e. complex medical disorders in physical models that surgeons can handle and study even before the first cut is made in surgery.

The 3D printing field is notorious for the lack of consistent nomenclature to describe similar printing technologies; however, the American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) currently categorises

3D printing technologies into seven categories: binder jetting, directed energy deposition, material extrusion, material jetting, powder bed fusion, sheet lamination, and vat photopolymerisation.¹⁹ These technologies have all been developed for non-living materials, but in addition, 3D printing has recently evolved into 3D bioprinting in which cells and extracellular matrix can also be used as raw materials for printing.²⁰ 3D bioprinting relies on two of the seven categories of non-living 3D printing technologies listed above and one additional technology; thus 3D bioprinting can currently be divided into three technologies. The first and simplest is the inkjet method, which is inspired by the material jetting method of 3D printers and is in principle the same inkjet technology applied in desktop paper printers. In this technique, rapid electrical heating or piezoelectric/ultrasound generated pressure pulses are applied to propel cell containing droplets from a nozzle to the build surface. The second 3D bioprinting technique, microextrusion printing, is widely applied and fundamentally applies the same method as material extrusion 3D printers to pneumatically or mechanically dispense a continuous thread of cell containing material. The final and most complex technology is laser-assisted 3D bioprinting in which a laser is briefly and repeatedly focussed on an absorbing substrate coated in cells thereby generating a pressure that propels cell-containing materials onto a collector substrate that becomes coated by cells in a pattern defined by the laser path. Following the initial deposition of cells and substrates, the layered construct generated in all three bioprinting methods is cured and hardened to support its own structure either by designed polymers in the cell medium that respond to cooling, heating, chemical treatment, or more commonly by light-activated polymerisation in a fashion that is comparable to vat photopolymerisation in non-living material 3D printers.

The three 3D bioprinting technologies currently available have specific advantages and limitations. The simplest and most affordable technology is inkjet bioprinting, which also operates at a high printing speed and with a high cell viability because of a relatively gentle printing process. The spatial resolution of the technique is, however, relatively low and cell density in the construct is also low, which is important for the subsequent maturation of the construct. On the other hand, microextrusion based bioprinters provide high-cell densities but at the cost of viability (often <40%), primarily due to sheer stress during deposition, and printing speed is lower than for inkjet printing. Laser-assisted bioprinters are fast and cell viability is very high (>95%) and so is the printing resolution; however, these systems are highly expensive and challenging to maintain.

Early experiments using 3D bioprinting have been reported for a number of tissues and organ structures ranging from skin, blood vessels, trachea, cartilage, kidney, and various cardiac tissue (e.g. myocardium and valves).²⁰ A central goal of this technology has however been in the construction of cardiac tissue which represents a relatively simple organ (compared to secretory organs often with manifold cell types) and a model system where the success of the construction can easily be tested in terms of function compared to baseline values. Thus, the attempts to construct cardiac tissue serves as a good model for the current status of 3D bioprinting technology. Several impressive attempts of printing different cardiac tissues have been made in recent years.²¹ From a regenerative biology viewpoint the attempt by Gaetani et al.²² in 2012 to apply microextrusion to 3D bioprint small alginate scaffolds with fetal human cardiomyocyte progenitor cells is interesting. These myocardial-like scaffolds both showed high-cell viability and importantly imbedded cardiomyocytes retained their commitment for the cardiac lineage. The implication of this is that the deposited cells in fact remain in their desired lineage and behave in a natural fashion. Another study by Gaebel et al.²³ in 2011 used the laser assisted bioprinting technique on human umbilical vein endothelial cells and human mesenchymal stem cells to construct various capillary like patterns of cells on a polyester urethane urea cardiac patch. Several of these vascular patterns were successful and resulted in the two cell types arranged into a capillary like network. These patches with patterned cells were thereafter cultured and matured and subsequently transplanted in vivo into infarcted rat hearts. Intriguingly, the study reported increased vessel formation and additionally a significant functional improvement of the infarcted hearts. The results of this study underline the importance of considering the construction of an appropriate vascular supply in regenerative therapies.

To date, no successful attempts to 3D bioprint complete organ constructs similar to the ones generated by decellularisation/repopulation procedures have been reported, but efforts in using extracellular matrix for building material have been made with success.²⁴ Assuming that the 3D bioprinting technology eventually matures to the state where the option of full organ printing becomes possible, it is not unlikely that constructs may suffer from the same deficiencies in terms of function and force production as described above for the repopulated heart constructs. To overcome these obstacles, it may be fruitful to consider some aspects of naturally occurring regenerative phenomena and implement these in artificial organ construction.

LEARNING FROM NATURAL REGENERATIVE MECHANISMS

Obviously, not all details of naturally occurring regenerative phenomena have been revealed. In that case artificial tissue construction would be redundant; however, several key aspects of some of these phenomena have been described and potentially hold some information on how to yield functional artificial tissue. Regeneration of extremities, such as the limb in the salamander, is an example of complex tissue regeneration that has been studied in great detail and serves well as an instance for some of these considerations.^{3-5,25-28}

The regenerative process of the salamander limb falls into three non-discrete steps: wound healing, blastema formation, and regrowth.3-5 Within the first couple of hours following amputation of a limb, the wound is sealed with a wound epidermis by migrating cells from the adjacent epidermis. The wound epidermis thickens and becomes several cell layers thick and then forms an apical epidermal cap with a protective outer surface and inner layers that anatomically and functionally resemble the apical ectodermal ridge formed during vertebrate limb development.²⁹ Signalling from the wound epidermis as well as neurotrophic signalling from severed nerves induces dedifferentiation of differentiated cells adjacent to the amputation site, leading to the formation of a structure termed a blastema within 1-2 weeks containing dedifferentiated cells with varying origin (e.g. connective tissue, muscular tissue, bone, and nerves). Finally, dedifferentiated blastema cells proliferate, redifferentiate, and regrow just part of the missing limb. The conclusion of this mechanism is that a process very similar to embryonic development can be initiated if the right

factors are present. In the case of the limb, these are signalling from the wound epidermis, neurotrophic signalling from severed nerves, and the existence of dermal fibroblasts with a different positional identity. If any of these factors are removed, the regenerative process comes to a standstill. On the other hand, if these three factors are expressed artificially it is possible to induce limb regeneration at uncommon places and produce ectopic limbs.²⁵ The implications of this in an artificial tissue context is that it may not be crucial to construct an anatomical replica of the final organ of interest but rather focus on building a meshwork of cells that can be stimulated to undergo differentiation and growth in a process that recapitulates embryonic development of the organ. This approach has already been implemented in 4D bioprinting, in which printed objects can change functionality and shape after printing by the application of an external stimulus.³⁰

Another important aspect of intrinsic limb regeneration is the origin of cells taking part in regeneration. It has long been speculated that blastema cells represent true pluripotent stem cells with the potential to differentiate into any cell type in the regenerating limb. However, in 2009 Kragl et al.²⁶ demonstrated, using GFP+ transgenic axolotls, that most cell types involved in limb regeneration are lineage restricted. The lesson from this is that artificial tissue endeavours are likely to have a higher chance of being successful if relying on multiple cell types that can differentiate to the exact type of cells needed rather than a single homogenous population of pluripotent stem cells.

CONCLUSION

In terms of tissue regeneration, it is stimulating to think that we have both examples of intrinsic tissue repair found in nature as well as a multitude of toolsets to construct artificial tissues possible with 3D bioprinting being the most sophisticated method to date. Combining the knowledge from natural phenomena with the ingenuity of biomedical engineers it is not unlikely that anatomically correct tissue constructs can be generated within a reasonable timeframe but also constructs that function just as well as their endogenous counterparts.

REFERENCES

1. Goss RJ, Principles of regeneration (1969), New York: Academic Press.

2. Stocum DL, Zupanc GKH. Streching the limits: Stem cells in regenerative science. Dev Dynam. 2008;237(12):3648-71.

3. Stocum DL. Regenerative biology and medicine (2006), Burlington: Academic Press.

4. Stoick-Cooper CL et al. Advances in signaling in vertebrate regeneration as a prelude to regenerative medicine. Genes Dev. 2007;21(11):1292-315.

5. Tank PW et al. A staging system for forelimb regeneration in the axolotl, Ambystoma mexicanum. J Morph. 1976; 150(1):117-28.

6. Harty Metal. Regeneration or scarring: an immunologic perspective. Dev Dyn. 2003; 226(2):268-79.

7. Mescher AL, Neff AW. Loss of Regenerative Capacity: A Trade-off for Immune Specificity? Cellscience Reviews. 2004;1(2).

8. Tatara AM, Mikos AG. Tissue engineering in Orthopaedics. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2016;98(13):1132-9.

9. Guyette JP et al. Perfusion decellularization of whole organs. Nat Protoc. 2014;9(6):1451-68.

10. Ott HC et al. Perfusion-decellularized matrix: using nature's platform to engineer a bioartificial heart. Nat Med. 2008;14(2): 213-21.

11. Lu TY et al. Repopulation of decellularized mouse heart with human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiovascular progenitor cells. Nat Commun. 2013;4:2307.

12. Song JJ et al. Regeneration and experimental orthotopic transplantation of a bioengineered kidney. Nat Med. 2013;19(5):646-51.

13. Kodama H. Automatic method for fabricating a three-dimensional plastic model with photo hardening polymer. Rev Sci Instrum. 1981;52(11):1770-3.

14. McGurk M et al. Rapid prototyping techniques for anatomical modelling in medicine. Ann R Coll Surg Engl. 1997; 79(3):169-74.

15. Esses SJ et al. Clinical applications of physical 3D models derived from MDCT data and created by rapid prototyping. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2011;196(6): W683-8.

16. McMenamin PG et al. The production of anatomical teaching resources using three-dimensional (3D) printing technology. Anat Sci Educ. 2014;7(6): 479-86.

17. Lauridsen H et al. From tissue to silicon to plastic: three-dimensional printing in comparative anatomy and physiology. R Soc Open Sci. 2016;2;3(3):150643.

18. Zopf DA et al. Bioresorbable airway splint created with a three-dimensional printer. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(21): 2043-5.

19. ASTM Standard F2792-12a. Standard Terminology for Additive Manufacturing Technologies (Withdrawn 2015). ASTM International, West Conshohocken, PA, 2012, doi: 10.1520/F2792-12A. Available at: https://www.astm.org/Standards/F2792. htm. Last accessed: 8 November 2016.

20. Murphy SV, Atala A. 3D bioprinting of tissues and organs. Nat Biotechnol. 2014;

32(8):773-85.

21. Duan B. State-of-the-Art Review of 3D Bioprinting for Cardiovascular Tissue Engineering. Ann Biomed Eng. 2017;45(1): 195-209.

22. Gaetani R et al. Cardiac tissue engineering using tissue printing technology and human cardiac progenitor cells. Biomaterials. 2012;33(6):1782-90.

23. Gaebel R et al. Patterning human stem cells and endothelial cells with laser printing for cardiac regeneration. Biomaterials. 2011;32(35):9218-30.

24. Pati F et al. Printing three-dimensional tissue analogues with decellularized extracellular matrix bioink. Nat Commun. 2014;5:3935.

25. Endo T et al. A stepwise model system for limb regeneration. Dev Biol. 2004; 270(1):135-45.

26. Kragl M et al. Cells keep a memory of their tissue origin during axolotl limb regeneration. Nature. 2009;460(7251): 60-7.

27. Kumar A et al. A comparative study of gland cells implicated in the nerve dependence of salamander limb regeneration. J Anat. 2010;217(1):16-25.

28. Satoh A et al. The role of nerve signaling in limb genesis and agenesis during axolotl limb regeneration. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 2009;91 Suppl 4:90-8.

29. Christensen RN, Tassava RA. Apical epithelial cap morphology and fibronectin gene expression in regenerating axolotl limbs. Dev Dyn. 2000;217(2):216-24.

30. Gao B et al. 4D bioprinting for biomedical applications. Trends Biotechnol. 2016;34(9):746-56.

EFFICACY OF THE ARTIFICIAL URINARY SPHINCTER ZSI 375 FOR TREATMENT OF POST-RADICAL PROSTATECTOMY INCONTINENCE IN PATIENTS WITH INTRINSIC SPHINCTER DEFICIENCY: A PRELIMINARY STUDY

*Alejandro Carvajal Obando,¹ Federico Gavira Gil,² Álvaro Gutiérrez Martinez,³ Luis Fernando Echeverry Molina,⁴ Juan Carlos Castaño Botero⁵

Hospital Universitario San Vicente Fundación, Medellín, Antioquia, Colombia
Hospital Pablo Tobón Uribe Calle, Medellín, Antioquia, Colombia
Urobosque Centro Urologico, Bogotá, Cundinamarca, Colombia
Fundación SaluVite, Cali, Colombia
Clínica Universitaria CES, Medellín, Colombia
*Correspondence to sexualidadyfertilidad@gmail.com

Disclosure: The authors have declared no conflicts of interest.

Support: The publication of this study was supported by Zephyr Surgical Implants. The content is solely the responsibility of the authors and does not necessarily represent the official view of Zephyr Surgical Implants.

Received: 05.04.17 **Accepted:** 09.05.17 **Citation:** EMJ. 2017;2[2]:22-26.

ABSTRACT

Objectives: To evaluate the efficacy of the ZSI 375 artificial urinary sphincter (AUS) (Zephyr Artificial Sphincter, Geneva, Switzerland) for the treatment of patients with post-radical prostatectomy urinary incontinence.

Methods: This was a retrospective, non-randomised, multicentre study open to patients with moderate-to-severe urinary incontinence due to intrinsic sphincter deficiency after radical prostatectomy. Efficacy and safety was evaluated on continence status, complications, and surgical revision.

Results: Twenty-seven patients were recruited between September 2013 and April 2016 and followed up to April 2017. Mean age was 67.70 years old (range: 55–78). Twenty-six patients (96.30%) presented with incontinence post-radical prostatectomy and one patient (3.70%) after post-radical prostatectomy plus adjuvant radiotherapy. Follow-up ranged from 12 months-42 months (mean: 27.11). The success rate was 88.90% after 12 months follow-up, 94.12% after 24 months follow-up and 83.33% after 36 months follow-up. Three patients (11.11%) presented with a scrotal infection, two patients (7.41%) suffered a urethral erosion, and two patients (7.41%) had a mechanical failure. The revision rate was 22.22% (six patients).

Conclusion: The follow-up time of this preliminary clinical study was long enough to demonstrate that the ZSI 375 AUS offers a good rate of continence to patients with urinary stress incontinence.

INTRODUCTION

The artificial urinary sphincter (AUS) AMS 800[™] (American Medical Systems, Minnetonka, Minnesota, USA), first introduced in 1973, is regarded as the gold standard for the treatment of post-prostatectomy urinary incontinence (UI).^{1,2} American Medical

Systems proposed five different versions of the device.³ The last version of the AUS, the AMS 800, was introduced in 1983 and it is still in use today. However, despite good long-term outcomes,^{4,5} the preparation and the procedure remain complex with a risk of complications such as erosion, infection, and mechanical failure ranging from 8–45%.^{6,7}

Introduction of the antibiotic coating InhibiZone® had no significant impact on AUS infection or explantation rates.⁸ To ease AUS preparation and the procedure, the ZSI 375 AUS (Zephyr Artificial Sphincter, Geneva, Switzerland) has been developed (Figures 1 and 2). Manufactured mainly from medical grade silicone rubber, it is a one-piece device made up of two parts pre-connected by kink-resistant tubing. The adjustable cuff is a moulded curve and can be adjusted around the urethra. The pump and the pressure-regulating tank are grouped into the pump-unit and placed in the scrotum. It has no abdominal reservoir to reduce operating time and to avoid abdominal incision.⁹ This paper describes the results of our first experience with ZSI 375 device implanted in 27 male patients with stress UI because of an intrinsic sphincter deficiency (ISD) after radical prostatectomy.

PATIENTS AND METHODS

This was а retrospective, non-randomised, multicentre study open to patients with moderateto-severe UI due to ISD after radical prostatectomy. Moderate incontinence was defined as the use of three pads per day and severe incontinence as the use of four pads and more per day. The patient evaluation comprised a medical history, analysis of voiding (UI episodes, number of pads used per day), clinical examination, cystoscopy, and urodynamic exam to confirm ISD and to exclude bladder overactivity. The device implanted was the ZSI 375 AUS. It was performed through a perineal and inguinal incision as described by Staerman et al.⁹ Patients were discharged as soon as they could void spontaneously. The device was activated 8 weeks after the surgical procedure. Follow-up visits were planned 3, 6, and 12 months and then annually after the procedure. Patients had a clinical examination, urine analysis, bladder ultrasonography, and flow rate measurement.

Continence status was based on number of pads used per day with total continence (0 pads per day), social continence (0-1 pad per day) and improvement (2 pads per day and 50% fewer pads than at baseline). Success was defined as social continence plus improvement. All other continence statuses were considered as incontinence. Revision was defined as the device or one of its components needing replacement or temporary removal. During the follow-up period, the issued pressure could be increased by trans-scrotal injection of saline solution into the compensation pouch to improve continence status. The option to increase the issued pressure *in situ* was not considered as a revision.

RESULTS

Twenty-seven male patients with moderateto-severe UI were treated by implantation of the ZSI 375 AUS between September 2013 and April 2016 and then followed up to April 2017. Patient age at the surgery ranged from 55-78 with a mean age of 67.70 years old. At presentation, 8 patients (29.63%) had moderate incontinence and 19 patients (70.37%) had severe incontinence: mean 5.15 pads per day (range: 3-10 pads per day).



Figure 1: Image of the ZSI 375 artificial sphincter.



Figure 2: Image of the AMS 800 and ZSI 375 artificial sphincters.

The aetiologies of incontinence were radical prostatectomy in 26 patients (96.30%) and radical prostatectomy with adjuvant radiotherapy in one patient (3.70%). Two AMS 800 devices and one ZSI 375 device had been attempted previously in a total of three patients (11.11%). Three patients (11.11%) were also previously treated for urethral stricture. The ZSI 375 AUS was placed according to Staerman et al.'s⁹ surgical technique. The device was activated 8 weeks post-implantation. Twelve months after surgical procedure, 22 out of 27 patients (81.49%) presented a social continence and 2 out of 27 patients (7.41%) were improved. The success rate was 88.90%. Three out of twentyseven patients (11.11%) were incontinent. Twenty-four months after surgical procedure, 14 out of 17 patients (82.35%) presented with social continence and 2 out of 17 patients (11.77%) were improved. The success rate was 94.12% and one patient (5.88%) was incontinent. Following 36-month follow-up five out of six patients (83.33%) presented social continence, no patient was improved so the success rate was 83.33%. One out of six patients presented incontinence (16.67%) (Table 1). Complications leading to permanent device removal arose in one patient (3.70%) with scrotal infection but without urethral erosion. This occurred within 1 month of AUS insertion and led to immediate removal.

Revision surgery was performed in a total of six patients (revision rate: 22.22%) and the patients enjoyed a social continence after revision. From

these six patients, two (7.41%) presented with scrotal infection only, without any urethral erosion associated. The scrotal infections occurred more than 12 months after device insertion and led to an immediate removal of the device. One patient has undergone a new sphincter implantation 3 months after the removal and the second patient waited for 4 months after the removal of his first sphincter. Two patients (7.41%) presented with a urethral erosion. The last two patients (7.41%) from the 'revision group' presented with mechanical failure (Table 2). The patient who underwent pelvic irradiation and the patients with previous AUS did not present any adverse events.

DISCUSSION

Many studies have assessed the outcomes of AMS 800 AUS safety and efficacy but direct comparison is not easy regarding the variability of definitions, perineal, and penoscrotal surgical techniques and selection of patients. The ZSI 375 was designed to simplify AUS preparation and surgical procedure because of the long learning curve needed to achieve mastery.

The capacity to increase or decrease the pressure was an advantage to reach a good rate of continence after device activation. After 12, 24, and 36-month follow-up, our social continence and success rates are in accordance with previous studies about ZSI 375 short-term results, which ranged from 87–94.2%⁹⁻¹¹ and a continence rate for AMS 800 in a 24-month follow-up period of \leq 90%.^{12,13}

	Before implantation	≥12 months after implantation	≥24 months after implantation	≥36 months after implantation
Patients, n	27	27	17	6
Pads used/day, n (%)				
None	-	7 (25.93)	5 (29.41)	1 (16.67)
1	-	15 (55.56)	9 (52.94)	4 (66.66)
2	-	2 (7.41)	2 (11.77)	0
3	8 (29.63)	0	0	0
≥4	19 (70.37)	3 (11.11)	1 (5.88)	1 (16.67)
Social continence (0, 1 pad), n (%)	-	22 (81.49)	14 (82.35)	5 (83.33)
Improvement, n (%)		2 (7.41)	2 (11.77)	0
Success, n (%)		25 (88.90)	16 (94.12)	5 (83.33)
Failure, n (%)		3 (11.11)	1 (5.88)	1 (16.67)

Table 1: Continence rates before and after device implantation.

n: number of patients.

Table 2: ZSI 375 complications.

Complications	Patients, n (%)
Infections	3 (11.11)
Erosion	2 (7.41)
Mechanical failure	2 (7.41)
Total	7 (25.93)

n: number of patients.

We are in line with the overall continence rate with AMS 800 AUS of 73% and the improved continence rate of 88%.^{14,15}

In our study, the short-term complication rate was comparable to that achieved with AMS 800.12,14,16 ZSI 375 AUS infection occurred in three patients (11.11%). This high rate of infection is not in accordance with AMS 800 device series that range from 0.46-8.5% of cases.^{6,12,16,17} Although the implantation technic of the ZSI375 AUS is safe and simple, our infection rate, impacting the revision rate, should be improved with more experience. Urethral erosion was not the most frequently reported complication in the present study. Two patients (7.41%) presented with a cuff erosion, which was in accordance with the AMS cuff erosion rate of 4-12%.^{12,14,16,18} Drogo K. Montague¹⁹ proposed that urethral dissection and mobilisation during procedure could be responsible for early cuff erosion and urethral catheter insertion with poor deactivation of the AUS lead to late erosion. Our two erosions occurred 18 months after implantation of the AUS without any catheter insertion. Other factors such as blood perfusion in the urethra

could explain our erosions.²⁰⁻²² Mechanical failure in our series occurred in two patients (7.41%) 12 and 16 months after the surgical procedure. This was equivalent to the 6% of AMS 800 device mechanical failure with a mean follow-up of 36 months.⁶ However, in a report of 530 patients implanted with AMS 800 the 5 years Kaplan-Meier freedom from reoperation was 79.4% for primary cases and 88% for revision surgeries.⁷ The followup of our series is too short to be compared with the AUS of reference. It should be noted that the dissociation of total failure rate (Table 1) and the failure rate at 12, 24, and 36 months (Table 2) is due to revision. Clemens et al.¹⁷ reported a revision rate after AUS AMS 800 implantation during 5-year follow-up of 50%. Regarding this result, the revision rate of the ZSI 375 must be re-evaluated in the longterm with larger series. Our retrospective study has further limitations; it would have benefited from a prospective approach with patient satisfaction questionnaires and incontinence evaluation using pad weight as recommended by The International Continence Society (ICS) and not pad number.

CONCLUSION

We have described a preliminary clinical result of the AUS ZSI 375. The follow-up time was long enough to demonstrate that ZSI 375 offered acceptable and satisfactory urinary control with the usual AUS adverse events to patients with urinary stress incontinence. The option to adjust pressure *in situ* should reduce the need for surgical revision, but longer-term studies of safety and efficacy, as well as a comparison with other similar devices should be carried out to confirm these good preliminary results.

REFERENCES

1. Scott FB et al. Treatment of urinary incontinence by implantable prosthetic sphincter. Urology. 1973;1(3):252-9.

2. Herschorn S et al. Surgical treatment of stress incontinence in men. Neurourol Urodyn. 2010;29(1):179-90.

3. Montague DK. Evolution of implanted devices for urinary incontinence. Cleve Clin Q. 1984;51(2):405-9.

4. Venn SN et al. The long-term outcome of artificial urinary sphincters. J Urol. 2000; 164:702-6.

5. Hajivassiliou CA. The development and evolution of artificial urethral sphincters. J Med Eng Technol. 1998;22(4):154-9. 6. Raj GV et al. Outcomes following revision and secondary implantation of the artificial urinary sphincter. J Urol. 2005;173(4):1242-5.

7. Lai HH et al. 13 years of experience with artificial urinary sphincter implantation at Baylor College of Medicine. J Urol. 2007; 177(3):1021-5.

8. Hüsch T et al. Antibiotic Coating of the Artificial Urinary Sphincter (AMS 800): Is it Worthwhile? Urology. 2017;103:179-84.

9. Staerman F et al. ZSI 375 artificial urinary sphincter for male urinary incontinence: a preliminary study. BJU Int. 2013;111(4 Pt B):E202-6.

10. Vakalopoulos I. New artificial urinary sphincter devices in the treatment of male iatrogenic incontinence. Adv Urol. 2012; 2012:439372.

11. Sandul A et al. The ZSI 375 artificial urinary sphincter: a new device for male urinary incontinence. 7th National Congress, Portugese Association of Neurourology and Urogynaecology. November 2010.

12. Ostrowski I et al. Current interventional management of male stress urinary incontinence following urological procedures. Cent European J Urol. 2015; 68(3):340-7. 13.James MH, McCammon KA. Artificial urinary sphincter for post-prostatectomy incontinence: a review.Int J Urol. 2014; 21(6):536-43.

14.Hajivassiliou CA. A review of the complications and results of implantation of the AMS artificial urinary sphincter. Eur Urol 1999;35(1):36-44.

15. US Food and Drug Administration (FDA), Center for Devices and Radiological Health. AMS Sphincter 800[™] Urinary Prosthesis; P000053, summary of safety and effectiveness. 2001. Available at: https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh_docs/pdf/p000053b.pdf. Last accessed:

09 May 2017.

16. Andreasson A et al. High revision rate following artificial urethral sphincter implantation.Scand J Urol. 2014;48(6): 544-8.

17. Clemens JQ et al. Revision rate after artificial urinary sphincter implantation for incontinence after radical prostatectomy: actuarial analysis, J Urol. 2001;166(4): 1372-5.

18. Gousse AE et al. Artificial urinary sphincter for post-radical prostatectomy urinary incontinence: long-term subjective results. J Urol. 2001;166(5):1755-8.

19. Montague DK. Artificial Urinary

Sphincter: Long-term Results and Patient Satisfaction. Adv Urol. 2012;2012:835290.

20. Garcia-Montes F et al. The significance of low urethral blood flow in recurrent incontinence in patients with a long standing artificial urinary sphincter. Neurourol Urodyn. 1999;18(4):394-6.

21. Hajivassiliou CA, Finlay IG. Uneven pressure application by the artificial urinary sphincter: an explanation for tissue ischaemia?. BJU Int. 1999;83(4):416-9.

22. Garcia-Montes F et al. Effects of artificial urinary sphincters on urethral blood perfusion measured with laser Doppler flowmetry. Eur Urol. 1999;35:16.

If you would like reprints of any article, contact: +44 (0) 1245 334450.

EMJ EUROPEAN MEDICAL JOURNAL

EUROPEAN MEDICAL JOURNAL

provides influential articles, presentations of up-to-date scientific research and clinical practice, and in-depth reviews of international medical congresses.



Please click here to:

- subscribe and receive the latest publications, newsletters & updates from EMJ
- view each edition in convenient eBook format; desktop, tablet & smartphone compatible



europeanmedical-journal.com



EUROPEAN UNION Investing in Your Future European Regional Development Fund 2007-13

DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY HEALTHCARE SOLUTIONS IN AN ERA OF MOVING POPULATIONS AND CHRONIC ILLNESSES: ARE WE BEING REALISTICALLY SMART?

*Judith Ansaa Osae-Larbi

Department of Psychology, School of Social Sciences, College of Humanities, University of Ghana, Legon, Ghana *Correspondence to jaosae-larbi@st.ug.edu.gh

Disclosure: The author has declared no conflicts of interest. Acknowledgements: I gratefully acknowledge David Lackland Sam, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway, for his constructive comments. Received: 04.11.16 Accepted: 19.12.16 Citation: EMJ. 2017;2[2]:28-34.

ABSTRACT

In 2015, the world recorded its highest numbers of international migrants and forced displacement since World War II. With this historic rise in migrants, refugees, and displaced persons around the world, there is a huge risk of chronic illness burden on healthcare systems. Thus, healthcare systems may need to incorporate innovative digital healthcare solutions into their processes and procedures. The purpose of this article is to present the argument that for effective prevention and management of chronic illnesses in ever-increasing migrant societies to be achieved, mobile digital healthcare technologies must be realistically smart and strategically adopted. Beginning with an overview of the current global migration trend, this article considers the implications of this trend for chronic illnesses and the potential for mobile health technologies to support achievement of healthcare outcomes. It highlights three core reasons why digital innovations may be limited as tools for helping to address the global chronic illness challenge and identifies important directions for mobile health technology developers, healthcare professionals, researchers, government and funding agencies, and public health ministries, with a focus on the strategic development and adoption of 'realistically smart' phones. The article concludes with recommendations for research and public health education.

Keywords: Migration, chronic illness, non-communicable, digital health, mobile, smartphone.

INTRODUCTION

All around the world, the high prevalence of chronic illnesses is rapidly shifting the healthcare landscape towards preventive lifestyle behaviours and population health management. Thus, now more than ever, health systems are incorporating into their processes and procedures digital technology healthcare solutions. These are innovative information and computer technologies aimed at achieving one or more health-related goals.^{1,2} Common among these goals are: improving access to healthcare information, enhancing the patient experience of healthcare services, improving clinical outcomes, promoting health behaviours and population health, reducing inefficiencies while increasing care quality, and reducing the cost of healthcare.³ In line with this broad spectrum of goals, digital health technologies involve a wide range of solutions. These include telehealth and telemedicine, mobile health (mHealth), and health information technologies.³ Some of these solutions (e.g. mobile medical apps) may target specific consumers such as patients and caregivers. Others (e.g. telehealth) may aim at enhancing remote communication, monitoring, and feedback between patients and healthcare professionals (HCPs). Yet still others (e.g. electronic health records) may target information gathering for health administrators, payers, digital health designers, and other stakeholders in the health industry.

Indeed, over the years many healthcare providers and organisations have given increasing consideration to digital healthcare technologies as tools that hold promise for increasing healthcare outcomes while reducing costs.^{2,4-6} Particularly in the area of chronic illnesses, mobile digital devices and software applications (apps) are being explored as ways of achieving both behavioural and clinical outcomes.^{7,8} Nonetheless, healthcare systems continue to battle important issues (e.g. inequitable access to healthcare) fundamental to the majority of chronic illnesses that most burden these systems.⁹ With the current historic rise in migrants, refugees, and displaced persons around the world, there is an even greater risk of chronic illness burden on healthcare systems.9

The purpose of this article is to present an argument to the effect that for effective prevention and management of chronic illnesses in the everincreasing migrant societies to be achieved, mobile digital healthcare technologies must be realistically smart and strategically adopted. It begins with an overview of the current migration trend around the world. How this trend may contribute to the global burden of chronic non-communicable illnesses, such as diabetes, hypertension, cardiovascular disease, cancers, and mental disorders is then outlined. Evidence of risk factors and prevalence of chronic illnesses in migrants is also highlighted. Next, the paper reviews the role and effectiveness of mHealth technologies in promoting outcomes in chronic illness. This is followed by an outline of three core reasons for which existing mHealth technologies may be limited in effectively tackling any probable chronic illness epidemic⁹ as a result of the increasing migration. Finally, important directions for mHealth technology developers, HCPs, researchers, government and funding agencies, and public health organisations are identified, with a focus on the strategic development and adoption of 'realistically smart' phones (RSPs). The paper ends with recommendations for research and public health education efforts.

GLOBAL MIGRATION TRENDS

In 2015, the world recorded its highest ever number of international migrants; 244 million people worldwide moved from their countries of origin to other countries.^{10,11} Compared with the 232 million migrants in 2013, 12 million more people migrated in 2015.¹⁰ By the end of the same year, >1.2 million people, largely from Syria, Afghanistan, and Iraq, had sought asylum within the European Union (EU), reflecting >50% the number recorded in 2014 (563,000). Indeed, this is the highest level of forced

displacement recorded worldwide since World War II.¹⁰ Unfortunately, while these figures are appalling, they are predicted to further rise in the coming years, as the United Nations (UN) and other world organisations struggle to achieve lasting solutions to the conflicts and persecutions in the Middle East, South Asia, and also parts of Africa such as Nigeria.¹² Within countries, internal migration is also reported to be on the rise.¹⁰ This historic migration trend suggests that many societies are getting increasingly pluralistic and complex. First, there is the presence of various ethnocultural groups in receiving countries and internal regions. Secondly, there is increasing diversity in language, health, educational, religious, and socioeconomic needs of the various ethnocultural groups. Thirdly, and as a matter of urgency, host countries may need to develop and/or amend policies to cater for the health and socioeconomic needs of migrants and for the diversity in needs.

MIGRATION AND CHRONIC ILLNESSES

Whether internal or external, migration generally brings with it an increased potential for infectious disease spread.9 Yet, with the massive influx of migrants in developed and developing countries, healthcare systems may record higher incidence and prevalence of long-term non-communicable illnesses.¹³ Firstly, the steep rise in populations may greatly reduce the capacity of available healthcare resources and services⁹ to identify at risk persons, provide timely preventive interventions, and efficiently manage known chronic illness cases for both migrants and residents. Secondly, the surge in language barriers may limit access to healthcare health-related socioeconomic and resources (e.g. housing, employment, and education), particularly for migrants.¹⁴⁻¹⁸ These two fundamental issues facing contemporary healthcare systems may lead to the onset and progression of chronic illnesses in diverse ways. These include increasing waiting times for accessing health screening services, increasing stress from limited access to pertinent socioeconomic resources, and promoting health risk behaviours including smoking, unhealthy eating habits, sedentary behaviours, and alcohol and substance abuse. In addition, they may lead to suboptimum adherence through poor patient-HCP communication and poor understanding of treatment prescriptions. In chronic illnesses, non-adherence to medications and lifestyle recommendations is a major determinant of illness progression.^{19,20} Furthermore, language barriers may

reduce access to food labels, which are important for making informed decisions about foods. Inability to do so could have a negative impact on diet quality and hence health. Figure 1 illustrates a theorised model of the relationships between the influx of migrants and prevalence of chronic illnesses.

RISK FACTORS AND PREVALENCE OF CHRONIC ILLNESSES AMONG MIGRANTS

Compared with non-migrants, a number of studies have found a high prevalence of chronic non-communicable illnesses and related risk factors among migrants.13 These factors include communication difficulties (due to language differences), poor employment, and poor social status.²¹⁻²³ Post-migration stress has also been identified as one of the most consistent factors associated with depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, and generalised anxiety disorder.²² Among resettling migrant women, studies suggest an increased risk of experiencing somatisation and low birth-weight infants.²⁴ Immigrant women have also been found to be at increased risk of social vulnerability¹⁵ and at more than twice the risk of Canadian-born women for postpartum depression.²¹ Often, women migrate during their childbearing years and may lack knowledge about the rights and services available to them.^{15,21,25} Among migrant men, a study of Gulf migrants (including emigrants from Kerala, India, to the Gulf countries) and non-migrants in India found that a majority of health risk factors for non-communicable illnesses were significantly higher in migrants.^{26,27} With the exception of alcohol use, the prevalence of tobacco

use, physical inactivity, poor diet habits, chronic illness history, less sleep, and longer work hours were significantly higher in migrants than non-migrants.²⁶ Accordingly, hypertension and abdominal obesity were significantly more prevalent among migrants than non-migrants.^{26,27} A similar study found that participants with a history of migration (largely from Kerala to the Gulf countries) had a higher prevalence of diabetes, hypertension, and cardiac problems.²⁸

Chronic illnesses currently constitute the most prevalent and costly of all health problems in both developed and developing countries,^{4,13,29} with morbidity and mortality from chronic illnesses exceeding that from infectious diseases.²⁹ Coupled with the generally strained healthcare facilities and resources worldwide, it is of utmost importance that smart yet realistic mHealth innovations are adopted to help address the core health needs of contemporary pluralistic societies. Specifically, the need for: i) innovative languagebridging solutions; ii) increased access to preventive healthcare information and services irrespective of socioeconomic status; iii) wider promotion of healthy lifestyles and behaviour change techniques; iv) enhanced self-monitoring and self-management behaviours; and v) increased access to essential health-related socioeconomic resources (housing, education, employment, support networks). This task may seem enormous and costly, yet countries that have embraced pluralism and fostered integration of migrants via effective policies and programmes, referred to as multicultural countries, tend to report higher health as well as economic status.³⁰



Figure 1: Hypothesised relationships between migration influx and chronic illnesses.

THE ROLE AND SUCCESS OF MOBILE DIGITAL INTERVENTIONS IN HEALTHCARE

Over the last two decades, well over 100,000 health and medical apps have been designed for use on mobile smartphones, tablet computers, laptops, and wearable devices.³¹ Presently, consumers can use mHealth technologies to access a wide range of clinical and public health services.³² For instance, smartphones together with wearable wireless sensors can be used to measure, monitor, and manage vital body signs (e.g. blood glucose levels), which are critical in chronic illness management.^{8,32-34} With the increasing movement of populations to developed and developing countries, where resources are typically fewer and concentrated in urban areas, mHealth devices and apps may offer opportune avenues for meeting the critical health needs of modern societies.7,34,35 Their capacity for continuous interactive wireless communication means that health interventions can be accessed independent of geographic location.^{34,35} Intervention content can also be delivered and updated consistently across users.³⁵ These devices allow users to privately and anonymously access personalised interventions at their own convenience and pace.^{34,35} As interventions are accessed independent of expensive therapy consultations, mHealth innovations are potentially cost effective.³⁴ Furthermore, they have the potential to revolutionise healthcare research, data analysis, and service delivery via real-time data collection.35

Empirically, a recent systematic review of 30 randomised controlled trials (RCTs) found that telemonitoring interventions significantly reduced the odds of mortality and hospitalisation among people with heart failure, compared to standard post-discharge care.³⁶ Telemonitoring interventions may include HCPs monitoring symptoms through live telephone calls with patients. Patients may also enter data on signs and symptoms into an electronic communication device (e.g. smartphone) to be downloaded and viewed later by HCPs.³⁷ Among a cohort of 17,025 veteran patients, a home telehealth programme was found to reduce the number of bed days of care by 25% and the number of hospital days by 19%. The average cost per patient (\$1,600.00 per annum) was reported to be substantially lower than nursing home care.³⁸ A recent comparison of patients on the programme to a matched control group indicated further reductions in hospitalisations, healthcare costs, and

mortality rates for programme participants.³⁹ In men who have sex with men, a tailored and interactive text-messaging intervention (a set of messages addressing nine topic areas) significantly improved medication adherence, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) knowledge, and social support post-intervention, whereas there were significant reductions in viral load and the number of sex partners.⁴⁰ Findings of a systematic review of the effectiveness of communication technologies among adolescents with diabetes showed that 10 of 18 studies found positive improvements in blood glucose levels, although four studies reported detrimental increases in blood glucose levels.41 Increased frequency of patient-HCP contact was found in 15 studies.⁴¹ In a recent systematic review of 42 controlled trials of mobile technology-based health interventions, modest benefits were found for SMS reminders on appointment attendance.¹ In developing countries, a review of mHealth intervention studies (largely SMS messages) reported enhanced mass delivery of health information, remote patient monitoring, selfmanagement, and data monitoring systems for diagnosis and treatment.⁴² A similar review including nine RCTs found that mHealth interventions (e.g. mobile phone-based interactive software plus management feedback) positively improved chronic illness outcomes. These included clinic attendance, medication adherence, pulmonary function (in asthma patients), emergency visits, hospitalisations, and cost-effectiveness.43

Many of these reviews indicate high heterogeneity in study design (e.g. from RCTs to pilot studies⁴²) and quality. Yet, generally, the extant literature over the years seems to assert that mHealth innovations are potentially effective strategies for promoting healthcare.^{1,7,32-43} In certain countries, some mHealth technologies have received approval from government agencies such as the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA).³²

MOBILE DIGITAL TECHNOLOGIES AND CONTEMPORARY HEALTH NEEDS OF PLURALISTIC SOCIETIES

Despite their potential healthcare and public health benefits, the question remains of whether innovations are being realistically leveraged to the probable epidemic of chronic illnesses^{9,13} facing contemporary societies. It is argued that unless mHealth is fully accessible to migrants, as well as average residents, ethnocultural minorities, and the

most vulnerable across societies, this could breed a digital divide that may severely intensify the global health challenge of socioeconomic inequalities.^{35,44} As it stands, it is worth asking how many of the world's population can afford a smartphone. On one hand, most smartphones are overly sophisticated, replete with superfluous apps, many of which consumers may hardly make use of, and are unreasonably expensive. On the other hand, low-end mobile phones tend to lack the basic features and capacity for internet-based healthcare interventions. There is also the question of what percentage of the world's population has access to a wireless internet connection? Even in the UK, reports indicate that about a fifth of the adult population has absolutely no home internet access.³⁵ This suggests that in low-income countries, more people may have no access to internet-based interventions. Furthermore. although health mHealth innovations are penetrating most modern societies, few public health education efforts are aimed at supporting consumers to effectively use these technologies. Among socioeconomically disadvantaged groups, who generally record lower educational levels, this may also contribute to a digital divide and wider gaps in health inequalities.^{35,44} Lack of mHealth education may further heighten migrants' fears that data could lead to deportation, xenophobic, or discriminatory attitudes.45,46 So what is the way forward in effectively harnessing mHealth technologies? Rather than simply increasing access, a strategic and multidisciplinary effort is required.

DIRECTIONS FOR DEVELOPMENT AND ADOPTION OF 'REALISTICALLY SMART' MOBILE PHONES

To equitably promote clinical outcomes and public health across the globe via digital health, three things need to be critically considered. First, mobile phones, the most widely available technology, should be designed to realistically address the critical health needs of contemporary pluralistic societies. More practically, RSPs, in addition to the basic features of a mobile phone should have: i) capacity for wireless internet connection; ii) a built-in/affixed sensor for measuring multiple vital health information (e.g. temperature, blood pressure, blood oxygen, glucose levels, and heart rhythm); and iii) a core set of medical and health apps preinstalled. The core set of apps must be approved by appropriate institutions (e.g. food and drug agencies) and help to bridge language

barriers, provide clinical diagnosis and treatment support for common health problems, encourage healthy lifestyles and provide evidence-based techniques for risk behaviour change, support self-monitoring and self-management behaviours, and alert users of vital health-related opportunities for socioeconomic resources. For example, RSPs could include an app that easily translates words, sentences, and inscriptions on snapped images from dominant languages into numerous local dialects and vice-versa. This could particularly support migrants and linguistic minority groups to better engage with health information and communicate with HCPs. The RSP could also include an app that picks up all job openings and socioeconomic opportunities within the residing country of the user daily, and display this information in a selected language option.

Secondly, just as going to school is a human right and as such governments strive to bring education to all, so is access to health a human right. Therefore, in this era of digitisation, governments must equally strive to partner with phone developers, app designers, HCPs, and healthcare researchers with a goal to invest in affordable RSPs and gather evidence of their influence on clinical outcomes and public health. Furthermore, the onus lies on governments to make wireless internet widely and freely accessible so that all persons, irrespective of socioeconomic status or geographic location, can access essential internet-based health interventions.

Finally, to prevent creating a new cause of health inequalities and rather promote digital health for all persons, there must be a revolution in public health education efforts across the globe. Public health ministries need to focus on actively training the public to use information and communication technologies. Such education efforts should be drastic enough to ensure that all persons, irrespective of adult age or socioeconomic background, have the knowledge and skills required to connect to the internet, access digital health interventions, take the necessary health actions at any stage of the care continuum, and seek support with security and privacy concerns. It is only when this revolution in public health education efforts parallels the revolution in digital technology healthcare solutions can maximum uptake of these innovations be realised.

LIMITATIONS

Few studies have considered the prevalence of chronic physical illnesses compared with mental illnesses in migrant populations and subpopulations (e.g. reproductive health problems in women migrants). Despite the numerous evaluation studies in mHealth, evidence of long-term, large-scale effectiveness and cost-effectiveness, as well as continued engagement with mHealth programmes, is still not uniformly conclusive across disease areas, innovation types, subpopulations, and countries. While it is largely asserted that developing countries may benefit greatly from mHealth, efficacy, cost-efficacy, and practicality (e.g. concerns about data security) are extremely lacking in these regions.

CONCLUSION

As the world grows progressively diverse due to the continuous rise in migration, there is an increased

potential for development of chronic illnesses through reduced access to healthcare information and services and socioeconomic resources. Mobile digital healthcare technologies, owing to their availability and functionality, have the capacity to support achievement of clinical and public health outcomes. Nonetheless, it is important that they are realistically designed and strategically adopted to avoid a digital divide, whereby those most in need of healthcare education and services are the least likely to access digital health interventions. It is recommended that government agencies support intercultural research that provides rigorous evidence for mHealth innovations across regions and sub-regions. Community platforms for updating especially low socioeconomic-status groups on mHealth research (including phenomenological reports from mHealth users) and for soliciting input for further research may help alleviate security concerns and boost adoption of these potentially beneficial technologies.

REFERENCES

1. Free C et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behaviour change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: a systematic review. PLoS med. 2013;10(1):e1001362.

2. Kay M et al. mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies. WHO. 2011;64(7):66-71.

3. Food and Drug Administration. Digital Health. 2016. Available at: http://www.fda. gov/medicaldevices/digitalhealth/. Last accessed: 14 December 2016.

4. Samarth A, Dixon BE. Innovations in Using Health IT for Chronic Disease Management: Findings from the AHRQ health IT portfolio. 2009. Available at: https://healthit.ahrq.gov/sites/default/ files/docs/page/09-0029-EF_cdm_1.pdf. Last accessed: 13 December 2016.

5. Ventola CL. Mobile devices and apps for health care professionals: uses and benefits. P T. 2014;39(5):356-64.

6. Bhavnani et al. Mobile technology and the digitization of healthcare. Eur Heart J. 2016;37(18):1428-38.

7. Park LG et al. Mobile Phone Interventions for the Secondary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. Prog Cardiovasc Dis. 2016;58(6):639-50.

8. Georgeff M. Digital technologies and chronic disease management. Aust Fam Physician. 2014;43(12):842-6.

9. World Health Organization.

Overcoming migrants' barriers to health. Bulletin of the World Health Organization. 2008;86(8):577-656.

10. International Organization for Migration. Global Migration Trends 2015 Factsheet. 2015. Available at: https:// publications.iom.int/system/files/global_ migration_trends_2015_factsheet.pdf. Last accessed: 7 November 2016.

11. United Nations Migration Fund. Migration. 2015. Available at: http://www. unfpa.org/migration. Last accessed: 7 November 2016.

12. Koser K. 10 migration tends to look out for in 2016. World Economic Forum. 2015. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/ agenda/2015/12/10-migration-trendsto-look-out-for-in-2016/. Last accessed: 7 November 2016.

13. McLennan AK, Jayaweera H. Noncommunicable diseases and risk factors in migrants from South Asian countries. 2014. Available at: https://www. compas.ox.ac.uk/media/RR-2014-Non-Communicable_Diseases_South_Asians. pdf. Last accessed: 14 December 2016.

14. Osae-Larbi JA. Bridging the language barrier gap in the health of multicultural societies: report of a proposed mobile phone-based intervention using Ghana as an example. SpringerPlus. 2016;5(1):900.

15. Kvamme E, Ytrehus S. Barriers to health care access among undocumented migrant women in Norway. Society, Health & Vulnerability. 2015;6.

16. Clarke AJ, Isphording IE. Language barriers and immigrant health production. 2015. Available at: http:// ftp.iza.org/dp8846.pdf. Last accessed: 7 November 2016.

17. Ahmed S et al. Barriers to access of primary healthcare by immigrant populations in Canada: a literature review. J Immigr Minor Health. 2016;18(6): 1522-40.

18. Lee SM. A review of language and other communication barriers in health care. 2003. Available at: http://www.hablamosjuntos.org/resources/pdf/smleecommunication_and_health.pdf. Last accessed: 7 November 2016.

19. Jimmy B, Jose J. Patient medication adherence: measures in daily practice. Oman Med J. 2011;26(3):155-9.

20. Martin LR et al. The challenge of patient adherence. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2005;1(3):189-99.

21. Kirmayer LJ et al.; Canadian Collaboration for Immigrant Refugee Health (CCIRH). Common mental health problems in immigrants and refugees: general approach in primary care. CMAJ. 2011;183(12):E959-67.

22. Bogic M et al. Long-term mental health of war-refugees: a systematic literature review. BMC Int Health Hum Rights. 2015;15:29.

23. Fazel M et al. Mental health of displaced and refugee children resettled

in high-income countries: risk and protective factors. Lancet. 2012;379(9812): 266-82.

24. Gagnon AJ et al. A systematic review of refugee women's reproductive health. Refuge: Canada's Journal on Refugees. 2002;21(1).

25. Zheng Z et al. Reproductive health and access to services among rural-tourban migrants in China. United Nations Research Institute for Social Development (UNRISD) Working Paper 4. 2013:1-27.

26. Begam NS, Mini GK. Impact of Migration on Non Communicable Disease Risk Factors: Comparison of Gulf Migrants and their Non Migrant Contemporaries in the District of Origin in Kerala, India. Austin J Public Health Epidemiol. 2016; 3(3):1038.

27. Begam NS et al. Is Migration Affecting Prevalence, Awareness, Treatment and Control of Hypertension of Men in Kerala, India? J Immigr Minor Health. 2016; 18(6):1365-70.

28. Shahul Hameed S et al. Migration Status and Prevalence of Chronic Diseases in Kerala State, India. Int J Chronic Dis. 2013;2013:431818.

29. Nugent R. Chronic diseases in developing countries. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2008;1136:70-9.

30. Adams S; Forbes. The world's most reputable countries. 2013. Available at: http://www.forbes.com/sites/susan-adams/2013/06/27/the-worlds-most-rep-utable-countries-2013/#8c65b074881d. Last accessed: 7 November 2016.

31. Lupton D. Apps as artefacts: Towards

a critical perspective on mobile health and medical apps. Societies. 2014;4(4): 606-22.

32. Riaz MS, Atreja A. Personalized Technologies in Chronic Gastrointestinal Disorders: Self-monitoring and Remote Sensor Technologies. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2016;14(12):1697-705.

33. Mosa ASM et al. A systematic review of healthcare applications for smartphones. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak. 2012;12:67.

34. Hall AK et al. Healthy Aging 2.0: the potential of new media and technology. Prev Chronic Dis. 2012;9:E97.

35. McAuley A. Digital health interventions: widening access or widening inequalities? J Public Health. 2014;128(12):1118-20.

36. Kotb A et al. Comparative effectiveness of different forms of telemedicine for individuals with heart failure (HF): a systematic review and network meta-analysis. PloS One. 2015. 10(2):e0118681.

37. Chaudhry SI et al. Telemonitoring for patients with chronic heart failure: a systematic review. J Cardiac Fail. 2007; 13(1):56-62.

38. Darkins A et al. Care Coordination/ Home Telehealth: the systematic implementation of health informatics, home telehealth, and disease management to support the care of veteran patients with chronic conditions. Telemed J E Health. 2008;14(10):1118-26.

39. Darkins A et al. Reduced cost and mortality using home telehealth to promote self-management of complex chronic conditions: a retrospective matched cohort study of 4,999 veteran patients. Telemed J E Health. 2015; 21(1):70-6.

40. Uhrig JD et al. Communication-Focused Technologies: Health Messages for HIV-Positive Men Who Have Sex With Men—Final Report. Prepared for AHRQ. 2011. Available at: https://healthit.ahrq. gov/sites/default/files/docs/citation/ hlthmsgshivposmen_061711comp.pdf. Last accessed: 13 December 2016.

41. Sutcliffe P et al. Systematic review of communication technologies to promote access and engagement of young people with diabetes into healthcare. BMC Endocr Disord. 2011;11(1):1.

42. Chigona W et al. A review on mHealth research in developing countries. J Commun Inform. 2013;9(2).

43. Beratarrechea A et al. The impact of mobile health interventions on chronic disease outcomes in developing countries: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health. 2014;20(1):75-82.

44. Ma D et al. Exploring the adoption of mobile internet services by socioeconomically disadvantaged people: A qualitative user study. Aslib J Inform Manag. 2016;68(6):670-93.

45. Davies AA et al. Migration: a social determinant of the health of migrants. Euro Health. 2009;16(1):10-2.

46. International Organization for Migration. Migration, health and urbanization: Interrelated challenges. Available at: https://www.iom.int/sites/ default/files/our_work/ICP/MPR/WMR-2015-Background-Paper-CSchultz.pdf. Last accessed: 15 December 2016.

COMPREHENSIVE ASSESSMENT AND PHARMACOTHERAPY OF PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC PAIN SYNDROME DUE TO DIABETIC NEUROPATHY AND POSTHERPETIC NEURALGIA

*Katarzyna Rygiel

Department of Family Practice, Medical University of Silesia, Katowice-Zabrze, Poland *Correspondence to kasiaalpha@yahoo.co.uk

Disclosure: The author has declared no conflicts of interest. **Received:** 25.11.16 **Accepted:** 24.03.17 **Citation:** EMJ. 2017;2[2]:35-41.

ABSTRACT

Management of chronic pain, usually associated with comorbid conditions, remains challenging. General practitioners, together with multidisciplinary teams of specialists, play an important role in diagnosing and treating patients with chronic pain of different origin. This article outlines the main mechanisms underlying chronic nociceptive and neuropathic pain and describes some helpful techniques to initially evaluate and regularly monitor pain. Pharmacologic treatment options, including their benefits and adverse effects, with particular emphasis on the management of diabetic neuropathy and postherpetic neuralgia, commonly seen in the primary care practice setting, are presented.

Chronic pain, regardless of its cause, is a disease syndrome and, as such, requires a comprehensive, individualised approach to each patient reaching beyond symptom control. Collaboration of physicians (general practitioners, diabetologists, neurologists, and pain specialists), pharmacists, and nurses in the management of patients with diabetic neuropathy and postherpetic neuralgia improves patient safety and contributes to better adherence to therapeutic regimens, which leads to more favourable outcomes and improved quality of life.

<u>Keywords:</u> Chronic pain, diabetic neuropathy, postherpetic neuralgia (PHN), pharmacotherapy, patient management.

INTRODUCTION

Pain is a physiological part of the protective mechanism that allows individuals to survive. In fact, pain evaluation is so important that it has been called the fifth vital sign that needs to be monitored on a regular basis, alongside pulse rate, arterial blood pressure, respiratory rate, and body temperature.^{1,2} Since the perception of pain is subjective, there is no particular objective test that can accurately measure the type and intensity of pain experienced by a patient. Therefore, patient self-reporting is usually considered to be a key component of pain evaluation.^{1,2} However, these reports must be linked with a detailed medical interview, physical examination, laboratory and imaging test results, as well as with patient scores on standard pain scales.¹ Also, chronic pain needs to

be evaluated at regular intervals of time and should be precisely documented in the patient's records to ensure that every member of the treatment team, including general practitioners (GPs), consulting specialists (diabetologists, neurologists, or pain specialists), pharmacists, nurses, rehabilitation therapists, or other providers, has access to current information, which will allow precise monitoring of the patient's response to treatment.¹³

In contrast to acute pain evaluation, which is often brief and direct, assessment of chronic pain (nociceptive or neuropathic), particularly if it is combined with different comorbid conditions or remains refractory to standard initial treatment, is very complex. The International Association for the Study of Pain (IASP) defines neuropathic pain as "a pain arising as a direct consequence of a lesion or disease affecting the somatosensory system".² Assessment of neuropathic pain requires multidisciplinary knowledge and experience, co-operation within a treatment team, and a professional relationship with each patient based on mutual trust and respect. Many GPs are in a unique position to establish long-term relationships with their patients that facilitate good communication.^{1,3}

INITIAL ASSESSMENT OF PATIENT SUFFERING FROM CHRONIC PAIN

Initial assessment of every patient suffering from chronic pain is focussed on obtaining a detailed history covering basic characteristics of the patient's pain, such as its type (nociceptive versus neuropathic), localisation, frequency, duration, and aggravating and alleviating factors.^{1,3} In addition, it is crucial to briefly analyse some other related domains of the patient's life, including his/her physical and psychosocial wellbeing (including family and occupational situation), functional status, comorbidities, mental and emotional status, present or past psychiatric disorders, and current or past substance abuse problems.^{1,3}

The physical exam should be focussed on musculoskeletal and neurological systems. Diagnostic studies need to be analysed in comparison to past medical records, if available. A goal of such a comprehensive assessment is a correct diagnosis and a reasonable management plan. It should be emphasised that simple steps, including obtaining a patient's detailed history and performing a thorough physical exam, are often instrumental for detecting potential causes of a patient's pain.¹⁻³ At this point, knowing the right questions to ask can lead to finding the root cause(s) of the patient's pain, indicating further appropriate directions for diagnosis and treatment. There are several questions that are particularly helpful at the beginning of diagnostic work-up:

- Using a body diagram (front and back), can you point to the exact site of your pain?
- Does your pain spread or radiate? Where?
- What things relieve or worsen it?
- When did the pain begin?
- What was done about it?
- Have you been using any medications or procedures? What kind?
- Did any of those interventions work?
- What medications (over-the-counter or prescription), vitamins, or dietary supplements, are you currently taking?

- Do you drink alcohol?
- Do you smoke?
- Do you use any drugs?

These direct questions, in addition to obtaining precise characteristics of the pain, can also determine whether there are any psychosocial issues that might interfere with a future therapy plan.^{1,3} As mentioned before, the physical exam is an integral component of the comprehensive pain assessment. In addition to taking vital signs, it should include evaluation of mental status and mood, posture (e.g. guarding or splinting), neurological status (e.g. sensory or motor dysfunctions), and signs of sympathetic dysfunction or musculoskeletal abnormalities.^{1,3}

In general, laboratory and radiographic evaluations are performed in cases in which previous evaluations were inadequate or the patient's quantity or quality of pain has changed.^{1,3} Although the experience of pain is subjective, several validated instruments exist, including both one-dimensional and multidimensional questionnaires that are designed to help measure the intensity and type of the patient's pain. Since chronic pain requires regular monitoring, any chosen evaluation method, depending on the patient's age and communication/language skills, needs to be used consistently during each follow-up visit.^{1,4}

Typical one-dimensional pain scales that are most useful in a daily practice include:

- The Numeric Rating Scale (NRS): the patient rates his/her pain intensity on a scale of 0 (no pain) to 10 (worst imaginable pain). Patients may also use the scale at home to record pain intensity at different times in relation to their activity levels and applied treatments, which should be documented in a pain journal. This kind of documentation is very helpful in determining pain patterns.¹⁴
- The Visual Analogue Scale (VAS): allows a more descriptive rating of pain, since the patient marks the line at the point between 0 and 10 that best describes his/her pain intensity.^{1,4}
- The Wong-Baker FACES[®] pain rating scale: uses facial expressions to depict different degrees of pain intensity. It is particularly useful for assessing children and cognitively impaired or elderly patients (who often have some language barriers or difficulty communicating verbally).^{1,4}
- The Verbal Rating Scale (VRS).^{1,4}
Some other validated, multi-dimensional pain assessment tools include:

- The McGill Pain Questionnaire (MPQ): covers three dimensions of pain: sensory, affective, and evaluative. The patient selects words that best describe the quality of their pain from a pre-defined list, such as burning, shooting, throbbing, aching, and pins and needles.⁵
- The Brief Pain Inventory-Short Form (BPI-SF), a nine-item self-report questionnaire (scored on a 0-10 scale), examines pain severity and its interference with emotional and physical functioning. For the BPI-SF, the arithmetic mean of four pain severity items yields a general pain severity score; the mean of seven interference values yields a general interference score and other items inform about the pain location and the use of pain relief strategies.⁶
- The Douleur Neuropathique 4 (DN4) questionnaire: a tool aimed at screening neuropathic pain that is used to help distinguish between neuropathic and nociceptive pain. It is made up of seven items related to pain symptoms and three items related to physical evaluation. DN4 is correlated with the medical diagnosis.⁷

These tools can provide a comprehensive profile of the patient's pain, whilst also taking into consideration emotional distress, and the degree to which the individual can function in various domains of life. In addition, several multi-dimensional tools exist, for example the Neuropathic Pain Scale (NPS), Treatment Outcomes of Pain Survey (TOPS), and the Oswestry Disability Index (ODI). These can be used to assess specific types of pain or to assess pain in terms of functional status among large groups of patients. However, these tools are usually reserved for the research setting.¹⁴

NOCICEPTIVE PAIN PATHWAY

In order to better understand the development of two main types of pain, nociceptive and neuropathic, with their respective specific symptoms commonly experienced by patients, it is important to briefly review the normal anatomy and physiology of pain pathways. Nociceptive pain pathways allow individuals to perceive pain and avoid further injury after a noxious stimulus, such as heat, cold, or mechanical trauma activates receptors in tissues (e.g. skin). This noxious stimulus is then transduced into incoming signals that travel toward the central nervous system along small, unmyelinated C fibres.

The C fibres make synaptic connections in the dorsal horn of the spinal cord. The second-order neurons cross the midline and travel up the contralateral spinal tract to the thalamus and other parts of the brain so that the pain sensation can be perceived.^{1,4} It should be emphasised that the intensity of the incoming noxious signals can be modulated by a descending inhibitory tract. For instance, opioids bind to specific receptors in the brain and cause an increase in descending inhibition, to reduce the incoming pain signals. This, in turn, allows patients to decrease the degree of pain that they feel.^{1,4}

ALLODYNIA AND HYPERALGESIA

The normal anatomy and physiology of a pain pathway can be depicted as the stimulus intensity increasing from a light touch to a pinch causing a person to start perceiving pain, which can be rated in intensity on a numeric scale from 0-10. At this point, injured tissues become sensitised, and the pain perception is often greater.^{1,4} For example, upon a non-painful stimulus, such as a light touch, the injured area can cause a mild-to-moderate pain sensation called allodynia. Similarly, a mildly painful stimulus, such as a light pinch, may cause in these circumstances severe pain, called hyperalgesia. This response is normal to ensure protection of the injured area until it heals. However, persistence of the allodynia and hyperalgesia after the tissue injury has healed is characteristic of neuropathic pain.^{2,4}

NEUROPATHIC PAIN PATHWAY

The management of chronic neuropathic pain, whether peripheral or central, is clinically challenging and often frustrating because of the complex pathophysiology of neuropathic pain transmission.^{2,4} Neuropathic pain is a common form of chronic pain, which results from damage to the peripheral nervous system, often due to diabetic neuropathy, postherpetic neuralgia (PHN), or chronic lumbar radiculopathy.^{1,4} In addition, neuropathic pain can also be caused by injury to the central nervous system, which can occur in: stroke, spinal cord injury, and multiple sclerosis (MS).^{1,4}

In general, symptoms of neuropathy can be categorised as:^{2,8}

- Negative, resulting in partial or total loss of sensation
- Positive, including various types of abnormal or unpleasant sensations (due to normal stimuli), such as:

- Dysaesthesia: burning/stabbing
- Paraesthesia: tingling or prickling (pins and needles)
- Allodynia: painful sensation due to a mild stimulus; not normally associated with pain
- Hyperalgesia: exaggerated response to painful stimulus

CAUSES, MECHANISMS, AND SYMPTOMS OF NEUROPATHIC PAIN

Neuropathic pain represents a chronic condition that is often difficult to diagnose and to treat due to complex interrelations between the causes, mechanisms, and symptoms of various diseases underlying this type of pain.^{2,8} In neuropathic pain, neurons in the spinal cord often become hyper-responsive, leading to excessive pain sensation (hypersensitivity) and extension of pain beyond the region of original damage due to injury or disease. Moreover, changes in sodium and potassium channels after a nerve injury increase cell membrane excitability and cause paraesthesias.8 The sensitisation of both central and peripheral neurons alters perception of pain and increases sensitivity to temperature and to touch. Peripheral nerve injury may also reduce inhibitory cerebral influence on dorsal horn neurons.^{1,8}

DISTAL SYMMETRIC POLYNEUROPATHY

Distal symmetric polyneuropathy (DSPN) is the presence of symptoms and signs of peripheral nerve dysfunction in patients with diabetes (after the exclusion of other causes). DSPN has a multifactorial pathogenesis (e.g. oxidative and inflammatory stress associated with metabolic disorders) and is the most common diabetic neuropathy. DSPN that involves small-diameter Type A delta and Type C sensory fibres usually results in symptoms such as painful paraesthesia, which is perceived as burning, stabbing, crushing, cramping, or aching sensations (often aggravated at night).⁹ These symptoms typically develop in the hands in a glove-like distribution. In addition, paraesthesias and the loss of sensation in the feet. in a sock-like distribution, creates a risk of developing foot ulcers that can be complicated by gangrene.⁹ Moreover, frequently coinciding decreased ankle and knee reflexes, weakness of foot muscles, and impaired proprioception can affect the gait, and cause sensory ataxia. Furthermore, many patients experience symptoms related to the autonomic nervous system, such as resting

tachycardia, orthostatic hypotension, bladder or bowel dysfunction, anhidrosis, and sluggish reaction of pupils to light.⁹

A neurologic evaluation is necessary to determine severity and to rule out other causes of neuropathy. Management of each diabetic patient with DSPN, in addition to his/her appropriate blood glucose levels, lipid levels, and blood pressure control, needs to take into consideration any medical or mental comorbidities, possible treatment side effects, and some other individual factors (e.g. socio-economic).

PHARMACOTHERAPY FOR DIABETIC NEUROPATHY

Pharmacotherapy for diabetic neuropathy includes various medications from the following groups:^{9,10}

- Antidepressants
 - Tricyclic (e.g. amitriptyline, imipramine, desipramine)¹¹
 - Selective serotonin/norepinephrine reuptake inhibitors (SNRIs) (e.g. duloxetine, venlafaxine)
 - Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (e.g. paroxetine, citalopram)
- Anticonvulsants (e.g. gabapentin, pregabalin, sodium valproate, phenytoin, carbamazepine)
- Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (e.g. ibuprofen, naproxen)
- Analgesics
 - Topical (e.g. lidocaine gel [5%], capsaicin)
 - Opioids (e.g. tramadol, morphine sulfate, or oxycodone). It should be emphasised that add-on therapy with opioids may be necessary in some patients, who failed to respond to other treatments; however, in such cases, a referral to specialised pain clinics and close medical supervision are recommended).

A choice of medication from any of these groups (or combination therapy) for the management of diabetic neuropathy should be made after considering the individual patient's clinical status, goals, and needs.^{9,10} Unfortunately, adverse effects of these medications (see next section) are common, and thus the GP's familiarity with the most typical side effects is important in order to achieve realistic treatment goals whilst maintaining the patient's comfort. In addition, educating the patients about some of the possible adverse effects of the otherwise beneficial therapy may help them to be more motivated and adherent to the treatment regimen. 10,12

POSSIBLE ADVERSE EFFECTS OF MEDICATIONS USED IN TREATMENT OF DIABETIC NEUROPATHY

In general, the anticonvulsants and antidepressants commonly used for the treatment of DSPN decrease neuronal excitability, leading to a reduction of pain. However, they are not free of adverse effects.¹¹ Second-generation anticonvulsants (e.g. gabapentin, pregabalin) can cause somnolence, dizziness, fatigue, headache, confusion, diarrhoea, nausea, weight gain, peripheral oedema, and thrombocytopenia/ neutropenia.¹² First-generation anticonvulsants (e.g. sodium valproate) can cause tremors, hepatotoxicity, peripheral oedema, weight gain, hair loss, pancreatitis, and interactions with tricyclic antidepressants.¹² SNRIs (e.g. venlafaxine, duloxetine) can cause poor appetite, weight loss, insomnia, drowsiness, dizziness, fatigue, headache, mydriasis, nausea/vomiting, and urinary retention.¹² Tricyclic antidepressants (e.g. nortriptyline, amitriptyline) can cause dry mouth, constipation, blurred vision, dizziness, drowsiness, and increased heart rate.¹²

ADDITIONAL MEDICATIONS BEING CONSIDERED FOR NEUROPATHIC PAIN

Current recommendations of the American Diabetes Association (ADA) are designed to help primary care physicians focus on effective management of neuropathies in patients with Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM).¹³ In addition to recently completed or ongoing clinical trials in the area of diabetic neuropathy, investigating SNRIs (e.g. duloxetine) or anticonvulsants (e.g. pregabalin) in different diabetic populations, there is still a growing need to find more effective therapeutic approaches to DSPN that are less toxic. Some of them are briefly described below.

Alpha-Lipoic Acid

Alpha-lipoic acid (ALA) is an antioxidant that, according to a multicentre placebo-controlled trial, was found to cause short-term symptomatic relief of neuropathy symptoms in patients with T2DM (its recommended dose is 600 mg/day for 3 weeks).¹⁴

Actovegin

Actovegin is a deproteinised derivative of calf blood, containing inorganic substances (electrolytes and

trace elements), organic components (amino acids, oligopeptides, nucleosides, and glycosphingolipids), and inositol phospho-oligosaccharides that may enhance insulin actions (central or peripheral). Based on the randomised clinical trial by Ziegler et al.,¹⁵ it was found that upon therapy with actovegin (e.g. intravenous [2,000 mg/day], and then oral [1,800 mg/day] administration over 5 months) both sensory functions and quality of life of patients with T2DM and polyneuropathy were improved.

Aldose Reductase Inhibitors

Aldose reductase inhibitors (e.g. alrestatin, sorbinil, tolrestat, and epalrestat) block the rate-limiting enzyme in the polyol pathway, which is activated by hyperglycaemia. However, these medications are not currently US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approved. Epalrestat, which reduces intracellular sorbitol accumulation, has been shown to improve motor and sensory nerve conduction as well as diabetic neuropathy symptoms (e.g. pain, hyperaesthesia, numbness, coldness of extremities, dizziness, and orthostatic fainting) compared to baseline or placebo. At present, epalrestat is marketed only in Japan and its recommended dose is 150 mg/day for 12 weeks.¹⁶

POSTHERPETIC NEURALGIA

Brief Aetiology and Clinical Manifestations of Herpes Zoster

Herpes zoster (or shingles) reflects the reactivation of the varicella-zoster virus. After the primary varicella infection (chickenpox), the virus remains quiescent in the dorsal root ganglia, often for many decades, kept in check by the normal immune system.^{17,18} However, with ageing, or due to immunosuppression associated with illness, the virus can multiply.

The clinical manifestations of herpes zoster can be divided into three phases:

- Pre-eruptive or preherpetic neuralgia
- Acute eruptive phase: unilateral patchy erythema, herpetiform vesicles that rupture, crust, and involute, and severe pain (acute herpetic neuralgia)
- Chronic or post-herpetic neuralgia^{17,18}

When the pain associated with an acute herpes zoster outbreak persists for more than 2 months, it is called PHN, which is caused by viral-mediated damage to peripheral afferent neurons. Immediate treatment with antiviral medications can reduce the severity of zoster and the risk of future PHN. However, this neuralgia may persist for a few years.^{17,18}

The pain of PHN is usually severe and is often characterised by constant aching or burning, electric shock-like sensation, allodynia, and hyperalgesia.^{17,18}

Treatment of Postherpetic Neuralgia

The recommended medications, used to treat PHN include: $^{17,18} \ensuremath{\mathsf{PHN}}$

- Antidepressants (tricyclic): nortriptyline (which has fewer cardiac side effects), desipramine, amitriptyline
- Anticonvulsants: gabapentin, pregabalin
- Opioids (only in selected, severe cases; during acute phase of herpes zoster)
- Lidocaine topical preparations
- Capsaicin topical preparations

The adverse effects of medications used in the therapy of PHN and diabetic neuropathy are identical. Similarly, the side effects of lidocaine and capsaicin topical preparations, used in the management of both of these conditions, may include abnormal skin sensations (e.g. burning or change in hot or cold sensation), redness, or swelling at the application site.^{17,18} Since there is only limited evidence to guide the selection of different pharmaceutical agents, the adverse effects of these medications should help with choosing the most appropriate and available agent by considering the benefits and risks for each individual patient. Furthermore, the FDA has approved a live attenuated varicella-zoster virus vaccine, Zostavax[®], that has been used since 2006, and has

demonstrated a decrease in the incidence rate of herpes zoster. Zostavax reduces the risk of developing shingles by 51%, and PHN by 67%. It is administered in one dose injection. Currently, Zostavax is approved for use in patients >50 years old, and is considered to be cost-effective.¹⁹

SUMMARY

Pain assessment is one of the competencies that GPs need to master in order to correctly diagnose and effectively treat patients with chronic pain of different origin. In many cases, chronic pain can be alleviated, at least to some degree, with appropriately targeted therapeutic options, even if the patient may have to try several different modalities before finding one that works best. In clinical practice, two main categories of chronic pain, neuropathic and nociceptive, often overlap. Moreover, many medical comorbidities, mental disorders, stress, or environmental factors (at work and at home) can complicate the management of chronic pain. For these reasons, chronic pain as a disease syndrome, should be addressed within a biopsychosocial, interdisciplinary model of care, which considers each patient's psychosomatic, occupational, environmental, family, and social conditions. Finally, it should be emphasised that a team collaboration between physicians (e.g. GPs, diabetologists, neurologists, psychiatrists, rehabilitation, and pain specialists), pharmacists, and nurses who manage patients with diabetic neuropathy and PHN improves patient safety and contributes to better adherence to medical regimens. This, in turn, leads to more favourable outcomes and better quality of life.

REFERENCES

1. American Medical Association. Module 1 Pain Management: Pathophysiology of Pain and Pain Assessment. 2010 (Update). Available at: http://www.amacmeonline.com/pain_mgmt/printversion/ ama_painmgmt_m1.pdf. Last accessed: 16 November 2016.

2. Jensen TS et al. A new definition of neuropathic pain. Pain. 2011;152(10): 2204-5.

3. Breuer B et al. Pain management by primary care physicians, pain physicians, chiropractors, and acupuncturists: a national survey. South Med J. 2010;103(8): 738-47.

4. Institute of Medicine, Relieving Pain in America: A Blueprint for Transforming Prevention, Care, Education, and Research (2011), The National Academies Press.

5. Melzack R. The McGill Pain Questionnaire: major properties and scoring methods. Pain. 1975;1(3):277-99.

6. Tan G et al. Validation of the Brief Pain Inventory for chronic nonmalignant pain. J Pain. 2004;5(2):133-7.

7. Backonja MM et al. Value of quantitative sensory testing in neurological and pain disorders: NeuPSIG consensus. Pain. 2013; 154(9):1807-19.

8. Woolf CJ. Neuropathic pain: aetiology, symptoms, mechanisms, and management. Lancet. 1999;353(9168):1959-64.

9. Tesfaye S; Toronto Diabetic Neuropathy Expert Group. Diabetic neuropathies:

update on definitions, diagnostic criteria, estimation of severity, and treatments. Diabetes Care. 2010;33(10):2285-93.

10. Bril V; American Academy of Neurology. Evidence-based guideline: Treatment of painful diabetic neuropathy: report of the American Academy of Neurology, the American Association of Neuromuscular and Electrodiagnostic Medicine, and the American Academy of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation. Neurology. 2011;76(20):1758-65.

11. Medscape. Diabetic Neuropathy Medication. 2017. Available at: http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/1170337medication#7. Last accessed: 21 March 2017. 12. American Pain Society. Pain: Current Understanding of Assessment, Management, and Treatments. National Pharmaceutical Council, Inc. Available at: http:// www.npcnow.org/system/files/research/ download/Pain-Current-Understandingof-Assessment-Management-and-Treatments.pdf. Last accessed: 20 March 2017.

13. Pop-Busui R et al. Diabetic Neuropathy: A Position Statement by the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care. 2017; 40(1):136-54.

14. Ziegler D et al. Oral treatment with alpha-lipoic acid improves symptomatic

diabetic polyneuropathy: the SYDNEY 2 trial. Diabetes Care, 2006;29(11):2365-70.

15. Ziegler D. Treatment of diabetic polyneuropathy: Update 2006. Ann N Y Acad Sci. 2006;1084:250-66.

16. Hotta N et al. Long-term clinical effects of epalrestat, an aldose reductase inhibitor, on diabetic peripheral neuropathy: the 3-year, multicenter, comparative Aldose Reductase Inhibitor-Diabetes Complications Trial. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(7):1538-44.

17. Zacharoff KL. Update on Postherpetic Neuralgia. Available at: https:// www.painedu.org/populations-archive. asp?ArticleNumber=39. Last accessed: 20 March 2017.

18. American Academy of Neurology. AAN Evidence-Based Guideline Summary For Clinicians. Treatment Of Postherpetic Neuralgia. Available at: http://tools.aan. com/professionals/practice/pdfs/pn_ guideline_physicians.pdf. Last accessed: 20 March 2017.

19. Lopez-Belmonte JL et al. The use of Zostavax in Spain: the economic case for vaccination of individuals aged 50 years and older. J Med Econ. 2016;19(6):576-86.

If you would like reprints of any article, contact: +44 (0) 1245 334450.

BENCHMARKING OUTCOMES THAT MATTER MOST TO PATIENTS: THE GLOBE PROGRAMME

Andre G. Dias,¹ *Charlotte J. Roberts,² Jacob Lippa,¹ Jason Arora,² Mats Lundström,³ Ola Rolfson,⁴ Sarah T. Tonn¹

 International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement, Headquarters, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA
International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement, Europe Office, London, UK
Department of Clinical Sciences, Opthalmology, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Lund, Sweden 4. Department of Orthopaedics, Institute of Clinical Sciences, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden *Correspondence to c.roberts@ichom.org

Disclosure: The authors have declared no conflicts of interest. Acknowledgements: The GLOBE programme is funded by ICHOM, sponsoring organisations with contributors from ICHOM's data partner, ICON. All seven authors contributed to the concept, content, and editing of this article. Received: 01.11.16 Accepted: 21.02.17 Citation: EMJ. 2017;2[2]:42-49. Correction Notice: This article was first published online 7th June 2017. Since then a correction has been

made. The correction notice can be seen <u>here</u>.

ABSTRACT

Significant variation in health outcomes exists around the world. The International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (ICHOM) has developed Standard Sets of outcomes for important medical conditions and populations to enable outcome measurement and comparision in order to understand variation and stimulate improvement. ICHOM has recently launched a prospective, non-interventional, observational pilot benchmarking programme. This article reviews the pilot methods, timelines, expected outputs, lessons learnt to date, and the next steps. We believe this programme is truly innovative as it will be the first global initiative in Standard Sets benchmarking, provider engagement, and risk-adjustment on the outcomes of care of most importance to patients. It has the potential to bring significant changes to compare the quality of healthcare and health systems around the world and ultimately to improve patient care.

<u>Keywords:</u> Outcomes, benchmarking, standardisation, patient reported outcome measure (PROM), patientcentred, value-based healthcare.

INTRODUCTION TO VALUE-BASED HEALTHCARE

In 2012 the International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (ICHOM) was founded as a non-profit organisation to develop Standard Sets of outcome measures for different medical conditions and populations, as well as drive their adoption by healthcare institutions. It is our belief that the systematic measurement of Standard Sets of outcomes by institutions around the world will enable, for the first time, global outcome comparisons. We think this will catalyse a new wave of innovative learning for healthcare professionals, as institutions will be able to see where the greatest outcomes are being achieved and then learn from the processes that they have resulted from, as well as really inform patient choice. ICHOM has now created Standard Sets of outcomes that matter most to patients for 21 medical conditions, including prostate cancer, cataracts (CAT), hip and knee osteoarthritis (HKO), and stroke amongst many others.

The concept of value-based healthcare^{1,2} has been defined by Prof Michael E. Porter, Bishop William Lawrence University Professor, Harvard Business School, Boston, USA, and Prof Elizabeth Teisberg, Full Professor, Dell Medical School, University of Texas, Austin, USA, as the patient outcomes achieved per dollar expended.^{3,4} Outcomes are the results people care about most when seeking treatment, including functional improvement and the ability to live 'normal', productive lives. Current metrics for care across many conditions tend to capture processes and costs and do not measure whether they achieve the outcomes which matter most to patients. The process of developing a Standard Set has been previously described.5-7 In developing globally-agreed-upon Standard Sets of outcomes for different medical conditions and patient populations, we aim to enable providers to measure the most important outcomes for their patients and then compare themselves, in a consistent manner, with other countries around the world.⁸

The application of performance benchmarking, transparency in reporting, improved performance, and collaborative learning, gained from the processes that the best performers share, ultimately informs patient choice towards value. The ICHOM Global Outcomes Benchmarking (GLOBE) programme was launched in May 2016 and aims to globally compare standardised outcomes between international partners to enable the identification of treatment paradigms that are more effective, leading to improvements in healthcare outcomes. The launch of two prospective, non-interventional, observational pilot studies using the ICHOM HKO,^{9,10} and CAT^{11,12} Standard Sets which include patient-reported outcome measurement (PROM) instruments, assess the feasibility of collecting multiple outcome data from international institutions, and provide risk-adjusted benchmarks.

Table 1: Five notable initiatives to systematically collect standardised datasets.

Initiative (alphabetically)	Scope	Mechanism of change	Summary of results	Further reading
Cystic Fibrosis Foundation (CFF) Patient Registry	Sub-national, USA (120 CFF-accredited care centres)	PB; PR; BP/G	Since 1995, the annual incidence of <i>Pseudomonas</i> , a serious and difficult-to-treat hospital-acquired infection has declined by >14%.	Cystic Fibrosis Foundation ¹³
Dutch Surgical Colorectal Audit (DSCA)	National, Netherlands (all Dutch hospitals)	PB	From 2009-2011, the rate of complications and re- interventions after colon and rectal resections improved significantly. Postoperative mortality rates (in- hospital and 30-day) also improved significantly for both procedures.	Van Leersum et al. 2013 ¹⁴
European Registry of Quality Outcomes in Cataract and Refractive Surgery (EUREQUO)	Regional, Europe (Surgeons from 15 countries)	BP/G	Between 2009 and 2016, surgeons from 15 countries contributed 2.24 million surgeries to the EUREQUO database resulting in the use of 523,921 cataract extractions in 2012 as a basis for the development of evidence-based guidelines around the cataract surgery process.	Lundström et al. 2012¹⁵
The Swedish Web-system for Enhancement and Development of Evidence-based care in Heart disease Evaluated According to Recommended Therapies (SWEDEHEART)	National, Sweden (all hospitals caring for patients with acute coronary artery disease)	PR; BP/G	Between 1998 and 2009, the average 30-day mortality rate for patients who had an acute heart attack decreased by 65% and the 1-year mortality rate decreased by 49%.	Jernberg et al. 2011 ¹⁶
Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register (SHAR)	National, Sweden (all public and private orthopedic units)	BP/G	Thirty years of data on total hip arthroplasty have helped identify best clinical practices and high- performing implants, resulting in a revision rate of just 10%.	Kärrholm et al. 2007 ¹⁷

PB: performance benchmarking; PR: public reporting; BP/G: identification and dissemination of Best Practices or Clinical Guidelines. Adapted from Larsson et al.¹⁸ The GLOBE pilot programme will bring together highly motivated participants including institutions, hospitals, and registries that are keen to compare outcomes and learn from each other.

THE GLOBAL OUTCOMES BENCHMARKING PROGRAMME

The idea of performance benchmarking as a mechanism to drive improvement is by no means a new one. A myriad of examples in the literature indicate that, when thoughtfully organised and well managed, the systematic collection of standardised data sets accelerates improvement upon measurement of process, structure, and outcome indicators which inherently reduces total cost (see Table 1).

At its most basic level, benchmarking sets the bar with regards to what is achievable, providing motivation for clinicians, care teams, and institutions to adopt best practices and/or evidence-based guidelines, or to innovate on their own. When combined with efforts to identify the underlying factors that lead to high performance, and coordinated quality improvement activities focussed on disseminating these lessons, the benefits of benchmarking can be amplified.

ICHOM's GLOBE programme builds on available examples in two important ways. Firstly, it will be the primary truly global initiative, unlike numerous existing national or regional benchmarking programmes. By including institutions from around the world, we expect to see wider variation with regard to both processes and outcomes, thereby expanding the possible research questions that can be investigated and increasing the likelihood of discovering new best practices in pockets of innovation and excellence. Secondly, this will be the first initiative to emphasise PROM such as mobility, pain, and quality of life. This is critically important if we are to guide improvement efforts in a way that is compatible with patients' preferences and values.

Global Outcomes Benchmarking Pilot Programme Objectives

The GLOBE pilot programme is a proof-of-concept initiative that aims to test the feasibility of setting up an international benchmarking programme based on the ICHOM Standard Sets. The pilot has five primary objectives:

- a. Identify and overcome legal and technical hurdles to aggregating data from an international set of providers
- b. Assess the appropriateness of the ICHOM CAT, and HKO sets for benchmarking and define the required changes
- c. Design risk adjustment methodologies to adequately adjust participant outcomes between sites
- d. Deliver risk-adjusted outcomes, reporting to participating institutions/hospitals so that they can understand their relative performance
- e. Determine how pilot sites can leverage outcomes data to learn from one another

Pilot Overview

International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement community

supports institutions, hospitals, ICHOM and organisations in implementing Standard Sets of outcomes and develops case studies of examples of outcome measurement around the world. These have been described in further detail in case studies,¹⁹⁻²¹ and an example of implementation has been described in Box 1. The importance of supporting implementation of the Standard Sets is two-fold: scaling the effective use of standard PROM instruments for outcomes; and for decision-making in performance benchmarking, transparency, and narrowing variation toward improved outcomes. The programme design and success of the GLOBE pilot programme is largely based on the ICHOM community of implementers of ICHOM Standard Sets.

Conditions

The two ICHOM Standard sets, HKO⁹ and CAT,¹⁰ were chosen for initial examination in the GLOBE pilot. According to a 2010 assessment, 51% of world blindness is caused by CAT,²² and HKO has been ranked as the 11th highest contributor to global disability in the 2010 Global Burden of Disease.²³ It is therefore globally appropriate to start with these two conditions. Using the lessons derived from this pilot, ICHOM intends to launch benchmarking programmes across additional Standard Sets going forward.

Participants

The GLOBE pilot participants were recruited from ICHOM's international group of strategic partners, members of Standard Set implemention communities, the working groups of the ICHOM HKO, and CAT Standard Sets, and from the ICHOM global community. Participants determined which hospitals within their institutions would be participating. All self-identified as being interested in the ICHOM GLOBE pilot given their engagement the ICHOM community. Participating with institutions were required to sign a memorandum of understanding (MOU) governing data privacy and security, namely requiring the de-identification of data gathered by participating institutions, prior to transmission of data. As the need and requirements for ethics boards and patient consent varies by country, the responsibility of acquiring regulatory approvals and/or ethics committee review for participation rested with the institution. Each institution sought approval for i) the use of data for benchmarking analysis and ii) the transfer of de-identified patient data outside the operating jurisdiction. The project is best classified as a service evalution or clinical audit that does not require informed consent as no patient care is impacted. The GLOBE programme provides a resource guide, study plan, data dictionary, and MOU to aid approval processes.

As of December 2016, the institutions identified in Figure 1 had agreed to contribute data to the pilot. Due to the popularity of the programme, recruitment is ongoing for both pilots at the time of this publication.

Outcomes collected

The endpoints collected are based on the ICHOM HKO and CAT Standard Sets that have been previously detailed and published.^{10,12} Standard Sets include baseline conditions and risk factors to enable meaningful case-mix adjustment globally, ensuring that comparisons of outcomes account for differences in patient populations across not just providers but also countries and regions. High-level treatment variables are included to allow stratification of outcomes by major treatment types. Additional measurement time points have been added, where appropriate, to decrease the timeline needed to observe outcome differences between sites. Additionally, a pilot objective is to test the Standard Sets for the purposes of detailed benchmarking and identify required modifications to ensure the ICHOM HKO, and CAT sets can be used for benchmarking going forward.

ABUHB is an integrated payer-provider in rural Wales, UK. In 2014, ABUHB's senior management decided to use VBHC as the vehicle for achieving better outcomes at lower cost under the Welsh government's new policy for healthcare services, Prudent Healthcare. ABHUB undertook the following steps to achieve implementation success:

- 1. Securing support from the workforce: Senior management spent a significant amount of time engaging their staff in the VBHC approach. This included meetings and organisation-wide events with staff from all disciplines, from clinical teams to IT teams.
- 2. Picking a pilot site: ABUHB decided to pilot VBHC by measuring the ICHOM Parkinson's disease Standard Set. This was one of the options that included fewer measurement tools and time points than other Standard Sets and which would be implemented in one of the most enthusiastic clinical departments.
- **3.** Forming the VBHC team: To ensure dedicated support and resourcing, two multidisciplinary VBHC teams were formed: a steering committee and a project team. The steering committee provided management oversight, whereas the project team drove the project on a day-to-day basis. Both teams included doctors, nurses, IT experts, and administration/project managers.
- 4. Process mapping: The team started by deconstructing clinic flow from patient, clinician, and informatics perspectives. This provided an opportunity to identify suitable time points for data collection that would cause minimal disruption to normal clinic operations. As part of this, the team carried out a gap analysis to determine what, where, and how each metric was measured or would be measured.
- 5. Building an IT platform: ABUHB's clinicians and IT team worked closely to develop eforms for data capture, which would be completed by patients in the clinic waiting room on iPads prior to their consultations.
- 6. Collecting data and refining the model: On deployment of the eforms, the Parkinson's disease clinic started collecting data on a small cohort of patients. The process was monitored closely, discussed at weekly VBHC project team meetings, and the data collection model continuously improved until outcomes were being measured seamlessly.
- 7. Scale: Following success of the pilot, the data collection infrastructure was scaled to more patients in the Parkinson's disease clinic. ABUHB are also now independently replicating their Parkinson's disease Standard Set measurement methodology for further Standard Sets (e.g. Heart Failure) in other departments.

Box 1: Implementation Example: ABUHB and the implementation of ICHOM Standard Sets. ABUHB: Aneurin Bevan University Health Board; VBHC: value-based healthcare; ICHOM: International

Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement.



Figure 1: Hip and knee osteoartritis and cataract GLOBE pilot participants as of December 2016. GLOBE: The ICHOM Global Outcomes Benchmarking (GLOBE) programme; ICHOM: International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement.



Figure 2: Overview of pilot phases for the HKO programme. HKO: hip and knee osteoarthritis.

Methodology

Both the CAT and HKO programmes are prospective, non-interventional observational studies that are expected to run for 15 and 18 months respectively. Each pilot is divided into three main phases: Programme Design, Data Collection, and Analysis and Reporting, each with a specific goal (Figure 2).

Programme design

The aim of the Programme Design phase was to recruit potential pilot participants and provide b. Gap analysis assessment: All interested sites a framework to work together to prepare sites to sign up for the pilot. There are four major

engagement steps that were explained to onboard pilot participants:

- a. Onboarding session: For each interested institution, a call was set up that included representation from the hospital leadership, clinical and programme management teams to discuss the pilot methodology and objectives. The aim of this session was to assess alignment with pilot objectives and ensure adequate resources were available at the hospital site to execute the pilot objectives.
- completed a gap analysis which assessed their sites' overall alignment with the ICHOM

Standard Sets. Sites were vetted to ensure that they collected the correct outcomes, which were based on the ICHOM defined outcome definitions, at acceptable time points. Sites that diverged from the ICHOM Standard Set recommendations or collected an incomplete set were coached on what gaps needed addressing to participate in the pilot.

- c. Legal session: An exploratory discussion was held with interested sites to understand the legal and regulatory requirements for their participation in the pilot programme. These discussions were used to inform the legal contract ICHOM developed for this pilot discussed in Box 2.
- d. Technical: A technical discussion was held with a member of the Technical/Informatics department to provide an overview of the data transfer process and assess if sites were technically able to extract and transfer the complete ICHOM Standard Set data.

Data collection

During the data collection phase participants submit data through a secure ftp protocol to ICHOM's data partner's (ICON) server on a monthly basis and receive validation or data quality reports post-data submission. This process is followed so that institutions and their hospital sites can receive timely feedback on their collection and make any required adjustments as early as possible in the pilot. An example of the data collection process for the CAT pilot is shown in Figure 3.

Analysis and reporting

The final phase of the pilot will focus on i) testing and implementing risk adjustment techniques to allow for adjusted comparisons between institutions and their hospital sites, ii) assessing potential visualisation techniques to allow for comparisons between providers, and iii) developing reporting options to showcase relative performance and facilitate collaborative sharing of best practices.

To encourage participation in the CAT and HKO pilots from a range of international institutions from different legal and regulatory environments, a legal agreement was developed that a) satisfied the requirements of data transfer across participating jurisdictions and b) satisfied regulatory/ethical requirements across participating jurisdictions. The agreement has now been successfully adopted in >10 countries. To achieve this there were five key considerations that had to be accounted for:

1. Data Ownership

A key component of the agreement with participating institutions is that ICHOM does not take ownership of any data transferred during the course of the pilot. The participating institutions maintain the role of data owner or controller depending on the jurisdiction in which it operates.

2. Data Type

Only de-identified patient data is utilised in the pilot and transferred from participating institutions to ICHOM. Provider sites are responsible for providing a unique ID that allows for the longitudinal tracking of patients' data over time that blinds ICHOM from any identifiable patient information.

3. ICHOM's Role

ICHOM and its affiliates function as a data processor and will only access, use, manage, disclose to Third Parties, transfer internationally, or otherwise process participating institutions' (participant) data in accordance with participant instructions. The participant authorises ICHOM to utilise the data to complete the required analyses to meet the jointly agreed upon pilot objectives.

4. Reporting Requirements

ICHOM agreed to develop a benchmarking report(s) to provide comparisons of outcomes at the hospital level in which participants will be compared to others in the pilot. Reports created for external disclosure or publication will disclose the names of participating institutions but will not attribute results directly to participants unless the participant approves such disclosure in writing prior to report disclosure or submission for publication.

5. Regulatory Approval

ICHOM required each participant to seek the appropriate regulatory approval to take part in the pilot that was relevant in their operating jurisdiction. The level of required regulatory review and submission requirements were assessed by the participant to allow sites in different regulatory environments to follow an approval process best suited to their region.

Box 2: Developing a legal framework for data transfer.

CAT: cataract; HKO: hip and knee osteoarthritis; ICHOM: The International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement.



Figure 3: Overview of the CAT pilot data collection phase. CAT: cataract.

CURRENT STATUS AND INITIAL LESSONS

Currently the HKO and CAT pilots are in the data collection phase with both expected to deliver results by the end of 2017, after which each pilot is expected to transition into a fully defined benchmarking programme. To date, the pilots have overcome a number of potential hurdles including, but not limited to, defining a legal framework (Box 2) to allow for data sharing, developing a data transfer process that accommodates institutions with different collection systems and technical capabilities, and identifying new variable definitions/ requirements to help capture process differences between sites.

EXPECTED OUTPUTS AND NEXT STEPS

The HKO and CAT pilots will provide ICHOM with important lessons to allow it to develop a benchmarking programme that draws outcomes data from an international set of contributors and both analyses and reports back to providers on their relative performance. Lessons learned

from evaluating risk adjustment within these two pilot conditions will also inform future Standard Sets and improve upon an ongoing benchmarking programme.

The risk-adjusted benchmarking performance data will provide an immense opportunity to improve patient care by identifying differences in hospital performance that can be used to facilitate learning programmes between institutions. Over time, the programme will likely incorporate additional data sources and expand its scope of analyses. Potential options include but are not limited to the identification of determinants of hospital performance, an understanding of individualised treatment response at the patient level, or an assessment of the most efficacious set of medical interventions for a given patient subpopulation. Outcomes data sharing programmes like this will provide the largest repository of structured data that has been collected to date, linking both underlying patient characteristics and treatment options to patient outcomes. In this exciting future, we expect the ICHOM GLOBE programme to serve a pivotal role in facilitating, sharing, and utilisation of data at an international level.

REFERENCES

1. Porter ME. A strategy for health care reform--toward a value-based system. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(2):109-12.

2. Porter ME. What is value in health care? N Engl J Med. 2010;363(26):2477-81. 3. Porter ME, Teisberg EO. Redefining Health Care: Creating Value-Based Competition on Results. N Engl J Med.

2007;356:316-7.

4. Porter ME, Teisberg EO. Redefining Competition in Health Care. Harv Bus Rev. 2004;82:64-76.

5. Martin NE et al. Defining a standard set of patient-centered outcomes for men with localized prostate cancer. Eur Urol. 2015;67(3):460-7.

6. McNamara RL et al. Standardized Outcome Measurement for Patients With Coronary Artery Disease: Consensus From the International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (ICHOM). J Am Heart Assoc. 2015;4(5):e001767.

7. Allori AC et al. A Standard Set of Outcome Measures for the Comprehensive Appraisal of Cleft Care. Cleft Palate Craniofac J. 2016. [Epub ahead of print].

8. Porter ME et al. Standardizing Patient Outcomes Measurement. N Engl J Med. 2016;374(6):504-6.

9. ICHOM. Hip & Knee Osteoarthritis Standard Set Reference Guide and Flyer. 2015. Available at: http://www. ichom.org/medical-conditions/hipknee-osteoarthritis/. Last accessed: 31 October 2016.

10. Rolfson O et al. Defining an International Standard Set of Outcome Measures for Patients With Hip or Knee Osteoarthritis: Consensus of the International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement Hip and Knee Osteoarthritis Working Group. Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken). 2016;68(11):1631-9.

11. ICHOM. Cataracts Standard Set

Reference Guide and Flyer. 2015. Available at: http://www.ichom.org/medicalconditions/cataracts. Last accessed: 31 October 2016.

12. Mahmud I et al. A Proposed Minimum Standard Set of Outcome Measures for Cataract Surgery. JAMA Ophthalmol. 2015;133(11):1247-52.

13. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation. Cystic Fibrosis Patient Registry: Annual data reports. 1995-2009. Available at: http://www.cysticfibrosisdata.org/ReportsUS. html. Last accessed: 2 November 2016.

14. Van Leersum NJ et al. The Dutch surgical colorectal audit. Eur J Surg Oncol. 2013;39(10):1063-70.

15. Lundström M et al. Evidence-based guidelines for cataract surgery. Guidelines based on data in the EUREQUO database. J Cataract and Refract Surg. 2012;38(6): 1086-93.

16. Jernberg T et al. Association between adoption of evidence-based treatment and survival for patients with STelevation myocardial infarction. JAMA. 2011;305(16):1677-84.

17. Kärrholm J et al. Improved Analyses in the Swedish Hip Arthroplasty Register. Annual Meeting of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons. 2007.

18. Larsson et al. Use of 13 disease registries in 5 countries demonstrates the potential to use outcome data to improve health care's value. Health Aff (Millwood). 2012;31(1):220-7.

19. Arora J et al. How Payers and Clinicians

Partnered to Build National Outcomes Registries in the Netherlands: The Dutch Institute of Clinical Auditing (DICA) London, UK: International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (ICHOM). 2015. Available at: http://www.ichom. org/others/building-national-outcomesregistries-in-the-netherlands-dica/. Last accessed: 4 November 2016.

20. Arora J, Aisenbrey J. Aligning payers and providers around value: Blue Cross Blue Shield of Michigan's Collaborative Quality Initiatives. Cambridge, MA: International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (ICHOM). 2016. Available at: http://www.ichom.org/ wp-content/uploads/2015/05/BCBMS-Case-Study-Vfinal.pdf. Last accessed: 4 November 2016.

21. Arora J, Lippa J, Stoefs, J. Stanford Health Care: A Seamless Outcomes Data Capture Solution. Cambridge, MA: International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (ICHOM). 2014. Available at: http://www.ichom.org/download/stanford-health-care-a-seamless-outcomesdata-capture-solution/. Last accessed: 4 November 2016.

22. World Health Organisation. Visual impairment and blindness 2010. 2012. Available at: http://www.who.int/ blindness/data_maps/VIFACTSHEETG-LODAT2010full.pdf. Last accessed: 2 November 2016.

23. Cross M et al. The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: estimates from the global burden of disease 2010 study. Ann Rheum Dis. 2014;73(7):1323-30.

EPITHELIAL-MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION IN DOCETAXEL-RESISTANT PROSTATE CANCER

*Camila Libardi do Amaral

Laboratory of Disorders of Metabolism, School of Applied Sciences, University of Campinas, Limeira, São Paulo, Brazil *Correspondence to camilalibardi09@gmail.com

Disclosure: The author has declared no conflicts of interest. **Received:** 05.10.16 **Accepted:** 03.04.17 **Citation:** EMJ. 2017;2[2]:50-56.

ABSTRACT

Castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPCa) is an advanced stage of prostate cancer in which a tumour progresses even under androgen deprivation. Treatment alternatives for CRPCa remain very limited and mostly rely on docetaxel-based chemotherapy. Despite being shown to increase patients' overall survival, docetaxel's clinical efficacy is impaired by development of chemoresistance. Most patients do not respond to docetaxel treatment and even those initially responsive ultimately develop resistance. Recently, chemoresistance was found to be closely related to epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), a process in which epithelial cells transition into a mesenchymal phenotype. In fact, EMT markers are overexpressed in prostate cancer and are correlated to a higher Gleason score. For this reason, new therapeutic strategies are being studied to inhibit this process in several cancers. However, the clinical usefulness of targeting EMT as a way to overcome docetaxel resistance in CRPCa is still questionable and suffers from some significant limitations. This review briefly summarises the most common mechanisms of EMT-induced chemoresistance and evaluates its use as a new approach to overcome docetaxel resistance in CRPCa.

<u>Keywords:</u> Castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPCa), epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), docetaxel, chemoresistance.

INTRODUCTION

Prostate cancer is the most common non-cutaneous cancer affecting men in Europe.¹ Its incidence rates vary by >7-fold throughout the continent, with the highest rates found in northern and western countries, such as Norway and France,^{1,2} and have been continuously increasing over the past few decades, owing to the widespread use of prostate-specific antigen testing in prostate cancer screening.³ The well-established risk factors for prostate cancer include age, race/ethnicity (e.g. African ancestry), and family history of the disease.⁴

Despite having an impressive 5-year survival rate of almost 100% when diagnosed in its early stages,⁵ prostate cancer remains the third leading cause of death from cancer in European men, preceded only by lung and colorectal cancer.² The main reason for its high lethality is the development of castration-resistant prostate cancer (CRPCa), an advanced stage of prostate cancer in

which a tumour progresses even under androgen deprivation.⁶ About 80–90% of the patients who receive hormonal therapy will eventually progress to CRPCa and the overall survival after tumour recurrence drastically decreases to 1–2 years.⁷ Treatment alternatives for CRPCa remain very limited and mostly rely on docetaxel-based chemotherapy.⁸ However, some patients do not respond to docetaxel treatment and even those initially responsive ultimately develop docetaxel resistance, which is considered the main reason for CRPCa high mortality.⁹

Recently, epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) emerged as a key mediator of drug resistance in several cancers, including CRPCa.¹⁰ Due to the current urgency in developing new therapeutic options for CRPCa, this review briefly summarises the most common mechanisms of EMT-induced chemoresistance and evaluates its use as a new approach to overcome docetaxel resistance in CRPCa.

EPITHELIAL-MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION

EMT is a process in which epithelial cells transition into a mesenchymal phenotype.¹¹ While epithelial cells are known to show apical-basal polarity and adherence to a basement membrane, mesenchymal cells are multipolar, have a spindle shaped morphology, and present motility. Thus, during this process, epithelial cells have to undergo significant transcriptional and non-transcriptional changes that reorganise their cytoskeletal architecture, resulting in altered cell shape, increased motility, and in some cases the ability to degrade extracellular matrix proteins.¹¹ This switch is co-ordinated by a crosstalk between several intracellular signalling pathways, including Wnt, Notch, phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K/Akt), Hedgehog, and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β), that activate a number of transcription factors involved in the acquisition of the mesenchymal phenotype, such as SNAIL, ZEB, and TWIST.¹¹ The most remarkable hallmark of EMT is the loss of E-cadherin adhesion molecules, concomitant with the overexpression of mesenchymal markers such of N-cadherin and vimentin.11-13

Based on its biological functions, EMT is often classified into three different subtypes.¹⁴ The first concerns its role during embryonic development. EMT is involved in several steps of embryogenesis, including embryo implantation, placenta formation, and generation of the mesoderm, which eventually gives rise to primary mesenchyme and migratory neural crest cells. These are able to dissociate from the neural fold and disperse to other parts of the embryo.¹⁴

The second EMT subtype is involved with wounding, tissue regeneration, and fibrosis. Under the influence of growth factors produced by macrophages during inflammation and tissue injury, epithelial cells can undergo EMT to originate new fibroblasts and contribute to organ fibrosis.¹⁴ Fibroblasts originating from EMT express several mesenchymal markers, such as alpha-smooth muscle actin (α -SMA), fibroblast-specific protein 1 (FSP1), and collagen Type 1.¹⁵ In fact, Iwano et al.¹⁶ demonstrated that a substantial amount of interstitial kidney fibroblasts were actually originated from tubular epithelia at the site of injury.

Finally, the third subtype is related to EMT's role in cancer metastasis and progression. Metastasis is a multi-step process that ultimately leads to the

dissemination of primary tumours and is a major cause of cancer mortality. In order to successfully colonise further tissues and form metastasis, cancer cells firstly have to acquire the capability to detach from basal membrane, migrate through adjacent tissues, and enter into the vasculature to finally reach distal sites via haematogenous or lymphatic spread.^{17,18} EMT is required to enable these changes in cell adhesion and motility during tumour invasion, and therefore represents a critical regulator of the initiating events of the metastatic cascade.¹⁹ For this reason, EMT involvement in metastasis and cancer progression has been extensively investigated.¹⁵

The Emerging Role of Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Chemoresistance

The link between EMT and chemoresistance has been suggested for decades, since Sommers et al.²⁰ reported in the early 1990s that metastatic breast cancer cell lines resistant to the chemotherapy drugs doxorubicin and vinblastine presented loss of E-cadherin and the expression of the mesenchymal marker vimentin. This function of EMT was, however, somewhat expected, since most signalling pathways that regulate the EMT process have long been associated with chemoresistance in a variety of human cancers.²¹⁻²³

Despite the accumulating evidence of EMT importance to chemoresistance, it was not until the recent publication of two studies that the interest in this particular role of EMT emerged. In the first one, Fischer et al.²⁴ developed a transgenic mouse model that was able to track EMT process during breast-to-lung metastasis. Using a FSP1 promoter-driven Cre recombinase, they created a mesenchymal-specific fluorescent marker that labelled breast cancer cells with a red fluorescent marker, which turns green when cells undergo EMT. Surprisingly, they found that the majority of cells within the primary tumour and the lung metastasis had not undergone EMT. However, after treatment with cyclophosphamide, it was observed that most cells that formed metastasis after tumour relapse had undergone EMT. Gene expression profile analysis revealed that these cells presented elevated expression of chemoresistance-related genes.

In the second study, Zheng et al.²⁵ created a genetically engineered mouse model of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma that harboured a tissue-specific deletion of either SNAIL or TWIST, two EMT-inducing transcription factors. Despite having no effect on metastasis formation, EMT inhibition

enhanced mice sensitivity to the chemotherapy drug gemcitabine, resulting in increased overall survival. Tumour cells derived from EMT-deficient mice presented elevated expression of equilibrative nucleotide transporter 1 (ENT1) and concentrative nucleoside transporter 3 (CNT3), which are known to promote gemcitabine sensitivity in human pancreatic cancer.

Mechanisms of Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition-Induced Chemoresistance

The mechanisms that drive EMT-induced chemoresistance are yet to be fully elucidated. However, compelling evidence shows that EMT regulates at least two major mechanisms of drug resistance in human cancers. The first involves the activity of ABC transporters, a large family of transmembrane proteins responsible for ATPdependent efflux of many cytotoxic compounds, including drugs. The best characterised ABC transporters involved in chemoresistance are ATPbinding cassette sub-family B member 1 (ABCB1), also known as P-glycoprotein, ATP-binding cassette subfamily C member 1 (ABCC1), and ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 2 (ABCG2). These transporters are overexpressed in several human cancers and are responsible for the efflux of a wide range of chemotherapy drugs, resulting in decreased drug intracellular concentrations and ultimately lead to drug insensitivity.²⁶ Overexpression of ABC transporters is the predominant mechanism of multidrug resistance (MDR), the major cause of chemotherapy failure,²⁷ and EMT plays an important role in the regulation of their expression. Breast cancer cells overexpressing EMT transcription factors TWIST, SNAIL, and FOXC2 displayed increased levels of several ABC transporters and tolerated a 10-fold higher concentration of chemotherapy. Conversely, knockdown of EMT transcription factors reduced the expression of ABC transporters in these cells and restored their sensitivity to chemotherapeutic treatment. Saxena et al.²⁸ also demonstrated that the promoter sequence of ABC transporters has binding sites for the EMT transcription factors SNAIL, TWIST, and FOXC2, enabling EMT to directly regulate their expression.²⁸ Therefore, the overexpression of these transcription factors during EMT leads to enhanced promoter activity of ABC transporters, followed by the acquisition of MDR.²⁸

EMT also promotes chemoresistance by inhibiting TGF- β -induced apoptosis. Controversially, TGF- β is involved in the control of both apoptosis and

EMT and the choice of which way to follow seems to be closely related to cell cycle stage.²⁹ TGF-β-induced EMT mostly occurs during G1/S phase and results in decreased TGF-B-induced caspase activity and apoptosis.³⁰ Cells undergoing EMT also show overexpression of anti-apoptotic B cell lymphoma-extra large (Bcl-xL) and downregulation of pro-apoptotic proteins.³¹ On the other hand, cells at G2/M phase mostly undergo TGF-β-induced apoptosis and display high caspase activity.³⁰ In order to evade apoptosis, SNAIL transcription factor promotes G1/S cell cycle arrest by repressing cyclin D2 transcription and increasing the expression of p21Cip1, a cyclin-dependent kinase that impairs cell cycle progression.³² Of note, SNAIL-expressing cells have a 3-fold reduction in caspase-3 activity and are resistant to TNF- α -induced apoptosis.³²

EPITHELIAL-MESENCHYMAL TRANSITION IN DOCETAXEL-RESISTANT CASTRATION-RESISTANT PROSTATE CANCER

Androgen deprivation therapy (ADT) is the standard treatment option for advanced prostate cancer.⁸ However, tumour regression after castration is only temporary and in 80-90% of patients the tumour relapses and progresses to castration resistance.⁷ One of the most remarkable features of prostate cancer transition to a castrationresistant status is the aberrant signalling of the androgen receptor (AR). CRPCa cells not only continue to express AR but are characterised by the amplification and hyperactivation of the receptor, which makes them hypersensitive to low androgen levels.³³ AR signalling is activated in these cells partly by intratumoural androgen synthesis, enabling tumour growth even with very low serum testosterone levels.³³

Using LuCaP35 xenografts, Sun et al.³⁴ observed that after surgical castration tumours presented decreased levels of E-cadherin and increased expression of N-cadherin, vimentin and EMTinducing transcription factors, including ZEB and TWIST.³⁴ It is noteworthy that castrated tumours also had increased expression of the stem cell markers WNT5a and WNT5b. Gene expression profiles of patients who had undergone ADT also revealed an increased expression of mesenchymal markers when compared to untreated patients.³⁴ Searching for markers of castration resistance in prostate cancer, Tanaka et al.³⁵ compared gene expression between hormone-sensitive and castration-resistant LAPC9 xenografts and also observed higher expression of N-cadherin in the resistant mice. N-cadherin expression was also progressively raised after mice castration. Likewise, while androgen-sensitive LNCaP cell line does not express this mesenchymal marker, its androgen-insensitive clone LNCaP-CL1 does, reinforcing the theory that androgen deprivation might be related to EMT.³⁵ However, the precise molecular mechanisms that link CRPCa to EMT are still unclear.

Furthermore, when cultured in low hormone medium, androgen-sensitive LNCaP cells underwent EMT and acquired chemoresistance, while treatment with testosterone fully restored their sensitivity to docetaxel.³⁴ Conversely, EMT was also induced by ADT conditions in androgen-independent PC-3 cells and was reversed when cells were exposed to testosterone.³⁶ PC-3 cells that underwent castration-induced EMT also showed increased migration and invasion capabilities.³⁶

Interestingly, ZEB1 was overexpressed in the LuCaP35 xenografts, in human prostates, and in LNCaP cells following castration.³⁴ ZEB1 represses E-cadherin and is a key transcriptional regulator of EMT in prostate cancer. Its expression correlates directly with Gleason score and with invasiveness, and migratory abilities of prostate cancer cells.³⁷ Taken together, these findings indicate that EMT not only increases prostate cancer progression but can actually be induced by castration, possibly by the upregulation of ZEB1 expression. Additionally, these results raise the question as to whether

patients can actually benefit from being treated with docetaxel-based chemotherapy prior to ADT.

Castration-induced EMT is particularly concerning as it enables cancer cells to acquire stem cell-like features that determine chemotherapy failure.¹⁰ According to the cancer stem cell (CSC) theory of cancer, only a few niche cells, CSCs, within the heterogeneous tumour mass are capable of unlimited self-renewal, which makes them most likely to acquire mutations and to be responsible for initiating tumour development.³⁸ Collins et al.³⁹ discovered that a few epithelial basal cells on adult prostate tissue highly express the integrin $\alpha 2\beta 1$, a stem cell marker in prostate cancer. These cells presented high clonogenic capability and were able to generate a prostate-specific differentiated epithelium in vivo when injected into nude mice. However, it is still a matter of ongoing discussion whether prostate CSCs derive from basal or luminal epithelium.⁴⁰ Although the link between EMT and CSCs is still uncertain, it is known that cancer cells with EMT phenotype often display stem cellprogenitor cell-like properties. It has been reported that PC-3 cells that have undergone EMT acquired self-renewal ability by the upregulation of the transcription factors SOX2, NANOG, and OCT4, that are known to induce the reprogramming of differentiated cells to display a stem-like phenotype.⁴¹ Also, Puhr et al.⁴² and Marín-Aguilera et al.43 induced docetaxel resistance in castrationresistant DU145 and PC3 cell lines and observed that resistant cells had increased expression of both mesenchymal and stem-cell like markers.



Figure 1: Hypothetical model of castration-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT).

1) ADT triggers EMT in prostate cancer cells, possibly by the upregulation of *ZEB1* expression; 2) When the tumour relapses, cells that underwent EMT after castration acquired stem cell-like features and become resistant to docetaxel-based chemotherapy; 3) EMT remanescent cells proliferate, causing tumour relapse; and 4) EMT enable cells to leave the primary tumour, migrate through adjacent tissues, enter into the vasculature, and form metastasis.

ADT: androgen deprivation therapy; DTX: docetaxel.

The expression of EMT genes also correlated with worse clinical outcome and shorter time until tumour recurrence in patients that received docetaxel treatment,⁴³ supporting the idea that targeting EMT might be a potential strategy for overcoming docetaxel resistance in CRPCa to increase patients' survival. The proposed model of castration-induced EMT is summarised in Figure 1.

Targeting Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition in Docetaxel-Resistant Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer

So far, EMT-targeting strategies have mostly relied on the inhibition of its related transcription factors and signalling pathways. For instance, Hedgehog signalling blockade by GDC-0449 antagonist induced apoptosis and reversed docetaxel resistance of PC3 cells.⁴⁴ Combined treatment with GDC-0449 and docetaxel also showed greater anti-tumoural growth inhibitory effect on PC3 cell xenografts.⁴⁴ Likewise, inhibition of PI3K/Akt, Notch, and Hedgehog signallings increased docetaxel sensitivity and promoted cell apoptosis in prostate cancer resistant cells.45,46 Another target of particular interest is human macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1 (MIC-1), a member of the TGF- β protein family. MIC-1 expression progressively raises as prostate cancer progresses to metastatic state and correlates to the acquisition of EMT features and docetaxel resistance in PC3 cells.47-50 MIC-1 knockdown in these cells increased docetaxel cytotoxic effects by promoting both mitochondrial and caspase dependent apoptosis.⁵⁰ Recently, Kawamura et al.⁵¹ demonstrated that CRISPR/ Cas9-mediated gene knockout of NANOG genes in DU145 cells significantly increased docetaxel sensivity. NANOG genes are major regulators of stem cells pluripotency and positively regulate the EMT process via STAT3-induced SNAIL activation.^{51,52} NANOG is overexpressed in prostate cancer and is associated with acquisition of stem cell characteristics, increased Gleason score, and poor prognosis.^{51,53} Of note, inhibition of ZEB1 in docetaxel-resistant lung cancer cells also significantly enhanced chemosensitivity.54

Another approach is to reverse the mechanisms of EMT-induced chemoresistance. *ABCB1* is frequently involved in acquired docetaxel resistance in CRPCa and is upregulated in docetaxel-resistant cell lines.⁵⁵ *ABCB1* shRNA-mediated knockdown was able to sensitise castration-resistant C4-2B prostate cancer cells to docetaxel treatment.⁵⁵ The flavone apigenin, a natural inhibitor of ABCB1 expression, also efficiently restored docetaxel sensitivity in these cells and might be considered as a natural source to modulate MDR in CRPCa. Recently, the anti-androgens abiraterone acetate and enzalutamide were shown to inhibit ABCB1 activity and therefore reduce its efflux activity.56 Combined treatment with both drugs sensitised DU145 cells to docetaxel and might be considered as a promising strategy to overcome chemoresistance in CRPCa.⁵⁶ However, it is noteworthy that polymorphisms in ABCB1 largely affect the efficacy and toxicity of ABCB1 inhibitors and currently represent a significant barrier towards their clinical use.57

Finally, it is noteworthy that microRNA (miRNA)based cancer therapy has become a research field of growing interest. miRNAs are small non-coding RNAs that control post-transcriptional regulation of gene expression. Some miRNAs are known to be involved in EMT regulation in several human cancers through the regulation of the expression of epithelial and mesenchymal markers, transcription factors, and signalling pathways that promote EMT.⁵⁸ While some miRNAs exert oncogenic activity by promoting EMT, others act as tumour suppressors by inhibiting it.⁵⁸ Several miRNAs related to EMT that are downregulated in CRPCa are being investigated as novel therapeutic targets, most notably miR-205 and miR-200 families. Transfection with miR-200c and miR-205 in PC-3 and DU-145 cells, which inherently express low levels of both miRNAs, resulted in restored E-cadherin expression and reduced migration and invasive capabilities.^{42,59} Furthermore, miR-205 induced the actual reversal of EMT, a process known as mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET), in DU-145 cells, through regulation of genes involved in epithelial organisation and cell-cell adhesion, such as ZEB.59 Moreover, transfection of miR-205 in the docetaxel-resistant WPE1-NB26 prostate cancer cell line was able to reduce chemoresistance and enhance docetaxelinduced apoptosis,⁶⁰ providing encouraging evidence on the use of nanotechnology-based strategies for CRPCa treatment.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

EMT has recently emerged as a promising topic on chemoresistance research and several strategies to impede this process are being studied as potential pharmacological approaches against chemoresistance in a broad range of human cancers, including CRPCa. However, the clinical efficacy of targeting EMT as a way to overcome docetaxel resistance in CRPCa is still questionable and presents with some significant limitations. Firstly, it is highly debatable that the simple inhibition of a specific target would successfully suppress a dynamic process such as EMT, which is regulated by multiple genes and intracellular signalling pathways. Instead, it is more likely that the inhibition of one target would be easily compensated by the activity of another EMT regulator, that exerts similar or redundant functions. Moreover, it should be considered that EMT inhibitors might exert limited benefits in advanced

patients that have already undergone this transition. Patients with CRPCa would perhaps benefit more from therapies focussed on reversing EMT, therefore inducing MET, rather than inhibiting it. Instead, targeting EMT might perhaps be a more suitable approach for patients that have recently undergone ADT, as a way to prevent the progression to CRPCa and chemoresistance development. Finally, another concern relates to thesafety and clinical use of EMT targets, which is yet to be investigated. Despite these limitations, EMT remains a promising target among the current lack of therapeutic strategies for CRPCa treatment and may become clinically suitable upon further research.

REFERENCES

1. Arnold M et al. Recent trends in incidence of five common cancers in 26 European countries since 1988: Analysis of the European Cancer Observatory. Eur J Cancer. 2015;51(9):1164-87.

2. Ferlay J et al. Cancer incidence and mortality patterns in Europe: Estimates for 40 countries in 2012. Eur J Cancer. 2013; 49(6):1374-403.

3. Vickers AJ et al. Empirical estimates of prostate cancer overdiagnosis by age and prostate-specific antigen. BMC Med. 2014; 12:26.

4. Mottet N et al. EAU-ESTRO-SIOG Guidelines on Prostate Cancer. Part 1: Screening, Diagnosis, and Local Treatment with Curative Intent. Eur Urol. 2017;71(4):618-29.

5. DeSantis CE et al. Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics, 2014. CA Cancer J Clin. 2014;64(4):252-71.

6. Saad F, Hotte SJ. Guidelines for the management of castrate-resistant prostate cancer. Can Urol Assoc J. 2010;4(6):380-4.

7. Chuu CP et al. Androgens as therapy for androgen receptor-positive castrationresistant prostate cancer. J Biomed Sci. 2011;18:63.

8. Cornford P et al. EAU-ESTRO-SIOG Guidelines on Prostate Cancer. Part II: Treatment of Relapsing, Metastatic, and Castration-Resistant Prostate Cancer. Eur Urol. 2017;71(4):630-42.

9. Hwang C. Overcoming docetaxel resistance in prostate cancer: a perspective review. Ther Adv Med Oncol. 2012;4(6):329-40.

10. Singh A, Settleman J. EMT, cancer stem cells and drug resistance: an emerging axis of evil in the war on cancer. Oncogene. 2010;29(34):4741-51.

11. Lamouille S et al. Molecular mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Nat

Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2014;15(3):178-96.

12. Peinado H et al. Snail, Zeb and bHLH factors in tumour progression: an alliance against the epithelial phenotype? Nat Rev Cancer. 2007;7(6):415-28.

13. Heerboth S et al. EMT and tumor metastasis. Clin Transl Med. 2015;4:6.

14. Kalluri R, Weinberg RA. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(6):1420-8.

15. Kalluri R, Neilson EG. Epithelialmesenchymal transition and its implications for fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 2003;112(12):1776-84.

16. Iwano M et al. Evidence that fibroblasts derive from epithelium during tissue fibrosis. J Clin Invest. 2002;110(3):341-50.

17. van Zijl F et al. Initial steps of metastasis: cell invasion and endothelial transmigration. Mutat Res. 2011;728(1-2): 23-34.

18. Valastyan S, Weinberg RA. Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell. 2011;147(2): 275-92.

19. Eger A, Mikulits W. Models of epithelialmesenchymal transition. Drug Discov Today: Dis Models. 2005;2(1):57-63.

20. Sommers CL et al. Loss of epithelial markers and acquisition of vimentin expression in adriamycin- and vinblastine-resistant human breast cancer cell lines. Cancer Res. 1992;52(19):5190-7.

21. Vangipuram SD et al. Wnt pathway activity confers chemoresistance to cancer stem-like cells in a neuroblastoma cell line. Tumor Biol. 2012;33(6):2173-83.

22. Queiroz KC et al. Hedgehog signaling maintains chemoresistance in myeloid leukemic cells. Oncogene. 2010;29(48): 6314-22.

23. Capaccione KM, Pine SR. The Notch signaling pathway as a mediator of tumor survival. Carcinogenesis. 2013;34(7):

1420-30.

24. Fischer KR et al. Epithelial-tomesenchymal transition is not required for lung metastasis but contributes to chemoresistance. Nature. 2015;527(7579): 472-6.

25. Zheng X et al. Epithelial-tomesenchymal transition is dispensable for metastasis but induces chemoresistance in pancreatic cancer. Nature. 2015; 527(7579):525-30.

26. Choi CH. ABC transporters as multidrug resistance mechanisms and the development of chemosensitizers for their reversal. Cancer Cell Int. 2005;5:30.

27. Fletcher JI et al. ABC transporters in cancer: more than just drug efflux pumps. Nat Rev Cancer. 2010;10(2):147-56.

28. Saxena M et al. Transcription factors that mediate epithelial-mesenchymal transition lead to multidrug resistance by upregulating ABC transporters. Cell Death Dis. 2011;2:179.

29. Song J. EMT or apoptosis: a decision for TGF-beta. Cell Res. 2007;17(4): 289-90.

30. Yang Y et al. Transforming growth factor-beta1 induces epithelial-tomesenchymal transition and apoptosis via a cell cycle-dependent mechanism. Oncogene. 2006;25(55):7235-44.

31. Keitel U et al. Overcoming EMT-driven therapeutic resistance by BH3 mimetics. Oncoscience. 2014;1(11):706-8.

32. Vega S et al. Snail blocks the cell cycle and confers resistance to cell death. Genes Dev. 2004;18(10):1131-43.

33. Kahn B et al. Androgen receptor as a driver of therapeutic resistance in advanced prostate cancer. Int J Biol Sci. 2014;10(6):588-95.

34. Sun Y et al. Androgen deprivation causes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in the prostate: implications for

androgen-deprivation therapy. Cancer Res. 2012;72(2):527-36.

35. Tanaka H et al. Monoclonal antibody targeting of N-cadherin inhibits prostate cancer growth, metastasis and castration resistance. Nat Med. 2010;16(12):1414-20.

36. Zhu ML, Kyprianou N. Role of androgens and the androgen receptor in epithelial-mesenchymal transition and invasion of prostate cancer cells. FASEB J. 2010;24(3):769-77.

37. Graham TR et al. Insulin-like growth factor-I-dependent up-regulation of ZEB1 drives epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in human prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2008;68(7):2479-88.

38. Moltzahn F, Thalmann GN. Cancer stem cells in prostate cancer. Transl Androl Urol. 2013;2(3):242-53.

39. Collins AT et al. Identification and isolation of human prostate epithelial stem cells based on alpha(2)beta(1)-integrin expression. J Cell Sci. 2001;114(Pt 21): 3865-72.

40. Maitland NJ et al. Prostate cancer stem cells: do they have a basal or luminal phenotype? Horm Cancer. 2011;2(1):47-61.

41. Kong D et al. Epithelial to mesenchymal transition is mechanistically linked with stem cell signatures in prostate cancer cells. PLoS One. 2010;5(8):e12445.

42. Puhr Metal. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition leads to docetaxel resistance in prostate cancer and is mediated by reduced expression of mir-200c and mir-205. Am J Pathol.181(6):2188-201.

43. Marín-Aguilera M et al. Epithelialto-mesenchymal transition mediates docetaxel resistance and high risk of relapse in prostate cancer. Mol Cancer Ther. 2014;13(5):1270-84.

44. Mimeault M et al. Inhibition of

hedgehog signaling improves the anticarcinogenic effects of docetaxel in prostate cancer. Oncotarget. 2015;6(6): 3887-903.

45. Domingo-Domenech J et al. Suppression of acquired docetaxel resistance in prostate cancer through depletion of notch- and hedgehogdependent tumor-initiating cells. Cancer Cell. 2012;22(3):373-388.

46. Chen H et al. INPP4B reverses docetaxel resistance and epithelial-tomesenchymal transition via the PI3K/ Akt signaling pathway in prostate cancer. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2016; 477(3):467-72.

47. Liu T et al. Macrophage inhibitory cytokine 1 reduces cell adhesion and induces apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. Cancer Res. 2003;63(16):5034-40.

48. Nakamura T et al. Quantitative analysis of macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1 (MIC-1) gene expression in human prostatic tissues. Br J Cancer. 2003;88(7):1101-4.

49. Senapati S et al. Overexpression of macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1 induces metastasis of human prostate cancer cells through the FAK-RhoA signaling pathway. Oncogene. 2010;29(9):1293-302.

50. Mimeault M et al. Marked improvement of cytotoxic effects induced by docetaxel on highly metastatic and androgenindependent prostate cancer cells by downregulating macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1. Br J Cancer. 2013;108(5): 1079-91.

51. Kawamura N et al. CRISPR/Cas9mediated gene knockout of NANOG and NANOGP8 decreases the malignant potential of prostate cancer cells. Oncotarget. 2015;6(26):22361-74.

52. Yin X et al. Coexpression of gene Oct4 and Nanog initiates stem cell

characteristics in hepatocellular carcinoma and promotes epithelialmesenchymal transition through activation of Stat3/Snail signaling. J Hematol Oncol. 2015;8:23.

53. Miyazawa Ketal. Immunohistochemical expression of four different stem cell markers in prostate cancer: High expression of NANOG in conjunction with hypoxia-inducible factor-1a expression is involved in prostate epithelial malignancy. Oncol Lett. 2014;8(3):985-92.

54. Ren J et al. Inhibition of ZEB1 reverses EMT and chemoresistance in docetaxelresistant human lung adenocarcinoma cell line. J Cell Biochem. 2013;114(6): 1395-403.

55. Zhu Y et al. Inhibition of ABCB1 expression overcomes acquired docetaxel resistance in prostate cancer. Mol Cancer Ther. 2013;12(9):1829-36.

56. Zhu Y et al. Antiandrogens Inhibit ABCB1 Efflux and ATPase Activity and Reverse Docetaxel Resistance in Advanced Prostate Cancer. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21(18):4133-42.

57. Hamidovic A et al. Clinical significance of ABCB1 genotyping in oncology. J Oncol Pharm Pract. 2010;16(1):39-44.

58. Zaravinos A. The Regulatory Role of MicroRNAs in EMT and Cancer. J Oncol. 2015;2015:865816.

59. Gandellini P et al. miR-205 Exerts tumor-suppressive functions in human prostate through down-regulation of protein kinase Cepsilon. Cancer Res. 2009; 69(6):2287-95.

60. Bhatnagar N et al. Downregulation of miR-205 and miR-31 confers resistance to chemotherapy-induced apoptosis in prostate cancer cells. Cell Death Dis. 2010;1:e105.

CONCERNS ABOUT THE USE OF NON-HIGH-DENSITY LIPOPROTEIN CHOLESTEROL AS A LIPID PREDICTOR

*William E. Feeman, Jnr

Bowling Green Study, Bowling Green, Ohio, USA *Correspondence to bgs43402@yahoo.com

Disclosure: The author has declared no conflicts of interest. **Received:** 06.01.17 **Accepted:** 20.03.17 **Citation:** EMJ. 2017;2[2]:57-64.

ABSTRACT

Introduction: Non-high-density lipoprotein (non-HDL) cholesterol is the sum of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) cholesterol, and is usually approximated by the total cholesterol minus HDL-cholesterol. The National Lipid Association (NLA) has advocated the use of non-HDL cholesterol as its favoured lipid predictor. Cut-off points are based on LDL cholesterol values, with a lower end at 100 mg/dL (2.50 mmol/L) and a higher end at 190 mg/dL (4.75 mmol/L), adding 30 mg/dL (0.75 mmol/L) to keep triglyceride (TG) levels <150 mg/dL (1.70 mmol/L).

Objectives: The author will demonstrate that the use of non-HDL cholesterol has not been fully considered.

Methods: The author will examine a general population lipid database to demonstrate the frequency of distribution of non-HDL cholesterol in the part of the population that was known to have developed a form of atherothrombotic disease (ATD) and in the part that was not known to have done so. The effect of stratifying each non-HDL cholesterol quintile in terms of another lipid predictor that does not involve VLDL-cholesterol or TG will be demonstrated. The other risk predictor is the cholesterol retention fraction (CRF) defined as (LDL-HDL)/LDL.

Findings: All non-HDL cholesterol quintiles above the lowest quintile had higher frequencies in the ATD population than in the non-ATD population. The highest two quintiles had frequencies in the ATD population that are 2.5-times as high as those in the non-ATD population, whereas in the middle two quintiles, the frequency in the ATD population was minimally higher than in the non-ATD population. In the lowest quintile, the frequency is much higher in the non-ATD population than in the ATD population. At any non-HDL cholesterol quintile, the average age of ATD onset depends on cigarette smoking (not discussed here) and the CRF. Higher CRF levels equate to an earlier average age of ATD onset and lower levels of CRF equate to a later onset. A 75-year-old male who was a hypertensive diabetic and a former smoker was not on statins because of low lipid levels, had clean arteries on angiography, whereas a 45-year-old normotensive, non-smoking patient with severe dyslipidaemia (obtained at first encounter) had a massive stroke due to carotid stenosis. Both had non-HDL cholesterol levels in the intermediate ATD risk quintiles.

Conclusions: Non-HDL cholesterol is not the optimal predictor of the population at risk of atherothrombotic disease and its use should be reconsidered.

<u>Keywords:</u> Risk predictors, non-high-density lipoprotein (non-HDL) cholesterol, atherothrombotic disease (ATD), cholesterol retention fraction (CRF).

INTRODUCTION

The National Lipid Association (NLA) has recently advocated non-high-density lipoprotein (non-HDL) cholesterol as a prime lipid predictor for the prediction of the population at risk of atherothrombotic disease (ATD).¹ Non-HDL cholesterol is the sum of the low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and the very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) cholesterol. Non-HDL cholesterol can also be approximated by total cholesterol (TC) minus HDL cholesterol.

While the concept of non-HDL cholesterol is not new, there are no randomised controlled clinical trials to validate non-HDL cholesterol as either a lipid predictor or a guide to the treatment of dyslipidaemia to stabilise/regress plaque or decrease ATD events. Non-HDL cholesterol was mentioned in the write-up of the Helsinki Heart Study but, as the authors stated, the aim of the study was to prove the lipid regulatory hypothesis of Dr Esko Nikkila, which stated that maximal regression of atherosclerosis occurs when LDL cholesterol is lowered simultaneously with HDL cholesterol being raised.²

The purpose of this paper is to discuss the limitations of non-HDL cholesterol in terms of the Bowling Green Study (BGS) database. The author will show that non-HDL cholesterol is a suboptimal predictor compared with the cholesterol retention fraction (CRF) (defined as [LDL-HDL]/LDL) and that the use of non-HDL cholesterol as a lipid predictor should be reconsidered.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The author established the BGS of the primary and secondary prevention of ATD initially as a means of predicting the population at risk of ATD, and subsequently as a guide to the maximal stabilisation/regression of plague and maximal reduction of ATD events.³⁻⁵ When establishing the BGS, the author created an age-sex database of all patients in his practice who had had a lipid profile during the BGS study timeframe of 4th November 1974-4th November 2003. During the years prior to 1st January 1978, only TC and triglyceride (TG) levels were available, but in the years following 1st January 1978, HDL cholesterol and LDL cholesterol were also available. HDL cholesterol was measured by the precipitation method and LDL cholesterol was calculated by the Friedewald formula.⁶ Since LDL cholesterol calculations are relatively accurate above 400 mg/dL (4.5 mmol/L), the author accepted LDL cholesterol calculations up to TG levels of 500 mg/dL (5.6 mmol/L).⁷ This point may be controversial, and indeed the author spoke to Dr Friedewald a number of years ago on this matter. Dr Friedewald insisted that his formula should not be used when TG levels exceeded 400 mg/dL (4.5 mmol/L). However, Wilson et al.⁷ have shown that LDL cholesterol calculations are relatively accurate in the 400-500 mg/dL (4.5-5.6 mmol/L) region and the author has elected to follow Wilson et al. in this matter so that more CRF

determinations are available. Two-hour postprandial blood sugar levels were also obtained in most cases of lipid screening. Cigarette smoking status was not routinely ascertained until 1984, when it became clear that cigarette smoking played a fundamental role in the pathogenesis of ATD events. Blood pressure determination, height, and weight were measured at every office visit, and BMI was calculated on the initial visit and periodically thereafter.

The author's practice of family medicine in northwest Ohio is located in Bowling Green, the county seat of Wood County. Wood County is largely a rural county, with many professional occupations in agriculture and small businesses. The largest employer is Bowling Green State University and the population of Wood County was about 128,000 at the time of the last census, of which about 30,000 live in Bowling Green. The population is mainly Anglo-Europeans in ancestry and the chief minority group is Latin American. African-Americans and Asian-Americans are not present in large numbers.

Risk factors for ATD were not well understood in the 1970s and 1980s and because many dyslipidaemic patients refused therapy or had an inadequate response to therapy, a number of the author's patients developed some form of ATD. The BGS was not a randomised controlled clinical trial. All dyslipidaemic, hypertensive, and diabetic patients were offered therapy; some accepted, but many declined. All cigarette smokers were advised to guit smoking.

All known ATD risk factors were examined, dyslipidaemia, including cigarette smoking, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, obesity, age, sex, and occasionally a hypercoagulable state. In searching for the best lipid predictor, the author noted the promotion of the Framingham Fraction (TC:HDL) but declined its use since it was based on non-fasting blood. However, in 1981, an article was published asking if the LDL:HDL ratio was the best lipid predictor. From this suggestion was born the concept of the CRF (defined as [LDL-HDL]/LDL), which sought to determine what percentage of cholesterol entering the artery stays within the artery wall. After evaluation, the BGS determined the CRF to be its best lipid predictor.8

The determination of the population developing some form of clinical ATD was based on clinical findings. For example, acute myocardial infarction (MI) was based on the acute onset of typical

mid-sternal chest pain (described as a pressure, heaviness, or an ache, with or without radiation) accompanied and was virtually always by electrocardiographic and/or cardiac enzvme changes. Sudden unexpected death was included within the MI category. On the other hand, angina pectoris displayed a similar pain without electrocardiographic/enzyme changes, and was of a chronic, recurrent nature. A stroke was diagnosed in patients with acute neurologic changes, either sensory or motor, lasting ≥ 1 hour. A transient ischaemic attack had similar findings, but those findings had to be resolved within 1 hour. Aneurysms were generally found on radiographic testing. About 40% of patients presented with a history of an ATD event, and in such cases the author attempted to authenticate the diagnoses, though often this was not possible.

RESULTS

In the BGS population database, the frequency distribution of non-HDL cholesterol is determined in terms of biological sex and in terms of the frequency of each quintile in the ATD and non-ATD populations, using the quintiles suggested by the NLA (Table 1). It will be noted that the quintiles given in this paper are different than those recommended by the NLA. The reason for this is that the manufacturers of the auto-analysers changed the methodology by which they measured HDL cholesterol. The older precipitation method of HDL cholesterol measurement was the gold standard utilised by laboratories worldwide and was the method used to measure HDL cholesterol in all of the atherosclerosis regression studies conducted prior to the year 1999. The newer enzymatic method has been used in most of the atherosclerosis regression studies undertaken since the year 1999. The two methods give differing values for HDL cholesterol: the value obtained using the enzymatic method is an order of 10 mg/dL (0.26 mmol/L) higher than that obtained using the precipitation method. Consequently, the calculated LDL cholesterol using the enzymatic method will be in the order of 10 mg/dL (0.26 mmol/L) lower than that obtained using the precipitation methodology.⁹ This makes the comparison of databases obtained before and after the methodology conversion difficult unless a conversion factor is utilised. For this study, the conversion factor is: HDL cholesterol (precipitation method)=(HDL cholesterol [enzymatic method] minus 12)/0.93.

The NLA guidelines for non-HDL cholesterol are based on LDL cholesterol goals, with the uppermost quintile being defined by the LDL cholesterol level establishing familial hypercholesterolaemia (i.e. 190 mg/dL [4.9 mmol/L]) and the lowest quintile defining an optimal LDL cholesterol level, at which little LDL cholesterol enters the artery wall (i.e. 99 mg/dL [2.6 mmol/L]). The non-HDL cholesterol values in between these two extremes were divided into three groups to make up the other three quintiles. The NLA then added 30 mg/dL (0.77 mmol/L) to each quintile to correct for the cholesterol carried by VLDL.

The BGS database was compiled mainly before the HDL cholesterol measurement conversion and hence its regional laboratory utilised the precipitation methodology. As a result, a LDL cholesterol value (using the enzymatic methodology) of 190 mg/dL (4.5 mmol/L) is equivalent to a LDL cholesterol of 200 mg/dL (5.2 mmol/L) in the BGS database. Similarly, a LDL cholesterol (using the enzymatic methodology) 100 mg/dL (2.6 mmol/L) is equivalent to a LDL cholesterol of 20 L cholesterol of 110 mg/dL (2.8 mmol/L) in the BGS database. Adding the 30 mg/dL (0.77 mmol/L) to each number gives the results depicted in Table 1.

The non-HDL cholesterol quintiles depicted in Table 1 can be graded into ATD risk categories on the basis of frequencies within the ATD and non-ATD populations. The frequency of the two highest quintiles (>200 mg/dL [5.2 mmol/L]) in the total ATD population was 36% (225/626) and in the total non-ATD population was 14% (369/2,660). Since the frequency of the two highest quintiles in the ATD population was about 2.5-times as high as in the non-ATD population it is reasonable to attribute the highest ATD risk to these two quintiles, though in a graded fashion. Similarly, the frequency of the middle two non-HDL cholesterol quintiles in the ATD population was 49% (308/626) and 40% (1,075/2,660) in the non-ATD population. There appears to be a graded intermediate ATD risk for non-HDL cholesterol in the 140-199 mg/dL (3.6-5.2 mmol/L) range. On the other hand, the frequency of the lowest quintile of non-HDL cholesterol in the ATD population was 15% (93/626) and 46% in the non-ATD population.

The range of CRF values in any given non-HDL cholesterol quintile is widely variable. Table 2 shows the average ages of ATD onset for each CRF-non-HDL cholesterol cohort in the BGS ATD population. The data clearly showed that at any quintile of non-HDL cholesterol, the average age

of ATD onset is determined by the associated CRF value, with earlier ages of ATD onset occurring when CRF levels are higher and later ages of ATD onset occurring when CRF values are lower, in a

linear fashion. The converse is not true: at any level of CRF, non-HDL cholesterol does not predict the average age of ATD onset. These findings are also true for LDL cholesterol.

Non-HDL cholesterol category	Male		Female		Σ	
	ATD	NATD	ATD	NATD	ATD	NATD
≥230 mg/dL	48	73	66	57	114	130
(5.9 mmol/L)	(14%)	(6%)	(23%)	(4%)	(18%)	(5%)
200-229 mg/dL	65	124	46	115	111	239
(5.2-5.9 mmol/L)	(19%)	(10%)	(16%)	(8%)	(18%)	(9%)
170-199 mg/dL	80	236	66	187	146	423
(4.4-5.2 mmol/L)	(24%)	(19%)	(23%)	(13%)	(23%)	(16%)
140-169 mg/dL	90	308	72	344	162	652
(3.6-4.4 mmol/L)	(27%)	(24%)	(25%)	(25%)	(26%)	(25%)
≤139	56	529	37	687	93	1,216
(3.6 mmol/L)	(17%)	(42%)	(13%)	(49%)	(15%)	(46%)
Σ	339	1,270	287	1,390	626	2,660

Table 1: Non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol distribution in Bowling Green Study atherothrombotic disease population versus non-atherothrombotic disease population 1974-2003.

The freestanding number in each column represents the actual number of patients. The number in parentheses represents the percentage of the group (column). Non-HDL cholesterol categories based on BGS equivalences. To determine comparative NLA values, subtract 10 mg/dL (0.26 mmol/L). HDL: high density lipoprotein; BGS: Bowling Green Study; ADT: atherothrombotic disease; NATD: non-atherothrombotic disease.

Table 2: Cholesterol retention fraction distribution in non-high density lipoprotein cholesterolatherothrombotic disease Bowling Green Study General Population: 1974–2003.

Average age of atherothrombotic disease onset cholesterol retention fraction							
Non-HDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	≥0.80	0.75-0.79	0.70-0.074	0.65-0.69	0.60-0.64	≤0.59	Σ
	54	27	11	8	1	-	101
≥230	3,067	1,737	739	494	58	-	6,095
	57	64	67	62	58	-	60
	23	33	28	17	5	3	109
200-229	1,312	2,166	1,940	1,076	341	243	7,078
	57	66	69	63	68	81	65
170-199	17	33	38	18	12	21	139
	1,014	1,834	2,428	1,288	863	1,510	8,937
	60	56	64	72	72	72	64
140-169	7	14	27	32	30	48	158
	390	852	1,763	2,189	2,052	3,431	10,677
	56	61	65	68	68	71	68
≤139	-	3	5	13	13	60	94
	-	149	274	828	775	4,035	6,061
	-	50	55	64	60	67	64
	101	110	109	88	61	132	601
Σ	5,783	6,738	7,144	5,875	4,089	9,219	38,848
	57	61	66	67	67	70	65

Non-HDL: non-high-density lipoprotein.

	Average age of atherothrombotic disease onset cholesterol retention fraction zones						
		Red	Yellow	Green	Σ		
Non-HDL cholesterol	Red	176	31	3	210		
		10,961	1,969	243	13,173		
		62	64	81	63		
	Yellow	136	92	69	297		
		8,281	6,392	4,941	19,614		
		61	69	72	66		
	Green	8	26	60	94		
		423	1,603	4,035	6,061		
		53	62	67	64		
	Σ	320	139	132	601		
		19,665	9,964	9,219	38,848		
		61	67	70	65		

Table 3: Cholesterol retention fraction versus non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol the Bowling Green Study general population: 1974-2003.

Non-HDL: non-high-density lipoprotein.

Using the BGS database, a table can be set up for both CRF and non-HDL cholesterol, placing the highest risk cohorts in the 'red' zone, intermediate risk cohorts in the 'yellow' zone, and the lowest risk cohorts in the 'green' zone. The highest risk zone for CRF is \geq 0.70; the intermediate risk zone, 0.60–0.69; and the lowest risk zone, \leq 0.59. For non-HDL cholesterol, the highest risk zone is \leq 200 mg/dL (5.2 mmol/L); the intermediate risk zone, 140-199 mg/dL (3.6-5.2 mmol/L); the lowest risk zone, ≤139 mg/dL (3.6 mmol/L). The result of this analysis can be seen in Table 3. At any risk zone of non-HDL cholesterol, the risk zone for the CRF determines the average age of ATD onset. (The red zone parameters for the enzymatic method of HDL cholesterol measurement and the NLA quintiles are CRF of 0.60 or higher and non-HDL cholesterol of 190 mg/dl [5.1 mmol/L]; the yellow zone, CRF=0.50-0.59 and non-HDL cholesterol= 130-189 mg/dL [3.4-5.1 mmol/L]; the green zone, CRF of 0.49 and lower and non-HDL cholesterol of 129 mg/dL [3.4 mmol/L] or lower.)

The author would like to make note of a comparative case that occurred in his practice. A 75-year-old male, who was an insulin-dependent diabetic, hypertensive, former smoker with acceptable lipids (TC=189 mg/dL [4.9 mmol/L], HDL cholesterol= 36 mg/dL [0.9 mmol/L], LDL cholesterol=110 mg/dL [2.8 mmol/L], TG=214 mg/dL [2.4 mmol/L], non-HDL cholesterol=153 mg/dL [4.0 mmol/L], and

CRF=0.67) at 43 years of age, further LDL cholesterol lowering occurring naturally over the subsequent years. His lipids were followed over time as the author followed the patient's blood sugar level and blood pressure; since his LDL cholesterol fell to very low levels, the patient was not placed on a statin. At 75 years of age the patient needed to have orthopaedic surgery and cardiac clearance was requested. An angiogram was performed and his coronary arteries were found to be devoid of plaque. Another patient who came into the author's practice at the age of 45 years, having suffered a massive stroke due to carotid stenosis, had avoided seeing physicians in the belief that he was doing well. He had never smoked cigarettes and had his blood pressure taken with good results: 120/80 mmHg. He also had a TC with a value of 200 mg/dL (5.2 mmol/L). The author attended the patient in the casualty department of the local hospital and obtained a full lipid profile, which was abnormal: TC=200 mg/dL (5.2 mmol/L), HDL cholesterol=25 mg/dl (0.6 mmol/L), LDL cholesterol=145 mg/dL (3.7 mmol/L), non-HDL cholesterol=175 mg/dL (4.5 mmol/L), and TG=150 mg/dL (1.7 mmol/L). His CRF was 0.83. The non-HDL cholesterol values for both patients were in the intermediate risk range, yet in the former patient, statin therapy was held as the author followed the patient's lipids and when the LDL cholesterol fell of its own accord, never initiated since the CRF fell

below 0.59 (precipitation method but 0.49 using the enzymatic method), whereas the patient who had the stroke had a CRF that demanded immediate treatment long before his acute ATD event.

DISCUSSION

Non-HDL cholesterol represents the sum of all of the apolipoprotein (apoB) carrying particles in the blood, and hence has been referred to as the new atherogenic dyslipidaemia.¹ Non-HDL cholesterol has been advocated as a first-line lipid predictor by the NLA. This position is based on numerous studies, usually comparing non-HDL cholesterol with LDL cholesterol or apoB.¹⁰⁻¹⁹ Non-HDL cholesterol has been advanced as a surrogate for apoB²⁰ but may in fact be superior to apoB in predicting the population at risk of ATD.^{21,22}

The use of lipid ratios was first suggested by Kannel et al.²³ in 1979, describing the findings of the Framingham Heart Study.²³ Initially advocated was the ratio between TC and HDL cholesterol (TC:HDL). Since the bulk of lipid profiles at that time were performed on non-fasting blood, LDL cholesterol calculations were not available to Kannel et al. Some studies, done with fasting blood, have proposed the apoB/apoA-1 ratio instead.²⁴⁻²⁶ The apoB/apoA-1 ratio has not been shown to be superior to non-HDL cholesterol as a predictor²⁷⁻²⁹ and non-HDL cholesterol has not been shown to be superior to TC: HDL.³⁰ Other studies have compared the predictive abilities of the LDL:HDL cholesterol ratio to apoB, and the ratio is superior to apoB.³¹

Elshazly et al.³² have analysed eight intravascular ultrasound studies involving 4,917 patients and found that the TC:HDL cholesterol ratio was a better predictor of plaque stabilisation/regression and major adverse cardiovascular events than LDL cholesterol, non-HDL cholesterol, and apoB. This finding adds to the author's call to use lipid ratios in the evaluation of ATD risk and to guide therapy to maximally stabilise/regress atherosclerotic plaques.³³

The author has advocated the use of the CRF as a lipid predictor³⁻⁵ and has shown the superiority of the CRF as a lipid predictor.⁸ The ATD risk predicted by the CRF is graded with the lowest (minimal) risk afforded by a CRF of ≤ 0.59 and the highest risk by a CRF of ≥ 0.80 . CRF values in the 0.70-0.79 range represent a high-risk category, though in a graded manner. CRF values in the 0.60-0.69 range represent a lower risk category, though again in a graded manner. (These values are based on the precipitation method of HDL cholesterol measurement. If the enzymatic method is used, then the highest risk category is ≥ 0.70 , the highrisk category is 0.60-0.69, the lower risk category, 0.50-0.59, and the minimal risk category is ≤ 0.49).

Treatment to stabilise/regress plaque in eight published angiographic regression trials depends on correction of hypertension and the dyslipidaemia risk factor.³³ Using the CRF as the lipid arm and systolic blood pressure (SBP) as the barometric arm, a graph can be generated with the CRF on the ordinate and SBP on the abscissa. Additionally, a threshold line can be generated with CRF-SBP loci of (0.74,100) and (0.49,140) above which lies the CRF-SBP plots of 85% of the ATD patients in the author's ATD database. (These co-ordinates are based on the precipitation method of HDL cholesterol measurement; if the enzymatic method is used, the co-ordinates are [0.62,100] and [0.40,140].) Any therapy that brings the patient's CRF-SBP plot below the threshold line results in plaque stabilisation/regression in a minimum average of 75%.33 If LDL cholesterol goals are used instead, then any therapy that brings the LDL cholesterol level to <80 mg/dL (precipitation method of HDL cholesterol measurement but 70 mg/dL when the enzymatic method is used) results in stabilisation/regression of plaque in 93% of cases, and this is the case at any LDL cholesterol level below this threshold.³⁴

The Program on the Surgical Control of the Hyperlipidemias (POSCH) was not structured to control blood pressure. As a result, significant plaque stabilisation/regression occurred in the face of marked hypertension. Consequently, at least in POSCH, plaque stabilisation/regression is purely a function of lipid changes. When LDL cholesterol levels are brought down to 99 mg/dL (2.5 mmol/L) or lower or when CRF levels are brought down to ≤0.59, plaque stabilisation/regression occurs in 99% of cases.³⁵ Moreover, in POSCH, changes in the CRF perfectly predicted plague outcomes. If the CRF rose at 1 year, then invariably angiographic plaque progressed at 3 years. If the CRF fell at 1 year, then invariably angiographic plaque stabilised/regressed at 3 years.³⁵

Table 2 and Table 3 reveal that at any level of non-HDL cholesterol, a higher CRF portends an earlier age of ATD onset, while a lower CRF portends a later age of ATD onset in a linear fashion. The converse is not true: at any CRF value, a higher

non-HDL cholesterol does not necessarily portend an earlier age of ATD onset and a lower non-HDL cholesterol does not necessarily portend a later age of ATD onset.

LDL cholesterol has long been the focus of interventional lipidologists for the prevention of primary or secondary ATD.³⁶ The author has resurrected the Lipid Regulatory Hypothesis of Dr Esko Nikkila, and has shown that, at least in the POSCH³⁷ and the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI) Type II Coronary Intervention Study,³⁸ raising HDL cholesterol and lowering LDL cholesterol are both important in the stabilisation/ regression of plaque.

One limitation of these findings is that they are based on a real-world observational study. During the study (4th November 1974–4th November 2003), full patient follow-up was not available. This is unfortunate, but unavoidable, in everyday practice of medicine in the USA. However, every case of ATD known to the author or reported to the author is reported here. The strengths of this study are that it represents the family practice of a single physician in a single location in a rural county with a relatively stable population over a long period of time. This study was undertaken at a time when lipid testing was not routinely done and the concept of treating dyslipidaemia was neither widely established nor accepted by either local patients or physicians.

Future directions of research involving non-HDL cholesterol should involve a broader look at all putative lipid predictors. The virtual reluctance of most investigators to use lipid ratios must be abandoned and lipid ratios given their place amongst the array of lipid predictors.

CONCLUSION

The concept of non-HDL cholesterol as a lipid predictor should be reconsidered due to the evidence of this study. While no randomised controlled clinical trial has been performed to validate the CRF, the outcomes of eight angiographic regression trials have been presented by the author. It would seem reasonable to dispense with non-HDL cholesterol and go back to the Framingham Heart Study concept of lipid ratios to determine the population at risk of ATD. The CRF is thus advocated as a lipid predictor worthy of note.

REFERENCES

1. Jacobson TA et al. National Lipid Association recommendations for patientcentered management of dyslipidemia: Part 1 - executive summary. J Clin Lipidol. 2014;8(5):473-88.

2. Frick MH et al. Helsinki Heart Study: primary-prevention trial with gemfibrozil in middle-aged men with dyslipidemia. N Engl J Med. 1987;317(20):1237-45.

3. Feeman Jr WE. The Bowling Green Study of the primary and secondary prevention of atherosclerosis: descriptive analysis, findings, applications and conclusions. Ohio J. Sci. 1992;92(5):153-81.

4. Feeman Jr WE. The Bowling Green Study of the primary and secondary prevention of atherosclerotic disease: update 1991-1993. Ohio. J. Sci. 1994;94(4):105-12.

5. Feeman Jr WE. Prediction of the population at risk of atherothrombotic disease. Exp Clin Cardiol. 2004;9(4): 235-41.

6. Friedewald WT et al. Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. Clin Chem. 1972;18(6):499-502.

7. Wilson PW et al. Estimation of VLDL cholesterol in hyperlipidemia. Clin Chim Acta. 1985;151(3):285-91.

 Feeman Jr WE. Best Lipid Predictor. 2006. Available at: http:// bowlinggreenstudy.org/the-best-lipidpredictor/. Last accessed: 23 March 2017.
Feeman Jr WE. Letter to the Editor: Effect of HDL Measurement Technique on Prediction of Atherothrombotic Disease. J Clin Lipidol. 2008;2(5):401-2.

10. Gu X et al. Usefulness of Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol and Non-High-Density Cholesterol as Predictors of Cardiovascular Disease in Chinese. Am J Cardiol. 2015;116(7):1063-70.

11. Zalawadiya SK et al. Non-High Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol and Coronary Artery Calcium Progression in a Multiethnic US Population. Am J Cardiol. 2014;113(3):471-4.

12. Bjornstad P et al. Relation of Combined Non-High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol and Apolipoprotein B With Atherosclerosis in Adults With Type I Diabetes Mellitus. Am J Cardiol. 2015; 116(7):1057-62.

13. Zhu CG et al. Circulating non-HDL Levels Were More Relevant to Atherogenic Lipoprotein Subfractions Compared With LDL-C in patients With Stable Coronary Artery Disease. J Clin Lipidol. 2015;9(6):794-800. 14. Von Deventer HE et al. Non-HDL Cholesterol Shows Improved Accuracy for Cardiovascular Risk Score Classification Compared to Direct or Calculated LDL Cholesterol in a Dyslipidemic Population. Clin Chem. 2011;57(3):490-501.

15. Sniderman A et al. Why is Non-High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol a Better Marker of the Risk of Vascular Disease Than Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol? J Clin Lipidol. 2010;4(3): 152-5.

16. Liu J et al. Non-High-Density Lipoprotein and Very-Low-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol and Their Risk Predictive Values in Coronary Heart Disease. Am J Cardiol. 2006;98(10): 1363-8.

17. Bittner V et al. Non-High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Levels Predict Five-Year Outcome in the Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation (BARI). Circulation. 2002; 106(20):2537-42.

 Simprini LA et al. The Relationship Between Subclinical Atherosclerosis, Non-High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol, Exercise, and Diet Among Male Participants of the PACC Project. J Clin Lipidol. 2012;6(2):174-9. 19. Blaha MJ et al. The importance of non-HDL cholesterol reporting in lipid management. J Clin Lipidol. 2008;2(4): 267-73.

20. Ballantyne CM et al. Alteration of Relation of Atherogenic Lipoprotein Cholesterol to Apolipoprotein B by Intensive Statin Therapy in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndrome (from the Limiting UNdertreatment of Lipid in ACS With Rosuvastatin [LUNAR] Trial). Am J Cardiol. 2013;111(4):506-9.

21. Boekholdt SM et al. Association of LDL Cholesterol, Non-HDL Cholesterol, and Apolipoprotein B Levels With Risk of Cardiovascular Events Among Patients Treated With Statins: A Meta-Analysis. JAMA. 2012;307(12):1302-9.

22. Frontini MG et al. Utility of Non-High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Versus Other Lipoprotein Measures in Detecting Subclinical Atherosclerosis in Young Adults (The Bogalusa Heart Study). Am J Cardiol. 2007;100(1):64-8.

23. Kannel WB et al. Cholesterol in the prediction of atherosclerotic disease. New perspectives based on the Framingham study. Ann Intern Med. 1979;90(1):85-91.

24. Walldius G, Jungner I. The apoB/ apoA-1 Ratio; a strong, new risk factor for cardiovascular disease and target for lipid-lowering therapy-a review of evidence. J Intern Med. 2006;259(5): 493-519.

25. Tani S et al. Relation of change in apolipoprotein B/apolipoprotein A-1 ratio to coronary plaque regression after

Pravastatin treatment in patients with coronaryartery disease. Am J Cardiol. 2010; 105(2):144-8.

26. Sniderman AD et al. Relation of Age, the Apolipoprotein B/Apolipoprotein A-1 Ratio, and the Risk of Fatal Myocardial Infarction and Implications for the Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease. Am J Cardiol. 2007;100(2):217-21.

27. Jungner I et al. Does Low-Density Lipoprotein Size Add to Atherogenic Particle Number in Predicting the Risk of Fatal Myocardial Infarction? Am J Cardiol. 2006;97(7):943-6.

28. Ridker PM et al. Non-HDL Cholesterol, Apolipoproteins A-1 and B₁₀₀, Standard Lipid Measures, Lipid Ratios, and CRP as Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease in Women. JAMA. 2005;294(3):326-33.

29. Ingelsson E et al. Clinical Utility of Different Lipid Measures for Prediction of Coronary Heart Disease in Men and Women. JAMA. 2007;298(7):776-85.

30. Von Mühlen D et al. Sex and Time Differences in the Association of Non-High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Versus Other Lipid and Lipoprotein Factors in the Prediction of Cardiovascular Death (The Ranch Bernardo Study). Am J Cardiol. 2003;91(11):1311-5.

31. Subirana MT et al. Specific Characteristics of Sudden Death in a Mediterranean Spanish Population. Am J Cardiol. 2011;107(4):622-7.

32. Elshazly MB et al. Implications of Total to High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Ratio Discordance With Alternative Lipid Parameters for Coronary Atheroma Progression and Cardiovascular Events. Am J Cardiol. 2016;118(5):647-55.

33. Feeman Jr WE. Prediction of Angiographic Stabilization/Regression of Coronary Atherosclerosis by a Risk Factor Graph. J Cardiovasc Risk. 2000;7(6): 415-23.

34. Feeman Jr WE. LDL Lowering: Evidence for a Plaque Non-Progression Threshold. Int J Cardiovasc Res. 2013;2:5.

35. Feeman Jr WE et al. The Program on the Surgical Control of the Hyperlipidemias (POSCH) and the Lipid Regulatory Hypothesis. EMJ Cardiol. 2015; 3(1):67-76.

36. Grundy S et al.; Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol. Summary of the Second Report of the National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults (Adult Treatment Panel II). JAMA. 1993;269(23):3015-23.

37. Buchwald H et al. Effect of partial ileal bypass surgery on mortality and morbidity from coronary heart disease in patients with hypercholesterolemia. Report of the Program on the Surgical Control of the Hyperlipidemias (POSCH). N Engl J Med 1990;323:946-55.

38. Brensike JF et al. Effects of Therapy with Cholestyramine on Progression of Coronary Arteriosclerosis: Results of the NHLBI Type II Coronary Intervention Study. Circulation. 1984;69:313-24.

OCCUPATIONAL ALLERGY

*Stacey E. Anderson,¹ Carrie Long,¹ G. Scott Dotson²

 Health Effects Laboratory Division, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Morgantown, West Virginia, USA
Education and Information Division, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health, Cincinnati, Ohio, USA
*Correspondence to sanderson4@cdc.gov

Disclosure: The findings and conclusions in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily represent the views of the National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health and Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. **Received:** 03.05.16 **Accepted:** 11.08.16

Citation: EMJ. 2017;2[2]:65-71.

ABSTRACT

An estimated 11 million workers in the USA are potentially exposed to agents that can become a cause of allergic diseases such as occupational asthma and allergic contact dermatitis, which can adversely affect health and well-being. Hundreds of chemicals (e.g. metals, epoxy and acrylic resins, rubber additives, and chemical intermediates) and proteins (e.g. natural rubber latex, plant proteins, mould, animal dander) present in virtually every industry have been identified as causes of allergic disease. In general, allergens can be classified as low molecular weight (chemical) allergens and high molecular weight (protein) allergens. These agents are capable of inducing immunological responses that are both immunoglobulin E and non-immunoglobulin E-mediated. Interestingly, the same chemical can induce diverse immune responses in different individuals. As new hazards continue to emerge, it is critical to understand the immunological mechanisms of occupational allergic disease. Specific understanding of these mechanisms has direct implications in hazard identification, hazard communication, and risk assessment. Such efforts will ultimately assist in the development of risk management strategies capable of controlling workplace exposures to allergens to prevent the induction of sensitisation in naïve individuals and inhibit elicitation of allergic responses. The purpose of this short review is to give a brief synopsis of the incidence, agents, mechanisms, and research needs related to occupational allergy.

Keywords: Allergic contact dermatitis (ACD), occupational allergy, asthma.

INTRODUCTION: INCIDENCE OF OCCUPATIONAL ALLERGY

Occupational immune diseases are among the most common illnesses that affect workers. An estimated 11 million workers in the USA, across every industrial sector, are potentially exposed to agents that can produce allergic diseases including: asthma, allergic contact dermatitis (ACD), urticaria, allergic rhinitis, eczema, and folliculitis.¹ Significantly, occupational exposures are responsible for approximately 9-25% of all adult onset asthma cases,^{2,3} while ACD represents 20% of all work-related cutaneous disorders.⁴ These diseases can adversely affect an individual's health and capacity to perform at work, resulting in significant economic losses.^{5,6} Similar findings have been

reported in Europe and other developed nations where occupational allergens are a recognised health hazard.⁷

Occupational asthma and ACD have been reported to show increased incidence in healthcare workers;^{8,9} hairdressers and cosmetologists;^{10,11} individuals working in manufacturing and automotive industries;^{12,13} cleaning and janitorial staff;^{14,15} food processing and packaging workers;^{16,17} animal handlers;¹⁸ and individuals working with metals,¹⁹ compared to individuals in other occupational sectors. Over 250 causative agents of occupational asthma have been reported²⁰ and approximately 400 allergens are available for patch testing in humans,⁴ demonstrating the breadth of potential allergens found in the workplace.

Table 1: Common occupational allergens.

Agent	Occupation/industry			
High molecular weight allergens				
Flour dust	Food processing, bakers, grain handlers			
Enzymes	Detergents, food, bakers			
Plant products	Healthcare, food, agriculture			
Wood dust	Furniture, sawmill			
Animal products and dander	Farmers, food, veterinary, laboratory			
Low molecular weight allergens				
socyanates Manufacturing, spray paint, plastics, polyurethane, plastics				
Anhydrides	Chemical manufacturing, flame retardants, epoxy adhesives, plastics			
Amines	Chemical manufacturing, spray painting, welding, metalworking			
Metals	Paints, metal plating, welding			
Plastics	Adhesive, textiles, coatings			
Dyes	Hairdressing, food, photography, textiles			
Antimicrobials and biocides	Healthcare, janitorial, food, disinfectants			

TYPES OF DISEASE

For the purpose of this manuscript, only immunological allergic diseases will be reviewed. The severity of allergic disease can be influenced by several factors including the route of exposure, the source of exposure, the environment, and genetics. Allergic diseases are characterised by a latency period between exposures (sensitisation) and symptoms (elicitation) and may involve immunoglobulin E (IgE) and non-IgE-mediated responses. In the context of hypersensitivity allergic reactions there are four basic or hypersensitivity reactions as originally classified by Gell and Coombs in 1963.²¹ The distinct responses were characterised based on the primary effector molecules and immune cells involved in each reaction. Type I and Type IV (referred to as IgE and non-IgE-mediated, respectively) are the most common hypersensitivity reactions in the occupational setting. While in recent years these classification schemes have been further subcategorised, the importance of the role of the innate immune system in allergy is increasingly being recognised. These concepts are beyond the scope of this review.^{22,23}

Immunoglobulin E-Mediated

An IgE-mediated allergic reaction is mediated by IgE antibody and mast cells and is sometimes called immediate-type hypersensitivity (Type I). It involves the initiation of T helper 2 cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13, leading to IgE production by B cells. Once IgE is produced and secreted, it binds to mast cells and basophils. Upon activation, these cells degranulate and release soluble allergic mediators, such as histamine and leukotrienes, which act on smooth muscles, sensory nerves, mucous glands, arteries, and eosinophils.²⁴ Common clinical outcomes of an IgE-mediated reaction are increased vascular permeability, smooth muscle cell contraction, and vasodilation. IgE-mediated reactions manifest within minutes to hours of exposure. Depending on the site(s) and frequency of allergen exposure, these reactions may occur in one or more organs resulting in diseases such asthma, allergic rhinitis, urticaria, and anaphylaxis.

Non-Immunoglobulin E-Mediated

А non-IgE-mediated or delayed type hypersensitivity response (Type IV) is T cellmediated and characterised by excessive inflammation. The most distinctive feature of a non-IgE-mediated hypersensitivity response is the delay observed between allergen exposure and immune response. Following sensitisation, subsequent exposures result in elicitation of the non-lgE-mediated response, characterised by the secretion of proinflammatory cytokines (granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, interferon- γ IL-3, IL-12, and tumour necrosis factor- β) that activate and recruit macrophages and other immune cells. Due to the time it takes for these

cytokines to attract and activate macrophages at sites of exposure, the effector phase typically occurs 24 hours following exposure and it generally peaks at 48-72 hours after exposure.²⁴ ACD is an example of a non-IgE-mediated hypersensitivity reaction.

OCCUPATIONAL ALLERGENS

Occupational allergens encompass a wide variety of substances. This includes both proteins and chemicals, high and low molecular weight (HMW/ LMW) compounds, and natural and synthetic products (Table 1). Some of the most common allergens are wheat and enzymes (bakeries); latex, antimicrobials, and biocides (healthcare workers); isocyanates and anhydrides (manufacturing); nickel and cobalt (metal workers); and persulphates (hairdressers). Typically, occupational allergens are classified as either HMW >5 kDa, or LMW <5 kDa, and their size is thought to play a significant role in their allergenicity and mechanism of action. Protein allergens are usually HMW, while chemical allergens are LMW. HMW agents act as complete antigens and are innately immunogenic, whereas LMW chemicals must first react with autologous or heterologous proteins to form a hapten-complex before they can act as a functioning allergen. IgE responses are most commonly seen following HMW antigen exposure but can also be seen following LMW exposures. Metal ions such as nickel, cobalt, and chromium are among some of the most common triggers of ACD.²⁵ However, much less is known about the immunological responses to metals.²⁶ In addition to frequent exposure, other factors, such as predisposing skin injuries, atopy, and genetics, may influence an individual's susceptibility to developing allergies.

Low Molecular Weight Occupational Allergens

LMW chemical allergens are diverse in structure, reactivity, and application; however, there are several common attributes that are associated with immunogenicity including: haptenation potential (protein reactivity), ability to access the epithelium, and irritancy potential.^{27,28} Thousands of chemicals have been identified as causative agents of skin sensitisation resulting in ACD, while substantially fewer chemical allergens (<100) have been identified as causative agents of asthma.²⁹ For the majority of LMW sensitisers, the immunologic response has no proven mechanisms and often can result in non-IgE and IgE-mediated response.²⁷

One of the most common occupationally-relevant chemical allergens, toluene diisocyanate (TDI), is a highly reactive chemical utilised in the automobile industry and in the manufacture of polyurethane foams, paints, elastomers, and coatings. TDI is a potent allergen and exposure can lead to a variety of diseases, including asthma, rhinitis, and ACD.^{20,30} The incidence of asthma related to occupational TDI exposure has been estimated at ≤5.5% for the total workforce.13 Based on the majority of the available epidemiological data, persulphate salts are reported as another common occupational allergen and may cause ACD, urticaria, rhinitis, and asthma.^{10,11} Persulphate salts (ammonium, potassium, and sodium) are inorganic salts used as oxidising agents in hair bleaches and haircolouring preparations at concentrations of $\leq 60\%$.³¹ TDI and persulphate salts are generally classified as IgE-mediated sensitisers but may also induce non-IgE-mediated response.^{32,33} а However, while animal studies support an IgE-mediated mechanism, TDI asthmatics often have no measurable TDI-specific IgE. Similar findings have been reported for persulphate.^{34,35} The complete immunological mechanisms of sensitisation for these chemicals and other LMW sensitisers are not fully understood.

Numerous LMW chemical allergens are used in the healthcare profession. These include (formaldehyde, glutaraldehyde, biocides and orthophthaldehyde) commonly used to sterilise medical devices that are sensitive to normal heat or steam sterilisation processes and as disinfectants for surfaces (quaternary ammonia compounds).³⁶ Aldehydes and guaternary ammonia compounds have been identified as some of the most common non-IgE-mediated allergens.²⁵ In addition, medical gloves containing certain rubber accelerators (thiuram mix and carba mix), and antibacterial hand sanitisers and soaps (chloroxylenol and cocamide diethanolamine), have also been identified as common sources of allergens.³⁶ The above examples represent some of the most common occupational LMW allergens; however, many other occupationally relevant LMW allergens exist.

High Molecular Weight Allergens

Since the majority of allergies induced by HMW allergens are IgE-mediated, detection and quantification of specific IgE that recognises the responsible protein is used for confirmation of allergy. This can be evidenced through positive skin prick tests or immunoassays.³⁷ Several challenges

exist in the diagnosis and identification of HMW allergy. The HMW allergens in some compounds, such as wheat and latex, have been better characterised than others. Additionally, while most recombinant proteins are available for testing, multiple proteins may be responsible and individuals may have different sensitivities to different proteins which may present a challenge for the identification of the suspect agent.³⁷ In addition, LMW chemicals may be a component of the crude allergen (introduced via processing or manufacturing) and may also result in non-IgE-mediated responses.

It is estimated that 6-17% of healthcare workers suffer from latex allergy, with rubber gloves being the most common cause.³⁸ Latex allergy can manifest as urticaria, rhinitis, conjunctivitis, asthma, anaphylaxis, and ACD. Latex is extracted from the Hevea brasiliensis tree (rubber tree) and contains an array of cellular proteins, lipids, and amino acids. The responsible allergens in latex have not been fully characterised but a list of 15 allergens (Hev b 1-Hev b 15) has been established with Hev b 5, Hev b 6.01, and Hev b 6.02 identified as the most common occupational latex allergens.³⁹ Chemicals such as thiurams, stabilisers, and (thiocarbamates, antioxidants diphenylamine, dihydroguinoline, and phenylenediamine), which may be added to the latex during the manufacturing of rubber, have been recognised to induce ACD.⁴⁰

Flour is another very common HMW occupational allergen and epidemiological reports have revealed that asthma, rhinitis, and ACD are the major health effects due to exposure.⁴¹ Flour is a complex organic dust containing cereals which have been processed by milling. Flour dust usually contains various components which play an important role in dough improvement, such as a variety of enzymes (α -amylase, cellulose, hemicellulose, malt enzymes), additives (baker's yeast, egg powder, milk powder, sugar), flavourings, spices, and chemical ingredients (preservatives, antioxidants, bleaching agents). Wheat is the main flour used in the baking industry and has been found to contain at least 40 allergens which represent about 10-15% of the dry weight of the grain.⁴² Baker's asthma is one of the most frequently occurring forms of occupational asthma and most studies indicate that wheat and rye flour proteins are allergens for 60-70% of bakers with workplace-related respiratory problems.⁴³ The enzyme α -amylase (added to improve baking characteristics). thioredoxin, plain lipid transfer proteins, and serine

proteinase inhibitors are among the main factors associated with baker's asthma and studies have found that the highest frequency of specific IgE measurements were identified for α -amylase inhibitors Tri a 28 and Tri a 29.01.⁴¹ Chemical components in flour such as preservative and bleaching agents have also been shown to cause ACD in bakers.⁴⁴

Exposure to laboratorv animals has been shown to result in occupational allergy and is commonly observed among technicians, animal caretakers, physicians, and scientists who work in pharmaceutical industries, university laboratories, and animal breeding facilities.⁴⁵ Rodents such as mice and rats, that are frequently used in animal research, are the most common causes of occupational allergy to laboratory animals. Mouse sensitisation is increasing in laboratory animal technicians and researchers due to the dramatic increase in the use of mice in experimental models. It is estimated that between 5% and 8% of this population is affected with some estimates suggesting an increase of ≤23% over a 2-year period in the USA. Urine is the main source of the allergenic protein in both mice and rats but allergens can also be found in dander, hair, saliva, and serum.⁴⁶ As with most mammals, the major inhaled allergens in mice and rats are lipocalins (Mus m 1 and Rat n 1, respectively). These allergens share 64% homology between their amino acid structures. Mouse urinary protein has shown IgE cross-reactivity with rat urinary protein and Equ c 1 (a major horse allergen).⁴⁷

Metals

Metals are considered to be one of the most common occupational allergens and it is estimated that 10-15% of the population have allergies to at least one species of metal.⁴⁸ Occupational exposure to metals can result in varying levels of morbidity and mortality due to the induction of a wide range of allergic diseases including ACD, occupational asthma, and anaphylaxis. Surprisingly, little is known about the immunologic mechanisms driving the reaction behind metal allergy.^{26,48} Metals are thought to interact directly with the surface of human lymphocytes to stimulate the adaptive immune response, however the exact mechanism is not fully understood.⁴⁹ Recent research also supports a role for the involvement of the innate immune system (specifically toll-like receptors) in the allergic responses to metals.⁵⁰ Numerous metals including gold, chromium, cobalt, platinum, nickel, palladium, and mercury are known to induce allergic responses resulting in ACD and asthma.¹⁹ Following patch testing of 4,454 patients (not all due to occupational exposure), nickel sulphate (19.0%), cobalt chloride (8.4%), and potassium dichromate (4.8%) were among the most common allergens, with nickel being identified as the most frequent positive allergen.¹⁹ Sources of occupational allergen exposure include releases from dental tools and alloys,⁵¹ scissor and nail instruments used by cosmetologists and nail technicians,⁵² coin handling operations,⁵³ and metal processing.⁵⁴

Challenges and Research Needs

Basic research

As new potential allergens are identified, it is critical that we fully understand the immunological mechanisms of occupational allergic disease. Research is needed to fill gaps in basic knowledge about the hazards of these agents. Areas of interest include: i) elucidating the mechanisms of allergic disease, ii) identifying exposure assessment biomarkers, iii) describing the role of genetics and the environment in allergic disease, characterisation of complex iv) exposures leading to allergic diseases, and v) developing predictive testing for the identification of occupational allergens.

The classification of allergens, especially LMW allergens, has often proven to be difficult since studies have identified that exposure to certain chemicals can result in multiple hypersensitivity pathways (i.e. both ACD and asthma). A more complete and thorough understanding of the immune-mediated mechanisms is needed before we will be capable of identifying, preventing, and treating allergic diseases. The need for the identification of potential exposure assessment biomarkers for sensitisation and exposuresensitisation response relationships of occupational sensitisers is also imperative. Recently, many novel cellular subsets and molecules potentially involved in immunological allergic responses have emerged as potential candidates for biomarkers. The identification of the potential involvement of novel T helper subsets and non-coding RNA elements, such as microRNAs⁵⁵ in allergic disease, illustrates the advancement of these research needs. Additional studies are necessary to determine the relative role of individual versus complex workplace exposures in the development of allergic disease. This is of concern because

investigations of individual chemicals may not adequately reflect the mixed exposures that often occur in occupational settings. Understanding the role of genetics and the environment on the allergic response is also critical.⁵⁶ An example of the importance of genetic factors in susceptibility to allergic disease is the influence of human leukocyte antigen genes on TDI asthma susceptibility. Several studies involving TDI-exposed workers demonstrated that specific human leukocyte antigen Class II genotypes were over-represented in asthmatic workers compared to asymptomatic workers.⁵⁶ Characterising the role of exposure route is another substantial challenge. Historically, the focus has been on describing the toxicity associated with the inhalation of hazardous substances. Available evidence clearly demonstrates the role of the skin as an important organ in respiratory disease. Factors such as skin integrity have been shown to influence sensitisation and the development of the respiratory allergic response.⁵⁷ However, additional research is needed to fully understand the role of the skin in respiratory allergic disease. Immunological assessment for occupational allergens is limited by the fact that standardised tests are not available for most workplace-relevant allergens. Predictive tests are critical for early identification of the hazard. It is understood that allergens may induce multiple types of allergic reactions. This is especially true for LMW allergens that can induce IgE and non-IgE-mediated responses. Due to the incomplete knowledge regarding mechanisms, predictive tests are lacking for these kind of exposures. Early detection of preclinical biomarkers of sensitisation may prevent development of occupational diseases through the implementation of the proper administrative and engineering controls.

Applied Research

Occupational allergy has significant social and economic implications for workers, their families, their employers, and government agencies. Sensitised workers must avoid exposure to the allergen both at work and outside the workplace in order to have the best chance of improvement or clearing of the allergic manifestations. This may be achieved by altering workplace tasks and duties, implementing engineering controls, or by providing workers with appropriate personal protective equipment. Most often, a sensitised worker would have to move to a completely different area or change to a different workplace or occupation to avoid further exposure to the offending allergen. However, numerous approaches that integrate risk assessment and risk management strategies have been developed to control workplace exposures to occupational allergens.⁵⁸⁻⁶¹ In this context, it is imperative to establish an effective risk management strategy that is designed to prevent the induction of sensitisation in naïve individuals and inhibit elicitation of allergic responses in those that have become sensitised.² Such a strategy should include both primary and secondary prevention methods. Primary prevention methods are interventions used to prevent worker sensitisation and may include the following:

- Modification of the allergen to inhibit exposure
- Application of control methods to prevent exposures
- Substitution with a less harmful agent
- Use of personal protective equipment⁶²

Secondary prevention methods attempt to characterise workplace exposure, in addition to detecting and limiting the progression of allergic diseases. Examples of secondary preventive methods include medical monitoring^{58,62,63} and workplace exposure monitoring.^{2,58,61}

Another important tool applied to characterise and aid in controlling workplace exposures to occupational hazards are occupational exposure limits (OELs). Despite their widespread use globally, few OELs are established on the basis of preventing sensitisation. The quantitative risk assessment approaches used to derive OELs have been developed primarily for non-immune-mediated effects, such as portal of entry effects, non-cancer systematic effects, or cancer. Application of these approaches to develop OELs for allergens has been inhibited because of data limitations and a lack of understanding of the biological processes that govern immune-mediated effects. The route of exposure, exposure intensity, and duration/ frequency of exposure have also been identified as factors complicating this process.² Research addressing these challenges along with a better understanding of allergic disease has direct implications in hazard identification, informing appropriate risk assessment, and management decisions to facilitate interventions and prevention of occupational allergies.

REFERENCES

1. Anderson SE, Meade BJ. Potential Health Effects Associated with Dermal Exposure to Occupational Chemicals Environ Health Insights. 2014;8(Suppl 1): 51-62.

2. Dotson GS et al. Setting Occupational Exposure Limits for Chemical Allergens--Understanding the Challenges. J Occup Environ Hyg. 2015;12 Suppl 1:S82-98.

3. Pralong JA et al. Occupational asthma: new low-molecular-weight causal agents, 2000-2010. J Allergy (Cairo) 2012;2012: 597306.

4. Sasseville D. Occupational Contact Dermatitis. Allergy Asthma Clin Immunol. 2008;4(2):59-65.

5. Cashman MW et al. Contact dermatitis in the United States: epidemiology, economic impact, and workplace prevention. Dermatol Clin. 2012;30(1): 87-98.

6. Mancini AJ et al. The socioeconomic impact of atopic dermatitis in the United States: a systematic review. Pediatr Dermatol. 2008;25(1):1-6.

7. Papadopoulos NG et al. Research needs in allergy: an EAACI position paper, in collaboration with EFA. Clin Trans Allergy. 2012;2(1):21.

8. Vila-Rigat R et al. Prevalence of

Work-Related Asthma and its Impact in Primary Health Care. Arch Bronconeumol. 2015;51(9):449-55.

9. Warshaw EM et al. Occupation-related contact dermatitis in North American health care workers referred for patch testing: cross-sectional data, 1998 to 2004. Dermatitis. 2008;19(5):261-74.

10. Lyons G et al. Hairdressers presenting to an occupational dermatology clinic in Melbourne, Australia. Contact Dermatitis. 2013;68(5):300-6.

11. Lysdal SH et al. Asthma and respiratory symptoms among hairdressers in Denmark: results from a register based questionnaire study. Am J Ind Med. 2014; 57(12):1368-76.

12. Casey M et al. Work-related asthma cluster at a syntactic foam manufacturing facility - Massachusetts 2008-2013. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2015; 64(15):411-4.

13. Diller WF. Frequency and trends of occupational asthma due to toluene diisocyanate: a critical review. Appl Occup Environ Hyg. 2002;17(12):872-7.

14. Berger Z et al. Prevalence of workplace exacerbation of asthma symptoms in an urban working population of asthmatics. J Occup Environ Med. 2006;48(8):833-9. 15. Saito R et al. Characterization of cleaning and disinfecting tasks and product use among hospital occupations. Am J Ind Med. 2015;58(1):101-11.

16. Green BJ et al. Occupational sensitization to soy allergens in workers at a processing facility. Clin Exp Allergy. 2011;41(7):1022-30.

17. Uriarte SA et al. Occupational asthma in seafood manufacturing and food allergy to seafood. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol. 2015;25(1):59-60.

18. Moghtaderi M et al. Animal allergen sensitization in veterinarians and laboratory animal workers. Occup Med (Lond.). 2014;64(7):516-20.

19. Zug KA et al. Patch-test results of the North American Contact Dermatitis Group 2005-2006. Dermatitis. 2009;20(3): 149-60.

20. Mapp CE. Agents, old and new, causing occupational asthma. Occup Environ Med. 2001;58(5):354-60.

21. Gell PGH, Coombs RRA, "The classification of allergic reactions underlying disease," PGH Gell. (Ed), Clinical Aspects of Immunology (1963), Oxford: Blackwell.

22. Martin SF et al. Mechanisms of chemical-induced innate immunity in

allergic contact dermatitis. Allergy. 2011; 66(9):1152-63.

23. Uzzaman A, Cho SH. Chapter 28: Classification of hypersensitivity reactions. Allergy Asthma Proc. 2012;33 Suppl 1:S96-9.

24. Kindt TJ et al. Kuby Immunology (2007), New York: W. H. Freeman.

25. Scheman A, Severson D. American Contact Dermatitis Society Contact Allergy Management Program: An Epidemiologic Tool to Quantify Ingredient Usage. Dermatitis. 2016;27(1):11-3.

26. Schmidt M, Goebeler M. Immunology of metal allergies. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges. 2015;13(7):653-60.

27. Palm NW, Medzhitov R. Immunostimulatory activity of haptenated proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(12):4782-7.

28. Kimber I, Dearman RJ. What makes a chemical a respiratory sensitizer? Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2005;5(2): 119-24.

29. Jarvis J et al. Relationship between chemical structure and the occupational asthma hazard of low molecular weight organic compounds. Occup Environ Med. 2005;62(4):243-50.

30. Bello D et al. Skin exposure to isocyanates: reasons for concern. Environ Health Perspect. 2007;115(3):328-35.

31. Pang S, Fiume MZ. Final report on the safety assessment of Ammonium, Potassium, and Sodium Persulfate. Int J Toxicol. 2001;20 Suppl 3:7-21.

32. De Vooght V et al. Ammonium persulfate can initiate an asthmatic response in mice. Thorax. 2010;65(3): 252-7.

33. Matheson JM et al. Immune mediators in a murine model for occupational asthma: studies with toluene diisocyanate. Toxicol Sci. 2005;84(1):99-109.

34. Helaskoski E et al. Prick testing with chemicals in the diagnosis of occupational contact urticaria and respiratory diseases. Contact Dermatitis. 2015;72(1):20-32.

35. Diab KK et al. Persulphate challenge in female hairdressers with nasal hyperreactivity suggests immune cell, but no IgE reaction. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2009;82(6):771-7.

36. Suneja T, Belsito DV. Occupational dermatoses in health care workers evaluated for suspected allergic contact

dermatitis. Contact Dermatitis. 2008; 58(5):285-90.

37. Raulf M. Allergen component analysis as a tool in the diagnosis of occupational allergy. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2016;16(2):93-100.

38. Toraason M et al. Latex allergy in the workplace. Toxicol Sci. 2000;58(1):5-14.

39. Raulf-Heimsoth M et al. Quantitative analysis of immunoglobulin E reactivity profiles in patients allergic or sensitized to natural rubber latex (Hevea brasiliensis). Clin Exp Allergy. 2007;37(11):1657-67.

40. Kahn SL et al. Natural rubber latex allergy. Dis Mon. 2016;62(1):5-17.

41. Stobnicka A, Gorny RL. Exposure to flour dust in the occupational environment. Int J Occup Saf Ergon. 2015;21(3):241-9.

42. Sander I et al. Identification of wheat flour allergens by means of 2-dimensional immunoblotting. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2001;107(5):907-13.

43. Page EH et al. Exposure to flour dust and sensitization among bakery employees. Am J Ind Med. 2010;53(12):1225-32.

44. Pigatto PD et al. Occupational dermatitis in bakers: a clue for atopic contact dermatitis. Contact Dermatitis. 1987;16(5):263-71.

45. Feary J, Cullinan P. Laboratory animal allergy: a new world. Curr Opin Allergy Clin Immunol. 2016;16(2):107-12.

46. Taylor AN et al. Respiratory allergy to urine proteins of rats and mice. Lancet. 1977;2(8043):847-9.

47. Saarelainen S et al. Animal-derived lipocalin allergens exhibit immunoglobulin E cross-reactivity. Clin Exp Allergy. 2008; 38(2):374-81.

48. Budinger L, Hertl M. Immunologic mechanisms in hypersensitivity reactions to metal ions: an overview. Allergy. 2000; 55(2):108-15.

49. Wang Y, Dai S. Structural basis of metal hypersensitivity. Immunol Res. 2013;55(1-3):83-90.

50. Schmidt M et al. Crucial role for human Toll-like receptor 4 in the development of contact allergy to nickel. Nat Immunol. 2010;11(9):814-9.

51. Kettelarij JA et al. Cobalt, nickel and chromium release from dental tools and alloys. Contact Dermatitis. 2014;70(1): 3-10.

52. Warshaw EM et al. Occupational contact dermatitis in hairdressers/ cosmetologists: retrospective analysis of north american contact dermatitis group data, 1994 to 2010. Dermatitis. 2012;23(6): 258-68.

53. Gawkrodger DJ et al. Nickel skin levels in different occupations and an estimate of the threshold for reacting to a single open application of nickel in nickelallergic subjects. Br J Dermatol. 2012; 166(1):82-7.

54. Henneberger PK et al. Beryllium sensitization and disease among long-term and short-term workers in a beryllium ceramics plant. Int Arch Occup Environ Health. 2001;74(3):167-76.

55. Anderson SE et al. Expression kinetics of miRNA involved in dermal toluene 2,4-diisocyanate sensitization. J Immunotoxicol. 2014;11(3):250-9.

56. Hur GY, Park HS. Biological and genetic markers in occupational asthma. Curr Allergy Asthma Rep. 2015;15(1):488.

57. Kasemsarn P et al. The Role of the Skin Barrier in Occupational Skin Diseases. Curr Probl Dermatol. 2016;49:135-43.

58. Basketter DA et al. Managing the Risk of Occupational Allergy in the Enzyme Detergent Industry. J Occup Environ Hyg. 2015;12(7):431-7.

59. Korpi A et al. Controlling occupational allergies in the workplace. Int J Occup Med Environ Health. 2007;20(2):107-15.

60 Department of Health and Human Services. National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. Qualitative risk characterization and management of occupational hazards: Control banding. Publication No. 2009-152. August 2009. Available at: http:// www.cdc.gov/niosh/docs/2009-152/ pdfs/2009-152.pdf. Last accessed: May 2016.

61. AIHA. Anna DH. (eds), The Occupational Environment: Its Evaluation, Control, and Management (2011), Falls Church, VA: American Industrial Hygiene Association.

62. Tarlo SM, Lemiere C. Occupational asthma. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(7):640-9.

63. Simons FE et al. World Allergy Organization Anaphylaxis Guidelines: 2013 update of the evidence base. Int Arch Allergy Immunol. 2013;162(3): 193-204.

EXTENSION OF 2016 WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION (WHO) CLASSIFICATION INTO A NEW SET OF CLINICAL, LABORATORY, MOLECULAR, AND PATHOLOGICAL CRITERIA FOR THE DIAGNOSIS OF MYELOPROLIFERATIVE NEOPLASMS: FROM DAMESHEK TO VAINCHENKER, GREEN, AND KRALOVICS

*Jan Jacques Michiels,^{1,2,3} Hendrik De Raeve,⁴ Francisca Valster,³ Vincent Potters,³ Yonggoo Kim,^{5,6} *Myungshin Kim^{5,6}

 International Hematology, Blood and Coagulation Research Center, Goodheart Institute and Foundation in Nature Medicine, Freedom in Science and Education Erasmus Tower, Rotterdam, Netherlands
International Collaboration and Academic Research on Myeloproliferative Neoplasms: ICAR.MPN, Rotterdam, Netherlands

 Department of Hematology and Pathology, BRAVIS Hospital, Bergen op Zoom, Netherlands
Department of Pathology, OLV Hospital Aalst and University Hospital Brussels, Brussels, Belgium
Department of Laboratory Medicine, College of Medicine, the Catholic University of Korea, Seoul, Korea
Catholic Genetic Laboratory Center, Seoul St. Mary's Hospital, College of Medicine, the Catholic University of Korea
*Correspondence to goodheartcenter@upcmail.nl and microkim@catholic.ac.kr

Authors' Contributions: Jan Jacques Michiels wrote the manuscript and analysed the literature. Jan Jacques Michiels and Francisca Valster collected the clinical, laboratory, molecular, and pathological (CLMP) data. Hendrik De Raeve and Vincent Potters performed the bone marrow studies. Yonggoo Kim and Myungshin Kim translated the World Health Organization (WHO) classification into the CLMP classification of myeloproliferative neoplasms.

Disclosure: The authors have declared no conflicts of interest. **Received:** 16.09.16 **Accepted:** 20.03.17 **Citation:** EMJ. 2017;2[2]:72-81.

ABSTRACT

Improved Clinical, Laboratory, Molecular, and Pathological (CLMP) 2017 criteria for myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) define the $JAK2^{V617F}$ trilinear MPNs as a broad continuum of essential thrombocythaemia (ET), polycythaemia vera (PV), masked PV, and post-ET or post-PV myelofibrosis (MF). Normal versus increased erythrocyte counts (5.8×10¹²/L) on top of bone marrow histology separate $JAK2^{V617F}$ ET and prodromal PV from early and classical PV. Bone marrow histology of the $JAK2^{V617F}$ trilinear MPNs show variable degrees of normocellular megakaryocytic, erythrocytic megakaryocytic and erythrocytic megakaryocytic granulocytic (EMG) myeloproliferation, peripheral cytoses, and splenomegaly related to $JAK2^{V617F}$ allele burden. MPL^{515} thrombocythaemia intially presents with megakaryocytic followed by dual granulocytic and megakaryocytic myeloproliferation without features of PV. The megakaryocytes are large, mature, and pleomorphic with hyperlobulated nuclei in $JAK2^{V617F}$ ET and prodromal, classical, and masked PV. The megakaryocytes are large to giant with hyperlobulated staghorn-like nuclei in MPL^{515} thrombocythaemia. The megakaryocytes are densely clustered, large, and immature dysmorphic with bulky (bulbous) hyperchromatic nuclei in CALR thrombocythaemia and MF.

<u>Keywords:</u> Myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN), essential thrombocythaemia (ET), polycythaemia vera (PV), primary megakaryocytic granulocytic myeloproliferation (PMGM), thrombocythaemia, myelofibrosis (MF), *JAK2*^{v617F}, *JAK2* exon 12; *MPL*⁵¹⁵, calreticulin, triple negative.


Figure 1: Changing concepts of PVSG-WHO classification of myeloproliferative neoplasms into CLMP criteria of *JAK2^{V617F}* mutated essential thrombocythaemia, polycythaemia vera, and myelofibrosis and JAK2 wildtype CALR or MPL mutated thrombocythaemia and myelofibrosis: from Dameshek to Vainchenker, Kralovics and Michiels 1950–2017.

Left) The Dameshek (1950) one cause hypothesis of PV as a trilinear MPD² has been confirmed by Vainchenker's discovery in 2005 of the *JAK2*^{V617F} mutation⁸ as the driver of the trilinear MPNs, ET, PV, and MF.^{9,10,11,33} Upper) Dameshek (1951)³ speculated on the possible causal interrelationship among MPS showing trilinear bone marrow features in PV, dual increase of megakaryocytes and fibroblasts in AMM and unilinear megakaryopoiesis in ML. Right middle) The Hannover and Rotterdam Bone Marrow Classifications of the MPD recognised prefibrotic ML and AMM as a distinct entity of prefibrotic and fibrotic stages of PMGM without features of PV.⁴ Bottom) ML defined by Dameshek in 1951 can readily be translated into JAK2-negative *MPL* mutated ET and MF and *CALR* ET associated with PMGM without features of PV.

ET: essential thrombocythaemia; MF: myelofibrosis; PV: polycythaemia vera; MPN: myeloproliferative neoplasms; MPD: myeloproliferative disorders; ML: megakaryocytic leukaemia; MPS: myeloproliferative syndromes; AMM: agnogenic myeloid metaplasia; PMGM: primary megakaryocytic granulocytic myeloproliferation.

INTRODUCTION

The diagnostic clinical and bone marrow criteria of polycythaemia vera (PV) between 1940 and 1950 were plethoric appearance, splenomegaly, elevated erythrocyte count >6x10¹²/L, elevated platelet count, elevated haematocrit (Ht), and pathognomonic bone marrow features showing a panmyelosis with increased erythrocytic megakaryocytic granulocytic (EMG) trilinear haematopoiesis.¹ About one-third of PV patients develop splenomegaly and myelofibrosis (MF) after follow-up of 15–30 years.^{2,3} The combination of a persistent increase of platelet counts (>350x10⁹/L) and a monolinear proliferation of large mature megakaryocytes in the bone marrow is diagnostic for essential thrombocythaemia (ET).⁴

Dameshek³ speculated on the possible causal interrelation among myeloproliferative disorders (MPD) showing trilinear bone marrow features in PV, the dual increase of megakaryopoiesis in agnogenic myeloid metaplasia (AMM), and unilinear megakaryopoiesis in megakaryocytic leukaemia (ML) without PV features in the bone marrow (Figure 1).³ The Polycythemia Vera Study Group (PVSG) criteria for the clinical diagnosis of PV do not include a bone marrow biopsy to differentiate between PV and erythrocytosis and overlook idiopathic erythrocythaemia definition.^{5,6} by Idiopathic erythrocythaemia is distinguished by increased red cell mass (RCM), normal platelet count and leukocyte count, and no splenomegaly on palpation.^{5,6} Lamy et al.⁷ measured RCM in 85 patients meeting the PVSG criteria for PV

(haemoglobin [Hb] >18 g/dL, Ht >0.52 in males and Hb >16 g/dL, Ht >0.47 in females) and in 18 patients with masked PV (inapparent PV) with normal erythrocyte, Hb, and Ht values. RCM was increased in patients with classical PV with no or minor splenomegaly. RCM was increased in masked or inapparent PV patients due to significant splenomegaly and hypersplenism.⁷ The PVSG defined idiopathic or AMM of spleen and bone marrow as primary MF (PMF). As MF is a secondary event in all variants of MPD, the Hannover and Rotterdam Bone Marrow Classification discovered prefibrotic ML and fibrotic stages of AMM as the third distinct MPD entity of primary megakaryoctic granulocytic myeloproliferation (PMGM) without features of PV (Figure 1).⁴

MOLECULAR AETIOLOGY OF *JAK2^{v617F}* TRILINEAR MYELOPROLIFERATIVE DISORDERS

The one cause hypothesis of Dameshek² that PV is a trilinear MPD has been confirmed by Vainchenker's discovery in 2005 that the acquired $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutation is the driver cause of three MPD phenotypes: ET, PV, and MF (Figure 1).⁸⁻¹⁰



Figure 2: The sequential occurence of CLMP defined essential thrombocythaemia, polycythaemia vera, and myelofibrosis related to JAK2 allele burden in $JAK2^{VGI7F}$ mutated trilinear myeloproliferative neoplasms.

Upper) The discovery of the somatic $JAK2^{V617F}$ gain mutation can explain the three sequential phenotypes of ET, PV, and MF. A slight increase (changes) in the $JAK2^{V617F}$ kinase activity in heterozygous mutated MPN is enough to produce the clinical phenotype of ET. Increasing levels of $JAK2^{V617F}$ kinase activity in trilinear MPN due to mitotic recombination resulting in heterozygous/homozygous and predominantly homozygous mutated MPN is associated with early, overt, and advanced PV, respectively (Vainchenker and Constantinescu 2005,⁹ Villeval et al. 2006.¹⁰ Lower) Dynamics of the $JAK2^{V617F}$ disease processes in PV as a broad spectrum (Tables 1 and 2) ranging from normocellular ET, prodromal PV mimicking ET and the definitive increase in red cells (>5.8x10¹²/L) followed by masked PV, PV complicated by fibrosis and splenomegaly, spent phase PV and blastic transformation. Designed by Michiels et al. 2006-2016. Right) Initial stage of $JAK2^{V617F}$ mutated ET and prodromal PV with normal RCM and erythrocytes <5.7x1012/L versus manifest PV with definitive increase of RCM and erythrocytes >5.7x10¹²/L.^{4,37}

EPO: erythropoietin; ET: essential thrombocythaemia; RCM: red cell mass; PV: polycythaemia vera; MF: myelofibrosis; MPN: myeloproliferative neoplasms.

Vainchenker and Constantinescu⁹ proposed the concept that low *V617F* constitutional kinase activity in heterozygous mutated *JAK2^{V617F}* mutated patients is enough to produce the ET phenotype and that higher *V617F* constitutional kinase activity in *JAK2^{V617F}* mutated heterozygous/homozygous or homozygous mutated patients is needed to produce the PV phenotype (Figure 2).^{9,10} The *JAK2^{V617F}* dosage hypothesis has been confirmed at the bone marrow haematopoietic stem cell level by the demonstration that endogenous erythroid colonies (EEC) from ET patients are mainly heterozygous for the *JAK2^{V617F}* mutation, whereas all PV patients are either hetero/homozygous or mainly homozygous for the *JAK2^{V617F}* mutation (Figure 2).¹¹

Michiels and Medinger¹² studied RCM in relation to erythrocyte count in World Health Organization (WHO)-defined ET patients (24 patients) and PV patients (46 patients) with no or minor splenomegaly. The JAK2^{V617F} mutation load in 24 ET patients was zero in 10 patients and positive in 14 patients; this mutation load ranged from 3-20%, 20-42%, and >50% in six, five, and two cases, respectively. The JAK2^{V617F} mutation load in 36 evaluable PV patients ranged from 3-20% and from 20-50% and was >50% in 5, 12, and 19 PV cases, respectively. Increased erythrocyte counts above normal levels (>5.8x1012/L in males and $>5.6 \times 10^{12}$ /L in females) correlated with increased RCM in PV patients whereas ET patients had normal erythrocyte counts and RCM (Figure 2).¹² Increased RCM and erythrocytes >5.8/5.6×10¹²/L in PV were associated with Hb values from 14.6-18.9 g/L and Ht values from 0.46-0.57. Normal RCM in ET patients were related to erythrocyte counts of 4.6-5.4×10¹²/L, Hb from 14.0-16.1 g/L, and Ht from 0.39-0.47,¹³ consistent with the diagnosis of ET or prodromal PV (Tables 1 and 2).

The mutation load in percentages of *JAK2* mutated granulocytes in a large retrospective Italian study of *JAK2*^{V617F} trilinear MPNs was low in 250 ET patients (median: 18%), significantly higher in 212 PV patients (median: 42%) and 18 post-ET MF patients (median: 42%), and predominantly high (>50%) in post-PV MF (median: 93%) patients.¹⁴ A JAK2 allele burden >50% (homozygous) was recorded in 2% of 250 ET patients, in 41% of 212 PV patients, in 72% of 18 post-ET patients, and in 93% of 55 post-PV patients.¹⁴ The correctness of the *JAK2* dosage hypothesis has been confirmed in patients with hereditary ET caused by the heterozygous germline gain of function mutations *JAK2*^{V6171} and *JAK2*^{R564Q} in the JAK2 gene.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ Affected hereditary ET patients heterozygous for the $JAK2^{V617/}$ and $JAK2^{R564Q}$ germline mutations have a clinical ET phenotype with normal values for Hb, Ht, erythrocytes, thrombopoietine (TPO), and erythropoietin (EPO) levels. The response to EPO in the EEC assay was normal in congenital $JAK^{V617/}$ and $JAK2^{R564Q}$ but increased in acquired $JAK2^{V617F}$.¹⁵⁻¹⁷

JAK2 WILDTYPE MPL⁵¹⁵ MUTATED MEGAKARYOCYTIC LEUKAEMIA OR ESSENTIAL THROMBOCYTHAEMIA (FIGURE 1)

With the advent of the JAK2^{V617F} discovery, two variants of *JAK2^{neg}* MPN have been discovered: MPL⁵¹⁵ mutated ET and MF^{4,18,19} and CALR mutated ET and MF in PMGM patients.¹⁹⁻²³ (Figure 1). MPL^{W515L} and MPL^{W515K} as the driving cause of MPN in large series of ML, or ET and MF patients occurred with a frequency rate of approximately 1% and 5%, respectively.^{18,19} In a European study¹⁹ of 176 cases with the MPL⁵¹⁵ mutation, the MPL^{W515L} mutation occurred in 110 cases, and the MPL^{W515K} mutation in 58 cases. The overall mutation levels were lower (25%) in MPL^{W515L} (n=106) compared with the level of 37% in cases with MPL^{W515K} (n=32). Of the 138 MPL⁵¹⁵ cases (ET, n=99; MF, n=36; ratio of ET versus MF: 2:1), the median *MPL*^{W515L} mutation levels were significantly lower (21%) in ET than those (46%) in MF patients. The 29 homozygous MPL⁵¹⁵ positive cases had a diagnosis of MF in 15 patients and ET in 12 patients.

The presence of clustered small and giant megakaryocytes with deeply lobulated staghorn like nuclei in MPL⁵¹⁵ mutated ET are not seen in JAK2^{V617F} positive normocellular ET, prodromal PV, masked PV, and PV.^{20,21} The pleomorphic megakaryocytes in JAK2^{V617F} mutated ET in bone marrow biopsy were not larger but similar in size to medium to large megakaryocytes (pleomorphic) in prodromal and overt PV. Erythropoiesis in MPL thrombocythaemia is reduced whereas a local increase of erythropoiesis in areas of loose clustered pleiomorphic megakaryoctyes is present in JAK2^{V617F} normocelluar ET and prodromal PV. LAF score, serum EPO, and ferritin levels are normal in MPL MPN cases and increased in JAK2^{V617F} MPN cases.^{20,21}

Table 1: International Clinical, Laboratory, Molecular, and Pathobiological (2017 CLMP) criteria for diagnosis of *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated essential thrombocythaemia, prodromal polycythaemia vera, masked polycythaemia vera due to splenomegaly, and post essential thrombocythaemia myelofibrosis.

CLM criteria	Bone marrow cellularity and pathology	
ET Normocellular megakaryocytic		
 Platelet count of >350x10⁹/L Heterozygous JAK2^{V617F} low JAK2 mutation load Normal erythrocytes <5.8x10¹²/L males; <5.6x10¹²/L females Normal haemoglobin and hematocrit 	Normocellular bone marrow (<60%), M proliferation and clustering of medium sized to large (pleomorphic) mature megakaryocytes No proliferation of granulopoiesis and no or some increase of erythropoiesis. RF 0 or 1	
Prodromal PV	Hypercellular EM	
 Platelet count of ≥350x10⁹/L; Normal erythrocytes. <5.8x10¹²/L males; <5.6x10¹²/L females. JAK2^{V617F} intermediate to high JAK2 mutation load Low EPO, increased LAP score Spontaneous EEC 	Increased cellularity (60–80%) due to variable degrees of EM proliferation and no increase of granulopioesis. Proliferation and clustering of medium sized to large (pleomorphic) mature megakaryocytes. RF 0 or 1	
Prefibrotic hypercellular ET Masked PV or myelofirosis	Hypercellular trilinear EMG = masked PV ^{7,37} Hypercellular megakaryocytic granulocytic (MG=ET-MF)	
 Platelet count of ≥350x10⁹/L Hb >12g/dL JAK2^{V617F}; high JAK2 mutation load Slight or moderate splenomegaly No preceding or allied CML, PV, PMGM, RARS-T, or MDS 	EMG or MG proliferation with relative reduced erythroid precursors. Loose to dense clustering of pleiomorphic megakaryocytes with hyperploid or clumpsy nuclei. Grading of RF and MF: ^{4,37} Prefibrotic RF 0/1 = MF 0, Early fibrotic RF 2 = MF 1, Fibrotic: RF3/4, RCF = MF2/3	

CLM: Clinical, Laboratory, and Molecular; ET: essential thrombocythaemia; PV: polycythaemia vera; EPO: erythropoietin; EEC: endogenous erythroid colony formation; Hb: haemoglobin; CML: chronic myeloid leukaemia; PMGM: primary megakaryocytic granulocytic myeloproliferation; MDS: myelodysplastic syndrome; RARS-T: refractory anaemia with ringed sideroblasts associated with marked thrombocytosis; EMG: erythrocytic megakaryocytic granulocytic; RF: reticuline fibrosis; MF: myelofibrosis.

MEGAKARYOCYTIC LEUKAEMIA AND CALR THROMBOCYTHAEMIA WITHOUT POLYCYTHAEMIA FEATURES

CALR as the driving cause of ML³ or PMGM⁴ (Figure 1) has been detected in the majority of *JAK2^{neg}* WHO-defined ET and PMF cases by Kralovics;²² this was the second groundbreaking event in MPN molecular research that prompted us to revise and simplify the 2016 WHO and European Clinical, Molecular and Pathological (ECMP) MPN classifications^{4,13,20,21} into a new set of Clinical Laboratory, Molecular and Pathologic (CLMP) criteria for *JAK2, MPL*, and *CALR* mutated MPNs (Tables 1, 2, and 3). The MPN research laboratory of Kralovics⁴ discovered somatic mutations of 52-bp deletion in one patient, of 1-bp deletion in one patient, and recurrent 5-bp insertion in four PMF patients.²²

Following sequencing and mutation screening in a cohort of 896 MPN patients, *CALR* mutations were detected in 78 of 311 (25%) ET patients, in 72 of 203 (35%) PMF patients, and in none of 382 PV patients. A total of 36 types of somatic *CALR* mutations (insertions and deletions) caused a frameshift reading frame with the resulting mutant CALR protein that shares a novel sequence in exon 9 with the C-terminal becoming positively charged amino acids, whereas the C-terminal of non-mutant CALR protein is negatively charged. Mutations of Type 1 (52-bp deletion) and mutations of Type 2 (5bp-insertions) accounted for 53% and 31.7% of all *CALR* cases. Other *CALR* variant mutations were observed at low frequencies or only in a single *JAK2* wildtype ET or MF patient.

A large cohort of 1,235 ET and PMF patients carried the *JAK2*^{V617F}, *MPL*⁵¹⁵, and *CALR* exon 9 mutation in 63.4%, 4.4%, and 23.5% of cases, respectively, and 8.8% were triple negative for these clonal markers.²² *CALR* mutations mutually excluded both *JAK2*^{V617F} and *MPL*⁵¹⁵ mutations since all *CALR* mutated ET and MF patients were negative for *JAK2*^{V617F}, exon 12 *JAK2*, and *MPL* mutations. The *CALR* mutation was detected in 195 of 289 (67%) *JAK2/MPL* wildtype ET, and in 105 of 120 (80%) *JAK2/MPL* wildtype MF. Table 2: International Clinical Molecular and Pathological criteria for the diagnosis of *JAK2* mutated classical polycythaemia vera, masked polycythaemia vera due to splenomegaly or exon 12 PV versus primary or secondary erythrocytoses.

CLM criteria (A: major; B: minor)	Bone marrow pathology	
 A1) Erythrocytes >5.8x10¹²/L in males; >5.6x10¹²/L in females. Increased RCM optional A2) JAK2^{V617F} intermediate high mutation load A3) Low serum EPO level. Increased LAP score B1) Platelets >350 x10⁹/L B2) Leukocytes >10 x10⁹/L and raised LAP-score or increased CD11b expression B3) Splenomegaly on echogram (>12 cm). Masked PV is defined by JAK2^{V617F} mutation, normal Hb, Ht, and erythrocytes <5.6x10¹²/L, splenomegaly, and increased RCM due to splenomegaly and EMG bone marrow pathology.^{7,31,37} 	PV: Increased cellularity (60-100%) due to increased EM in early stage and trilinear EMG proliferation (panmyelosis) Endogenous erythroid colony formation Grading of reticuline fibrosis/myelofibrosis ^{4,37} Prefibrotic: RF-0/1 = MF-0 Early fibrotic: RF-2 = MF-1 Fibrotic: RCF 3/4 = MF-2/3 JAK2 exon 12 mutated PV is a distinct entity	

CLM: Clinical, Laboratory, and Molecular; PV: polycythaemia vera; Hb: haemoglobin; Ht: haematocrit; RCM: red cell mass; EMG: erthrocytic megakaryocytic granulocytic; RF: grading fibrosis; MF: myelofibrosis.

The CALR mutation was found in none of the 45 chronic myeloid leukaemia patients, 73 of myelodysplastic syndrome patients, 64 of chronic myelomonocytic leukaemia patients, and in 3 of 24 refractory anaemia with ringed sideroblasts associated with marked thrombocytosis (RARS-T) patients. The 24 RARS-T patients carried the JAK2^{V617F} in 10 cases, MPL in 2 cases, CALR in 3 cases, and SF3B1 in 16 cases.²² The UK MPN study Group of Dr Tony Green and co-workers detected the CALR somatic mutation in 110 of 158 JAK2/MPL wildtype MPN samples (80 of 112 ET, and 18 of 32 MF samples) in none of 511 JAK2^{V617F} or exon 12 JAK2 mutated MPNs and in 10 of 120 myelodysplastic syndrome samples: RA in 5 of 53 cases, RARS in 3 of 27 cases, RA with excess blasts in 2 of 17 cases, CMML in 1 of 33 cases, and atypical CML in 1 of 29 cases.²³ The somatic CALR mutation was not found in 502 solid tumours, 1,015 cell lines, and 505 controls.²³

The 52-bp deletions (*CALR* Type 1) eliminate almost all negatively charged amino acids, whereas the 5-bp insertions (*CALR* Type 2) retain aproximately half of the negatively charged amino acids.²² Such genetic differences in Type 1 and Type 2 *CALR* mutations predict different clinical phenotypes. *CALR* Type 1 deletions occur more frequently in MF than in ET.²² The USA-Italian study of Tefferi and Vanucchi²⁴ divided 1,027 ET patients into a test (n=402) and validation cohort (n=625). Among 402 ET patients, 227 (57%), 11 (3%), and 114 (28%) harboured *JAK2*, *MPL*, and *CALR* mutations, respectively and 12% were triple negative.²⁴ The 114 *CALR* ET patients were Type 1 in 51 (45%) and Type 2 in 44 (39%). Male sex was associated with Type 1, younger age with Type 2 variants, and platelet counts were significantly higher in Type 2 versus Type 1 CALR ET in the test and validation (n=111) cohorts of CALR ET patients.²⁴ A large French study by Cabagnols et al.²⁵ of 368 CALR MPN patients analysed the association of CALR Type 1 and Type 2 in ET (n=251) and MF (n=64) patients. The ratio of CALR ET to MF patients was 3.9.25 The relative frequency of CALR Type 1 versus CALR Type 2 in 251 ET patients was 51% versus 39% and in 64 MF patients it was 70% versus 13%; the median age was 61 years in Type 1 and 52.5 years in Type 2 patients; and the mean platelet count was 731 x10⁹/L in CALR Type 1 and 870x10⁹/L in Type 2 CALR MPN patients.²⁵ A higher allelic burden was more frequent in CALR MF (5/35=14.3%) than in ET (6/158=3.8%). CALR MPN patients with a low allelic burden (<25%) were only observed in ET (19/158= 11.9%). CALR ET and MF patients were younger and had higher platelet counts than JAK2 ET patients in several studies.^{22,23-26} Leukocyte alkaline phospatase scores in the recent study of Kondo et al.²⁷ was normal to decreased in CALR MPN. Increased LAP scores are a prominent feature of JAK2^{V617F}, ET, PV, and masked PV.^{4,21,28}

THROMBOSIS FREE AND OVERALL SURVIVAL IN *JAK2, CALR*, AND *MPL* MUTATED MYELOPROLIFERATIVE NEOPLASMS

In the original Austrian study by Kralovics of 186 CALR, 576 *JAK2*, and 35 *MPL* mutated ET

patients, the overall survival (OS) at 10 years was 96.9% for CALR ET patients and 91.1% in JAK2^{V617F} ET patients.²⁹ In the Italian ET study of 89 CALR, 369 JAK2^{V617F}, and 25 MPL⁵¹⁵ mutated and 93 wildtype ET patients, the frequencies of microvessel symptoms were 24.7%, 27.4%, 56%, and 21.5%, respectively,³⁰ whereas the frequencies of major thrombosis at diagnosis, in the preceding 2 years and during follow-up were 13.5%, 30.1%, 40.0%, and 16% in CALR, JAK2, MPL, and wildtype ET patients, respectively.³⁰ The major thrombosis free survival was significantly longer in 89 CALR and 93 wildtype patients as compared with 369 JAK2 and 25 MPL ET patients. The cumulative incidence of major thrombosis at 10 years were 5.1%, 14.5%, 19.5%, and 8.1% in CALR, JAK2, MPL, and wildtype thrombocythaemia patients, respectively.³⁰ In contrast, the Kaplan-Meier OS curves did not show significant differences between JAK2, MPL, and CALR ET patients, which indicated that the high frequency of major thrombosis patients in JAK2 and MPL ET as compared to CALR ET patients has no prognostic significance in terms of OS in ET.³⁰

CALR MF patients had a better OS than JAK2 MF patients than in CALR MF (p=0.049) in several studies.²²⁻²⁶ In the Austrian study, 98 CALR MF patients had a longer OS (median: 21 years) as compared with 189 JAK2 MF (median: 11.0 years) and 18 MPL MF patients (median: 8.2 years).²⁹ The OS curves from a large Italian PMF study)²⁹ in 72 CALR, 396 JAK2, 25 MPL, and 53 triple negative MF patients show that CALR MF patients had a better median OS than JAK2 MF patients (hazard ratio: HR CALR/JAK2 2.3, p<0.001), MPL-MF patients (HR MPL/JAK2 2.6, p=0.009) and triple-negative MF patients (HR wildtype/JAK2 6.2, p<0.001).²⁹ The median ages at time of diagnosis were 50, 63, 64, and 67 years for CALR, JAK2, MPL, and triple negative MF patients, respectively, indicating that the ultimate median age reached at time of death from MF will be near to 75 years and quite similar in PMF patients caused by the driver mutations CALR, JAK2, and MPL for MPN.^{22,29}

CLINICAL, LABORATORY, MOLECULAR, AND PATHOLOGICAL FEATURES OF MYELOPROLIFERATIVE NEOPLASMS

The large cross-sectional Korean study of 407 WHO-defined MPN patients (111 PV, 179 ET, and 117 MF)³¹ translated the 2016 WHO classes of ET, PV, and MF patients into four distinct CLMP classes of $JAK2^{V617F}$, exon 12 JAK2, MPL^{515} , and CALR

myeloneoproliferations. The three driver mutations were detected in 82.6% of 407 MPN patients and showed a distribution frequency of three distinct MPNs: *JAK2* in 275 patients (67.5%), *CALR* in 55 patients (13.7%), and *MPL* in 6 patients (1.5%). The clinical phenotypes in 275 *JAK2* mutated MNP were PV in 101 cases, ET in 95 cases, and MF in 79 cases. The clinical phenotypes in 56 *CALR* mutated MPN were PV in no cases, ET in 40 cases, and MF in 16 cases.³¹ The clinical phenotypes in six MPL cases were ET in three and MF in three. The seven cases of exon 12 *JAK2* were diagnosed as PV in its purity and none as ET or MF.³¹

The mean age of *CALR* mutated MPN patients (57.5 years) was 8.5 years younger than in *JAK2* mutated MPN patients (66 years).³¹ Exon 12 *JAK2* mutated MPN patients presented with increased erythrocyte counts >5.8x10¹²/L, normal platelet counts of <350x10⁹/L, and no anaemia consistent with the diagnosis of erythrocythemic PV (Figure 2).³¹ *CALR* mutated MPN (ET and MF) patients presented with normal to decreased values for Hb, Ht, and erythrocytes (upper limit <5.8/5.6x10¹²/L) (Figure 2). Erythropoiesis in bone marrow histology studies was normal or reduced in all cases of *CALR* and *MPL* mutated MPN.³²

The values for Hb, Ht, and erythrocyte counts in 2016 WHO-defined JAK2^{V617F} mutated MPN cases ranged from anaemic in MF, normal in ET, and increased in PV when the CLMP criteria are applied (Tables 1 and 2). Bone marrow lineage proliferation profile in 265 WHO-defined JAK2 mutated MPN revealed monolinear megakaryocytic proliferation in 29.1% of cases; dual proliferation of erythropoiesis and megakaryopoiesis (EM, prodromal PV) in 13.5% of cases; trilinear proliferation of erythropoiesis, megakaryopoiesis, granulopoiesis (EMG, classical PV) in 31.3% of cases; and granulopoiesis megakaryopoiesis (JAK2 MF) in 26.2% of cases when the simplified and improved EuroAsian CLMP criteria in Tables 1, 2, and 3 were applied.³¹ Bone marrow lineage proliferation profile in 56 CALR mutated MPN cases revealed E and EG in zero, monolinear megakaryocytic in 66%, and dual GM in JAK2/MPL wildtype, but CALR mutated MPN in 34%³¹ (formerly diagnosed as ML by Dameshek³ or PMGM myeloneoproliferation [MNP] by Michiels et al.⁴).

The *JAK2* allele burden in WHO defined *JAK2*^{V617F} mutated MPN (ET, PV, MF) from the Korean cross-sectional MPN study³¹ was widely distributed from 1.8–98.6%. The allele burden in exon 12 *JAK2*

mutated MPN remained <50%, which is completely in line with the heterozygosity of mutated exon 12 at the EEC level.³³ JAK2^{V617F} mutated 'forme fruste' PV (prodromal PV), early PV, and exon 12 PV patients presented with EM bone marrow neoproliferation without fibrosis (MF 0/1).³¹ The allele burden in EM and EGM of the two JAK2 mutated MPNs was significantly higher in JAK2^{V617F} (84.9%) than in exon 12 JAK2 (44.5%) MPN. The mean values of the JAK2^{V617F} allele burden in megakaryocyte (=ET), GM (=MF), EM (=PV), and EGM (=PV) bone marrow proliferations were 37.5%, 68.9%, 76%, and 89.2%, respectively. The JAK2^{V617F} EM and EGM molecular pathologic (MP) groups are associated with high allele burden and increased erythrocytes (>5.8x10¹²/L, Figure 2), which is consistent with the diagnosis of classical PV. The normocellular megakaryocytic molecular genetic-pathologic (GP) groups in various clonal MPNs are associated with normal erythrocytes and leukocytes consistent with the diagnosis JAK2 or CALR mutated thrombocythaemia and have the lowest allele mutation burden.³¹ JAK2^{V617F} EGM and GM molecular GP groups have the highest allele burden and most pronounced leukocytosis, whereas allele burden and leukocytosis are much less pronounced in the CALR GM GP group. The grade of fibrosis in the Korean study³¹ was divided into minimal (MF 0/1) and overt (MF 2/3), according to standardised criteria.^{4,29,34} The frequency of overt fibrosis in JAK2^{V617F} and CALR-mutated and triple-negative MPN patients were 22.2%, 27.1%, and 29.3%, respectively. JAK2^{V617F}-GM and CALR-GM bone marrow histology showed a high rate of overt fibrosis (46.0 and 42.1%), followed by JAK2^{V616F}-M (17.5%), CALR-M (17.2%), and JAK2^{V617F} EGM (10.4%; p<0.001). None of the JAK2-EM ('forme fruste' and early PV and exon 12 PV) patients presented overt fibrosis. Bone Marrow Fibrosis (BMF) Grade MF 0/1 versus Grade 2/3 appeared to be a main adverse prognostic factor when associated with JAK2^{V617F} and triple negative MPN disease.³¹

MOLECULAR PATHOBIOLOGY CALR THROMBOCYTHAEMIA AND MYELOFIBROSIS

All JAK2 and MPL thrombocythaemias are driven by indirect cytokine activation (JAK2^{V617F} \rightarrow STAT5 or TPO \rightarrow TpoR=MPL), or direct cytokine activation (MPL⁵¹⁵ and MPL⁵⁰⁵) cytokine receptor activation.

Table 3: Clinical Laboratory, Molecular and Pathological criteria for hypercellular essential thrombocythaemia associated with primary megakaryocytic, granulocytic myeloproliferation caused by calreticulin mutations.

 CM criteria PMGM or CALR thrombocythaemia A1) No preceding or allied other subtype of myeloproliferative neoplasm PV, CML, MDS. A2) Presence of CALR mutation Clinical stages of CALR thrombocythaemia C1) Early clinical normocellular prefibrotic M stage: 	Pathological criteria of PMGM or CALR MGM Normocellular M proliferation stage in a normocellular bone marrow, no increase of granulopoiesis. Hypercellular MG proliferation stage with no increase or relative or absolute reduction of erythropoiesis and erythroid precursors. Abnormal dense clustering and increase in atypical		
Hb >12g/dL, slight-to-moderate splenomegaly Normal or decreased LAP score C2) Intermediate clinical MG hypercellular pre/early fibrotic stage: slight anaemia Hb <12 to >10 g/dL, decreasing platelet count,	medium sized, large to giant immature megakaryocytes containing bulbous (cloud-like) hypolobulated nuclei and definitive maturation defects. Grading RF and MF ^{4,37} MF 0 Prefibrotic <i>CALR</i> MGM, no reticulin fibrosis RF 0/1		
splenomegaly, increased LDH C3) Advanced MG MF stage: anaemia Hb <10 g/dL, tear drop erythrocytes, increased LDH, increased CD34+ cells, pronounced splenomegaly, normal or decreased platelet counts, leucocytosis, or leukopaenia.	 MF 1 Early fibrotic CALR MGM slight reticulin fibrosis RF 2 MF 2 Fibrotic CALR MGM increase RF Grade 3 and slight to moderate collagen fibrosis MF 3 Advanced fibrotic CALR MGM with collagen fibrosis-osteosclerosis 		

The combination of A1 + A2 and P1 establishes JAK2 wildtype PMGM or CALR thrombocythaemia and various clinical stages (C1, C2, C3) with sequential stages of normocellular CALR thrombocythaemia (M) and hypercellular thrombocythaemia (MG) related to the degree of myelofibrosis.

CLM: Clinical, Laboratory, and Molecular; Hb: haemoglobin; PV: polycythaemia vera; CML: chronic myeloid leukaemia; PMGM: primary megakaryocytic granulocytic myeloproliferation; MDS: myelodysplastic syndrome; EMG: erthrocytic megakaryocytic granulocytic; RF: reticuline fibrosis; MF: myelofibrosis; LDH: lactate dehydrogenase.

Constantinescu. Kralovics. and Vainchenker measured STAT5 transcritional activity in CALR mutated and wildtype Ba/F3 cells along with a cytokine receptor TpoR, EpoR, and GCSFR.³² CALR mutants Type 1 and 2, but not wildtype CALR, did induce STAT5 activation via TpoR (MPL) and GCSFR, but not via EpoR, and not by CALR mutants lacking exon 9. The STAT5 activation via GSCFR was much weaker than via TpoR (MPL). CALR mutants Type 1 and 2 could not induce TpoR (MPL) activation in the absence of the JAK2 gene. In transiently HEK293 cells, CALR mutants induced dimerisation of JAK2 in the presence of TpoR (MPL), but not of EpoR. The extracelllar domain of TpoR (MPL), but not of EpoR, was indispensible for CALR mutant induced activity and the D1D2 distal part of the extracelluar TpoR domain and its associated N-glycosylation sites but not the TPO binding site in the D3D4 domain of TpoR control CALR mutant activity, which was more pronounced for CALR del52 (Type 1) than for CALR ins5 (Type 2) mutants. The Asn residues N117 and N178 present in D1D2 are key players in TpoR (MPL) activation by CALR mutants. Knocking down either MPL/TpoR or JAK2 in megakaryocytic progenitors from CALR thrombocythaemia patients inhibited cytokineindependent (spontaneous) megakaryocyte colony formation. Using a retrovirus mouse bone marrow transplant model clearly showed the induction MPL-mediated thrombocythaemia of an in CALR mutated mice.³⁵ CALR del52 Type 1 mutation and, to a lesser extent, CALR ins5 Type 2 mutation induced thrombocythaemia due to megakaryocytic myeloneoproliferation in the early post-bone marrow transplant period. The CALR-thrombocythaemia disease was transpantable into secondary recipients. After 6 months, CALR del2 Type 1 thrombocythaemia mice, in contrast to rare in CALR ins5 transduced mice, developed a MF phenotype associated with splenomegaly and marked osteosclerosis mimicking the natural history of CALR thrombocythaemia into MF, myeloid metaplasia of the spleen, and hypocellular MF in patients with JAK2/MPL wildtype PMGM (Table 3).^{20,21}

Araki et al.³⁶ found that expression of *CALR* mutants in UT-7/TPO and YT-7/EPO cells induces

TPO independent growth of UT-7/TPO cells but not of UT-7/EPO cells. C-MPL (TpoR) is required for this TPO-independent growth of UT-7/TPO cells. The *CALR* mutant specific carboxyterminal terminus portion (D1D2) binds to the P-domain of the *CALR* mutant to allow the N-domain of the mutant *CALR* to interact with c-MPL (TpoR), thereby explaining the gain-of function activity of CALR mutants Type 1 and 2. *CALR* mutants activate the *JAK2* downstream pathway via binding to c=MPL (TpoR) in UT-7/TPO cells and in TOP-independent megakaryopoiesis in induced pluripotent stem cells and this induction was blocked by *JAK2* inhibitors.

CONCLUSION

The cross sectional Korean MPN research study on GP characteristics³¹ could translate the 2016 WHO classification¹³ into a new set of improved EuroAsian CLMP criteria for the diagnosis and staging of MPN (Tables 1, 2, and 3).³⁷ The 2017 CLMP criteria will pick up asymptomatic latent, masked, early stage, and symptomatic overt stages of thrombocythemias and polycythaemias 5-10 years earlier compared to the 2008-2016 WHO classifications. Prefibrotic JAK2^{V617F} normocellular thrombocythaemia, prodromal PV, and the sequential stage of classical PV and masked advanced PV as well as prefibotic normocellular MPL thrombocythaemia and CALR thrombocythaemia ET in the complete absence of any signs of PV are poorly or not defined by the 2016 WHO classification.^{13,37} The EuroAsian CLMP criteria in Tables 1, 2, and 3 are based on detailed analysis and interpretation of recent advances in the molecular aetiology and pathobiology of JAK2 trilinear MPN, exon 12 PV, MPL thrombocythaemia, and CALR thrombocythaemia and MF, which have important prognostic and therapeutic implications.³⁷ The diagnostic differentiation staging related to the natural history of prefibrotic (MF 0/1) and fibrotic (MF 2/3) JAK2, MPL, and CALR mutated MPNs should be based on bone marrow megakaryocyte morphology, bone marrow cellularity due to increased erythropoiesis and/or granulopoiesis, JAK2, MPL, and CALR mutation load, and the degree of anaemia, bone marrow fibrosis, and splenomegaly.^{32,37}

REFERENCES

- 1. Dameshek W, Henstell HH. The diagnosis of polycythemia. Ann Intern Med. 1940; 13:1360-87.
- 2. Dameshek W. Physiopathology and

course of polycythemia vera as related to therapy. JAMA. 1950;142(11):790-7.

3. Dameshek W. Some speculations on the myeloproliferative syndromes. Blood 1951;

6(4):372-5.

4. Michiels JJ et al. The 2001 World Health Organization (WHO) and updated European clinical and pathological (ECP)

criteria for the diagnosis, classification and staging of the Ph1-chromosome negative chronic myeloproliferative disorders (MPD). Sem Thromb Hemostas. 2006;32(4):307-40.

5. Berlin NI. Diagnosis and classification of the polycythemias. Semin Hematol. 1975; 12(4):339-51.

6. Pearson TC, Whetherlet-Mein G. The course and complications of idiopathic erythrocytosis. Clin Lab Haematol. 1979; 1(3):189-96.

7. Lamy T et al. Inapparent polycythemia vera: an unrecognized diagnosis. Am J Med. 1997;102(1):14-20.

8. James C et al. A unique clonal JAK2 mutation leading to constitutive signaling causes polycythemia var. Nature. 2005; 434(7037):1144-8.

9. Vainchenker W, Constantinescu S. A unique activatingmutation in JAK2 (V617F) is at the origin of polycythemia vera and allows a new classification of myeloprolifeative disease. Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program. 2005: 195-200.

10. Villeval JL et al. New insights into the pathogenesis of JAK2 V617F-positive myeloproliferative disorders and consequences for the management of patients. Sem Thromb Hemostas. 2006; 32(4):341-51.

11. Moliterno AR et al. Phenotypic variability within the JAK2 V617F-positive MPD: roles of progenitor cell and neutrophil allele burdens. Exp Hematol. 2008;36(11): 1480-6.

12. Michiels JJ et al. Increased Erythrocyte Count on Top of Bone Marrow Histology but not Serum EPO Level or JAK2 Mutation Load Discriminates between JAK2V617F Mutated Essential Thrombocythemia and Polycythemia Vera. J Hematol Thromb Dis.2015;1:S1001.

13. Arber DA et al. The 2016 revision to the World Health Organization classification of myeloid neoplasms and acute leukemia. Blood. 2016;127(20):2391-405. Erratum in: Blood. 2016;128:462-3.

14. Rumi E et al. JAK2 or CALR mutation status defines subtypes of essential thrombocythemia with substantially different clinical course and outcomes. Blood. 2014;123(10):1544-51.

15. Mead AJ et al. Germline JAK2 mutation in a family with hereditery thrombocytosis. New Eng J Med. 2012;366(10):967-9.

16. Mead AJ et al. Impact of isolated germline JAK2V617I mutation on human hematopoiesis. Blood. 2013;121(20): 4156-65.

17. Etheridge SL et al. A novel activating, germline JAK2 mutation, JAK2R564Q, causes familial essential thrombocytosis. Blood. 2014;123(7):1059-68.

18. Pardanani A et al. MPL515 mutations in myeloproliferative and other myeloid disorders: a study of 1182 patients. Blood. 2006;108(10):3472-6.

19. Jones AV et al. The JAK2 46/1 haplotype predisposes to MPL-mutated myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2010;115(22):4517-23.

20. Michiels JJ et al. Changing concepts of diagnostic criteria of myeloproliferative disorders and the molecular etiology and classification of myeloproliferative neoplasms: from Dameshek 1950 to Vainchenker 2005 and beyond. Acta Haematol. 2015;133(1):36-51.

21. Michiels JJ et al. European vs 2015-World Health Organization clinical molecular and pathological classification of myeloproliferative neoplasms. World J Hematol. 2015;4(3):16-53.

22. Klampfl T et al. Somatic mutations of calreticulin in myeloproliferative neoplasms. N Eng J Med. 2013;369(25): 2379-90.

23. Nangalia J et al. Somatic CALR mutations in myeloproliferative neoplasms with nonmutated JAK2. N Engl J Med. 2013;369(25):2391-405.

24. Tefferi A et al. Type 1 versus Type 2 calreticulin mutations in essential thrombocythemia: a collaborative study of 1027 patients. Am J Hematol. 2014; 89(8):E121-4.

25. Cabagnols X et al. Differential association of calreticulin type 1 and type 2 mutations with myelofibrosis and essential thrombocytemia: relevance for disease evolution. Leukemia. 2015;29(1): 249-52.

26. Andrikovics H et al. Distinct clinical characteristics of myeloproliferative neoplasms with calreticulin mutations. Haematologica. 2014;99(7):1184-90.

27. Kondo T et al. Low neutrophil alkaline phosphatase score is a new aspect of calreticulin-mutated myeloproliferative neoplasms. Springerplus. 2016;5(1):1146.

28. Vannucchi AM et al. Prospective identification of high-risk polycythemia vera patients based on JAK2V617F allele burden. Leukemia. 2007;21:1952-9.

29. Rumi E et al. Clinical effect of driver mutations of JAK2, CALR, or MPL in primary myelofibrosis. Blood. 2014;124(7): 1062-9.

30. Rotonno G et al. Impact of calreticulin mutations on clinical and hematological phenotype and outcome in essential thrombocythemia. Blood. 2014;123(10): 1552-5.

31. Kim Y et al. Genetic-pathologic characterization of myeloproliferative neoplasms. Exp Mol Med. 2016;48:e247.

32. Chachoua I et al. Thrombopoietin receptor activation by myeloproliferative neoplasm associated calreticulin mutants. Blood. 2016;127(10):1325-35.

33. Godfrey AL et al. JAK2V617F homozygosity arises commonly and recurrently in PV and ET, but PV is characterized by expansion of a dominant homozygous subclone. Blood. 2012; 120(13):2704-7.

34. Michiels JJ, Thiele J. Clinical and pathological criteria for the diagnosis of essential thrombocythemia, polycythemia vera, and idiopathic myelofibrosis (agnogenic myeloid metaplasia). Int J Hematol. 2002;76(2):133-45.

35. Marty C et al. Calreticulin mutants in mice induce an MPL-dependent thrombocytosis with frequent progression to myelofibrosis. Blood. 2016;127(10): 1317-24.

36. Araki M et al. Activation of the thrombopoietin receptor by mutant calreticulin in CALR-mutant myeloproliferative neoplasms. Blood. 2016; 127(10):1307-16.

37. Michiels JJ et al. 2016 WHO clinical molecular and pathological criteria for classification and staging of myeloproliferative neoplasms (MPN) caused by MPN driver mutations in the JAK2, MPL and CALR genes in the contex of new 2016 WHO classification: prognostic and therapeutic implications. MAEDICA 2016;11(5):5-25.

THE 'NUCLEOLUS' HYPOTHESIS OF AUTOIMMUNE DISEASES AND ITS IMPLICATIONS

*Wesley H. Brooks,¹ Yves Renaudineau^{2,3}

1. Department of Chemistry, University of South Florida, Tampa, Florida, USA 2. INSERM ESPRI, ERI29/EA2216, LabEx IGO "Immunotherapy Graft Oncology", Réseau épigénétique et réseau canaux ioniques du Cancéropole Grand Ouest, European University of Brittany, Brest, France 3. Laboratory of Immunology and Immunotherapy, Brest University Medical School Hôpital, Morvan, Brest, France *Correspondence to wesleybrooks@usf.edu

Disclosure: The authors have declared no conflicts of interest. **Acknowledgements:** We are grateful to Geneviève Michel and Simone Forest for their help typing the manuscript. **Received:** 07.03.16 **Accepted:** 27.07.16 **Citation:** EMJ. 2017;2[2]:82-89.

ABSTRACT

Many autoimmune diseases, such as lupus and Sjögren's syndrome, have a female bias and adult onset. One possible explanation for this bias is disruption of the inactive X chromosome, which is a major epigenetic feature in female cells. Indeed, only one X chromosome is needed in male and female somatic cells because most X-linked genes are not sex-specific. Therefore, one of the two X chromosomes in each female cell is inactivated and appears as a heterochromatic body near the nuclear membrane. It has also been reported that the inactive X is often in close association with a nucleolus, as if nucleoli help maintain the inactive state. The main function of nucleoli is to assemble ribonucleoprotein complexes (RNPs) such as ribosomal subunits and splicing components. For that purpose, nucleoli have high levels of polyamines which assist with the folding and assembly of RNPs. However, as observed under abnormal circumstances such as cellular stress, the nucleolus is very active and can expand dramatically, potentially engulfing the inactive X, which is sandwiched between the nuclear membrane and the nucleolus. As a consequence, polyamines present in the nucleolus could stabilise autoantigenic complexes including those arising from disruption of the inactive X, or autosomes that contain nucleolar organising regions that keep those chromosomes near nucleoli. This suggests that a variety of seemingly unrelated autoantigens can occur in autoimmune diseases through this scenario. In fact, many autoantigens are, at least transiently, components of the nucleolus. Here, with particular emphasis on the inactive X chromosome, we discuss the 'nucleolus' hypothesis in which disruption of chromatin due to abnormal nucleolar exposure can lead to autoimmune diseases.

<u>Keywords:</u> Epigenetics, nucleolus, autoimmune diseases, X chromosome, polyamines, lupus, rheumatoid arthritis (RA), multiple sclerosis (MS), Sjögren's syndrome (SjS).

INTRODUCTION

More than 80 autoimmune diseases have been identified, affecting 5-8% of the population as a whole, but many of these diseases share common triggers, symptoms, and patterns making differential diagnosis difficult.¹ For example, both systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) and rheumatoid arthritis (RA) exhibit autoantibodies targeting histones and Z-DNA, which is an infrequent conformation compared with B-DNA.²⁻⁴ As another example,

an increase in citrullinated proteins occurs in RA (citrullinated collagen) and multiple sclerosis (MS) (citrullinated myelin basic protein), suggesting possible common abnormalities in the functioning of peptidylarginine deiminase enzymes which convert arginine residues to citrulline in special circumstances such as NETosis.^{5,6} These common aspects of autoimmune diseases can provide hints about their underlying mechanisms.⁷ The fact that the majority of patients with SLE, RA, MS, and Sjögren's syndrome (SjS) are female suggests involvement of the X chromosome (Table 1). Table 1: Arguments supporting the nucleolus hypothesis with regards to the inactive X chromosome in autoimmune diseases.

	SLE	SjS	RA	
Sex ratio (female:male)	9:1	9:1	3:1	
Elevated levels of polyamine metabolism ^{54,55}			yes	
Effect of polyamine autoantibodies ⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸	Anti-dsDNA		PADI	
X chromosome				
PAR1 neg ⁵⁹	Dysregulation			
LINE, Alu neg ⁶⁰	Dysregulation			
HERV	Dysregulation			
CD40L	Dysregulation			
Xi reactivation ⁶¹	Yes			
X gene overexpression62	CD40L, TLR7, CXCR3			

SLE: systemic lupus erythematosus; SjS: Sjögren's syndrome; RA: rheumatoid arthritis; HERV: human endogenous retroviruses; Anti-dsDNA: anti-double stranded DNA; TLR7: toll-like receptor 7; CXCR3: C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 3; PADI: peptidylarginine deiminase.

The fact that SjS can be a primary disease or secondary to SLE, RA, or MS, suggests commonalities among these four diseases.⁸ Another common aspect is that they have adult onset and episodes can be triggered by stressful events, such as infections.^{9,10} Adult onset suggests manifestation may arise from accumulation of damage by repeated stresses to cells of the immune system (immune-driven) or cells targeted by the immune system (antigen-driven). The diseases could have a similar mechanism at the cellular level, but differ in symptoms due to occurrence in different tissues or sites with more or less access to the immune response and to systemic circulation of autoantigen-autoantibody complexes, for example, behind the blood-brain barrier versus circulating in the blood. Although a genetic basis is suspected and some statistically significant genetic associations have been reported, in most cases the specific mutations considered to be the main causes of autoimmune diseases have not been found; this suggests that genetic differences may be contributing factors.^{11,12} As a result, the scope of hypotheses and research have recently expanded to include possible epigenetic involvement, because epigenetic changes can accumulate under environmental influence and lead to altered gene expression without there necessarily being associated genetic mutations.¹³⁻¹⁹

THE INACTIVE X CHROMOSOME

Most genes on the X chromosome are not sexspecific. Therefore, female cells with two (or more) X chromosomes only need one active X to give the same expression levels of X-linked genes as seen from the one X in male cells. Attaining this equivalency of X-linked expression is referred to as X-linked dosage compensation. Early in embryogenesis, each female cell randomly chooses to inactivate either the paternally-derived or the maternally-derived X. Then each daughter cell will inherit this choice so that the adult is a mosaic of areas where all cells have the paternally-derived X inactivated and, in a neighbouring area, all cells will have the maternally-derived X inactivated. Expression and accumulation on the inactive X of the X-inactive specific-transcript RNA is a major step in establishing X inactivation;²⁰ it recruits epigenetic silencing factors such as histone deacetylases and DNA methyltransferases to the inactive X. The end result is that the inactive X is a dense heterochromatic structure with 75-85% of its genes epigenetically silenced.^{21,22} The inactive X localises to the nuclear periphery against the nuclear membrane, as if it has been pushed aside by more active chromosomes. This puts the inactive X in a vulnerable situation as the periphery is less accessible for DNA repair, replication, and methylation. The inactive X is the last chromosome to complete replication in late S phase, but requires more effort for DNA

repair and methylation, scaffold attachment, and repackaging at a time when the methyl donor, S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), may be at low levels due to recent methylation of other chromosomes.

Adding to these difficulties, the X has fragile sites that can contain chromosome breakpoints or unresolved alternate DNA conformations that impede progression of repair and replication. Completion of replication can be delayed in some regions of the inactive X until late S phase or early Gap 2.²³ This can lead to loss of genes (from chromosome breaks), unequal distribution of chromatin to daughter cells, or reactivation of previously silenced DNA when epigenetic control cannot be properly re-established. With age and repeated episodes of stress, there can be chromatin opening and loss of dosage compensation, i.e. gene reactivation on the inactive X.

THE NUCLEOLUS AND POLYAMINES

The nucleolus is a prominent nuclear component, appearing in stained cells as an area mostly devoid of DNA in the nucleus, but the nucleolus does not have a membrane to act as a strict selective barrier. The nucleolus is one of the most active, dynamic, and multifunctional cellular structures, frequently changing its contents and size depending on the cell's demands for RNA processing and protein synthesis.²⁴ The main function of the nucleolus is to fold RNA transcripts and assemble ribonucleoprotein complexes (RNPs), such as ribosomal subunits, splicing components, transfer RNA (tRNA), signal recognition particles, and small nuclear RNAs.^{25,26} Some RNA transcripts are expressed in the nucleolus while others are transported into the nucleolus. Folding and macromolecular complex assembly that occurs in the nucleolus requires sufficient open space free of most chromatin, so that large linear RNA transcripts can be folded properly and bind specific proteins required in the RNP.

The Sicca syndrome (SS)-A/Ro and SS-B/La antigen proteins are found in the nucleolus where they act as chaperones that assist in movement and maturation of RNA transcripts and assist in identifying and refolding misfolded transcripts. Nucleolin is a multifunctional protein comprising 10% of the nucleolar proteins. Among its functions, nucleolin assists in chromatin decondensation and assists in expression and assembly of ribosomal subunits. SS-A/Ro, SS-B/La, and nucleolin are

frequently targeted as autoantigens in SLE, SjS, and scleroderma. $^{\rm 27\text{-}29}$

The nucleolus also contains high levels of the polyamines spermidine and spermine compared to the rest of the cell (Figure 1a, top), which assist in RNA folding in the nucleolus. Polyamines are suspected of having a role in autoimmune diseases.³⁰ RNA transcripts in the nucleolus have an abundance of negatively charged phosphate groups along their length such that self-repulsion makes the RNA incapable of tight folding on its own. Therefore, there is a need for polyamines as counter ions to assist in the folding. Polyamines have unique combinations of length, flexibility, and high positive charge that are beneficial in many cellular functions.^{31,32} This allows a polyamine to bind and neutralise several neighbouring phosphates in RNA to facilitate bending and intrastrand hybridisation of bases to form helices. These polyamine and RNA interactions are usually transient but folding can persist long enough for further folding or protein binding to occur. In some cases polyamines remain bound in the final tertiary structure, such as spermine bound in the bend of tRNA between the acceptor stem and the anti-codon arm.^{33,34} The importance of polyamines in folding and assembly in the nucleolus is supported by the facts that polyamines are at their highest levels in the nucleolus and dramatic increases in the size of nucleoli during cell growth and stress response correspond directly to increased polyamine synthesis.³⁵⁻³⁷ Cells need to synthesise proteins and RNPs that will help in recovery from stress or support growth, thus there is increased demand for nucleolar activity requiring polyamines. Viruses also want to take over a host cell's nucleoli to produce viral components which require nucleolar products. Therefore, active viruses induce increased polyamine synthesis as an initial step in taking over control of the nucleoli.

Although polyamines are essential in many functions, polyamine synthesis and recycling must be tightly controlled to avoid potential detrimental effects (Figure 1b). Putrescine, the precursor of spermidine, is normally kept only in trace amounts in the cell to suppress polyamine synthesis as putrescine can bind an allosteric site in S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase (AMD1) increasing AMD1 activity.³⁸ AMD1 converts SAM to decarboxylated S-adenosylmethionine (dcSAM). SAM is the cellular methyl donor whereas dcSAM cannot be used as a methyl donor. Polyamine synthesis therefore competes directly with cellular

methylation, which is important in epigenetic control of gene expression. Overexpression of polyamines could potentially lower SAM levels sufficiently such that some epigenetic silencing could be lost, allowing reactivation of genes with unpredictable consequences. Putrescine must also be kept low to avoid formation of nuclear aggregates of polyamines (NAPs) (Figure 1a, bottom). NAPs are complexes of phosphate ions with putrescine, spermidine, and spermine. NAPs have been observed in vivo and are suspected of binding cellular macromolecular complexes, possibly stabilising them in autoantigenic forms which may be more protected from nucleases and proteases by NAPs compared with individual polyamines (Figure 2).³⁹

Two polyamine genes, spermine synthase (SMS) and spermidine/spermine N1 acetyltransferase (SAT1), are located on the X chromosome at Xp22.1. Normally SMS and SAT1 are silenced on the inactive

X.^{21,40} However, loss of dosage compensation could lead to SMS and SAT1 overexpression. This could lead to wasteful synthesis and recycling of polyamines, wasting SAM needed for methylation. SAT1 can undergo superinduction, (i.e. expression increased several hundred fold).⁴¹ In polyamine recycling, SAT1 acetylates spermine to acetylated spermine, which is oxidised to spermidine, and spermidine can be acetylated and oxidised to putrescine, thereby providing an abnormal increase in putrescine that can allosterically increase AMD1 activity to support new polyamine synthesis. This alternate route of putrescine production via polyamine recycling could support NAP formation. In addition, further oxidation of putrescine can create acrolein, a very toxic compound, the appearance of which shows a strong correlation with the intensity of SjS.⁴² Therefore, maintenance of the inactive X is important to avoid consequences of abnormal polyamine synthesis and recycling.



Figure 1: Polyamines.

A) Polyamines: spermidine (+3), spermine (+4), the precursor putrescine (+2), and depiction of a small nuclear aggregate of polyamines (sNAP) containing phosphate ions (believed to be HPO₄⁻²), putrescine, spermidine and spermine. NAPs have been observed *in vitro* and *in vivo*;³⁹ B) Polyamine synthesis and recycling pathways. Ornithine is converted to putrescine by ornithine decarboxylase (ODC). Putrescine can allosterically increase S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase (AMD1) activity to convert S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) to decarboxylated SAM (dcSAM) competing with cellular methylation for SAM. dcSAM provides aminopropyl groups for polyamine synthesis by SRM (spermidine synthase) and SMS (spermine synthase). Polyamines can be recycled with acetylation by SAT1 (spermidine/spermine N1 acetyltransferase) followed by oxidation by polyamine oxidase (PAO). Therefore, two routes exist for generating putrescine, which is normally at only trace amounts to control polyamines. ODC is one of the most tightly controlled enzymes in cells to control polyamine synthesis. Note: *SMS* (synthesis) and *SAT1* (recycling) genes are at Xp22.1 and are normally inactive on the inactive X.²¹ Reactivation of *SMS* or *SAT1* from the inactive X could lead to detrimental consequences, such as formation of NAPs.



Figure 2: Z-DNA with spermine and nuclear aggregates of polyamines. A) Depiction of Z-DNA with spermine and NAPs; B) Close-up. Note how NAPs could bind in the Z-DNA minor groove with polyamines, assisting each other and providing more resistance to nucleases and stability to potentially autoantigenic conformations. NAPs: nuclear aggregates of polyamines.

Increased polyamines and acetylated polyamines could throw off efficient nucleolar functioning and cause misfolding, misassembly, and stabilisation of abnormal conformations of DNA, RNA transcripts, and associated proteins. Persistence of these structures in potentially autoantigenic forms could lead to an autoimmune response. For example, the SS-A/Ro and SS-B/La proteins and nucleolin chaperone RNA transcripts and associated proteins through nucleolar processing. These proteins also help identify abnormal folding and assembly. Recently, the SS-B/La autoantigen has been demonstrated to be dysregulated at the epigenetic level in salivary gland epithelial cells from patients with primary SjS.⁴³⁻⁴⁵ As such, they could be frequent common epitopes within larger complexes that contain autoantigenic epitopes. SS-A/Ro, SS-B/La and nucleolin could be targeted because of 'guilt

by association' with misfolded RNAs stabilised by an overabundance of polyamines.

THE 'NUCLEOLUS' HYPOTHESIS

The inactive X has been reported to be in close association with nucleoli in 90% of cells in S phase and about one-third of cells in the overall cell cycle, except for mitosis during which the nucleoli disappear.⁴⁶ Expansion of the nucleolus due to cellular stress could potentially involve engulfment of some or all of the inactive X (Figure 3).³⁴ This would expose the inactive X to high levels of polyamines in the nucleolus, and there could be putrescine and NAPs from abnormal polyamine synthesis and recycling. Some of the inactive X is euchromatic, such as the *PAR1* region that escapes inactivation.⁴⁷ Inactive peptidylarginine deiminase 4

(PAD4), a calcium-activated enzyme that converts arginine residues into neutral citrulline, localises to euchromatin. When PAD4 is activated such as during NETosis, citrullinated histories lose their hold on DNA resulting in chromatin opening. We have proposed previously that polyamines could activate PAD4 in place of calcium.48 For example, two calcium binding sites are 13.5 Å apart, which could potentially bind spermine. The other three calcium binding sites are in alignment spanning 11.0 Å which is similar to the length of spermidine. Thus, PAD4 associated with the inactive X could become active when exposed to high nucleolar polyamine levels. This would open more of the inactive X, allowing reactivation of genes. As the nucleolus returns to normal, newly opened X-linked chromatin could bind transcription factors and polymerases. Of particular concern is a high concentration of Alu elements

in PAR1. Alu elements comprise ~10% of the human genome but 28.8% the PAR1 region of the X.49 Normally these ≥2,500 Alu elements would be silenced by a positioned nucleosome but exposure to high levels of polyamines and polyamineactivated PAD4 could lead to expression of these Alu elements by RNA polymerase III (Pol III). The SS-A/Ro and SS-B/La proteins associate with Pol III transcripts to assist maturation, including the refolding of misfolded transcripts. This sudden appearance of Alu transcripts could take up the available SS-A/Ro and SS-B/La, hampering maturation and refolding of other Pol III transcripts. In addition, Alu transcripts can form intrastrand hybridisation that can be stabilised by polyamines in potentially autoantigenic forms or they can compete with the Alu domain of the signal recognition particles for proteins.³⁴



Figure 3: The 'nucleolus' hypothesis.

A) The inactive X (red) is in close association with a nucleolus (grey) in 90% of cells in S phase and one-third of cells throughout the cell cycle.⁴⁶ This puts one of the most inactive components of the nucleus, the inactive X, next to one of the most active and dynamic components, the nucleolus. Normally the inactive X is located at the nuclear membrane. B) Stress can cause a rapid increase in the size of the nucleolus as it is called on to produce more ribonucleoproteins needed for recovery. Increased nucleolar size is directly related to increased polyamines which assist in folding and assembly of ribonucleoproteins in the nucleolus.³⁵ The enlarged nucleolus could engulf the inactive X, exposing it to high levels of polyamines and NAPs. Inactive PAD4 localised in euchromatin (such as *PAR1* of the inactive X⁴⁷) could be abnormally activated by binding polyamines instead of calcium.⁴⁸ PAD4 could open previously sequestered genes. C) With cell recovery, X-linked genes may be overexpressed including reactivated genes on the inactive X (green border). Abnormally high levels of polyamines and NAPs, along with reduced cellular methylation, could lead to generation of abnormal DNA, RNA, and RNP conformations stabilised by polyamines and NAPs in autoantigenic forms.

NAPs: nuclear aggregates of polyamines; PAD4: peptidylarginine deiminase 4; RNP: ribonucleoprotein complex.

When released, negative supercoiling stress previously stored in nucleosomes on the Alu elements would flux through the DNA and potentially form Z-DNA that could be stabilised by polyamines and NAPs. In addition, there is a fully functional *LINE1* reverse transcriptase in the inactive X short arm.³⁴ If this is expressed, it could reverse transcribe Alu transcripts to create hypomethylated Alu DNA. Li and Steinman⁵⁰ reported a high percentage of Alu DNA in the free DNA of lupus patients' sera and proposed that it could be reverse-transcribed DNA.

IMPLICATIONS

This discussion has focussed on the inactive X and nucleolus association, which could explain female predominance of some autoimmune diseases, yet we should keep in mind that chromosomes 13, 14, 15, 21, and 22 have nucleolar organising regions that keep them in close association with the nucleolus. They could also be disrupted by a nucleolar stress response and result in similar consequences as described for the inactive X chromosome.

Alu elements and other repetitive elements such as human endogenous retroviruses are important in the hypothesis,⁵¹⁻⁵³ particularly the high Alu concentration in *PAR1* of the X. Mice do not have any significant amounts of Alu elements; the mouse X consists of only a long arm and no short arm, so inactivation is established relatively consistently on the mouse X. As such, it has been difficult to study partial X reactivation in mice. The human X has both a short and long arm separated by a centromere, making the X inactivation state less consistent. These differences between human and mouse X chromosomes explain why studies on X-linked epigenetics in autoimmune diseases are problematic when using mouse models.

Finally, the close proximity of a functional *LINE1* reverse-transcriptase to a high concentration of Alu elements in the X short arm has very interesting possibilities with regards to retrotransposition events and how stress could trigger such events.

CONCLUSIONS

The 'nucleolus' hypothesis provides a comprehensive explanation for: i) the female bias of many autoimmune diseases, ii) generation of a broad range of autoantigens many of which are at least transiently in the nucleolus, iii) a common mechanism that can relate to different autoimmune diseases, and iv) major involvement of epigenetics in autoimmune diseases.

REFERENCES

1. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institutes of Health, Autoimmune diseases coordinating committee. Autoimmune diseases research plan. NIH publication no. 03-5140. December 2002. Available at: http://www. niaid.nih.gov/topics/autoimmune/documents/adccreport.pdf. Last accessed: 24 August 2016.

2. Sibley JT et al. Left-handed "Z" DNA antibodies in rheumatoid arthritis and systemic lupus erythematosus. J Rheumatol. 1984;11(5):633-7.

3. Van Helden PD. Potential Z-DNAforming elements in serum DNA from human systemic lupus erythematosus. J Immunol. 1985;134(1):177-9.

4. Krishna P et al. Interactions of anti-DNA antibodies with Z-DNA. Clin Exp Immunol. 1993;92(1):51-7.

5. Baka Z et al. Citrullination under physiological and pathological conditions. Joint Bone Spine. 2012;79(5):431-6.

6. Khandpur R et al. NETs are a source of citrullinated autoantigens and stimulate inflammatory responses in rheumatoid arthritis. Sci Transl Med. 2013;5(178):178ra40.

7. Le Dantec C et al. Epigenomic revolution in autoimmune diseases. World J Immunol. 2015;5(2):62-7.

8. Le Dantec C et al. Similarities and Differences of Epigenetic Mechanisms in Lupus and Sjögren's Syndrome. Lupus Open Access. 2015;1:e101.

9. Toussirot É, Roudier J. Epstein-Barr virus in autoimmune diseases. Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol. 2008;22(5):883-96.

10. Le Dantec C et al., "How the Environment Influences Epigenetics, DNA Methylation, and Autoimmune Diseases," Lu Q et al. (eds), Epigenetics and Dermatology (2015), Amsterdam: Academic Press, pp.467-87.

11. Konsta OD et al. Genetics and Epigenetics of Autoimmune Diseases. eLS. 2015;1-9.

12. Konsta OD et al. An in silico Approach Reveals Associations between Genetic and Epigenetic Factors within Regulatory Elements in B Cells from Primary Sjögren's Syndrome Patients. Front Immunol. 2015; 6:437. 13. Brooks WH et al. Epigenetics and autoimmunity. J Autoimmun. 2010;34(3): J207-19.

14. Lu Q et al. Epigenetics in autoimmune disorders: highlights of the 10th Sjögren's Syndrome Symposium. Autoimmunity Rev. 2010;9(9):627-30.

15. Konsta OD et al. The contribution of epigenetics in Sjögren's Syndrome. Front Genet. 2014;5:71.

16. Zare-Shahabadi A et al. MicroRNAs and multiple sclerosis: from physiopathology toward therapy. Expert Opin on Ther Targets. 2013;17(12):1497-507.

17. Le Dantec C et al. Epigenetics and Sjogren's syndrome. Curr Pharm Biotechnol. 2012;13(10):2046-53.

18. Renaudineau Y et al. Epigenetic alterations and autoimmune disease. J Dev Orig Health Dis. 2011;2(5):258-64.

19. Garaud S et al., "DNA methylation and B-cell autoreactivity," Ballestar E (ed.), Epigenetic Contributions in Autoimmune Disease (2011), Landes Bioscience and Springer Science+Business Media, LLC, pp.50-60. 20. Froberg JE et al. Guided by RNAs: X-inactivation as a model for IncRNA function. J Mol Biol. 2013;452(19): 3698-706.

21. Carrel L, Willard HF. X-inactivation profile reveals extensive variability in X-linked gene expression in females. Nature. 2005;434(7031):400-4.

22. Cotton AM et al. Analysis of expressed SNPs identifies variable extents of expression from the human inactive X chromosome. Genome Biol. 2013; 14(11):R122.

23. Hansen RS et al. Association of fragile X syndrome with delayed replication of the FMR1 gene. Cell. 1993;73(7):1403-9.

24. Lam YW, Trinkle-Mulcahy L. New insights into nucleolar structure and function. F1000Prime Reports. 2015;7:48.

25. Pederson T. The plurifunctional nucleolus. Nucleic Acids Res. 1998;26(17): 3871-6.

26. Kuglstatter A et al. Induced structural changes of 7SL RNA during the assembly of human signal recognition particle. Nat Struct Biol. 2002;9(10):740-4.

27. Minota S et al. Autoantibodies to nucleolin in systemic lupus erythematosus and other diseases. J Immunol. 1991;146(7):2249-52.

28. Harley JB et al. Anti-Ro in Sjogren's syndrome and systemic lupus erythematosus. Rheum Dis Clin North Am. 1992;18(2):337-58.

29. Renaudineau Y et al., "Autoanticorps dans les maladies systémiques," Traité des maladies et syndromes systémiques (2014), Flammarion Medecine Sciences, pp.1-32.

30. Brooks WH. Autoimmune diseases and polyamines. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2012;42(1):58-70.

31. Moinard C et al. Polyamines: metabolism and implications in human diseases. Clin Nutr. 2005;24(2):184-97.

32. Pegg AE. Mammalian polyamine metabolism and function. IUBMB Life. 2009;61(9):880-94.

33. Jovine L et al. The crystal structure of yeast phenylalanine tRNA at 2.0 A resolution: cleavage by Mg(2+) in 15-year old crystals. J Mol Biol. 2002;301(2): 401-14.

34. Brooks WH, Renaudineau Y. Epigenetics and autoimmune diseases: the X chromosome- nucleolus nexus. Front Genet. 2015;6:22.

35. Whelly SM. Role of polyamines in the regulation of RNA synthesis in uterine nucleoli. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.

1991;39(2):161-7.

36. Gfeller E et al. Ultrastructural changes in vitro of rat liver nucleoli in response to polyamines. Z Zellforsch Mikrosk Anat. 1972;129(4):447-54.

37. Shin M et al. Immunocytochemical demonstration of polyamines in nucleoli and nuclei. Histochem Cell Biol. 2008; 129(5):659-65.

38. Bale S et al. Structural basis for putrescine activation of human S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase. Biochemistry. 2008;47(50):13404-17.

39. lacomino G et al. DNA and nuclear aggregates of polyamines. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2012;1823(10):1745-55.

40. Carrel L et al. A first-generation X-inactivation profile of the human X chromosome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(25):14440-4.

41. Chopra S, Wallace HM. Induction of spermidine/spermine N1acetyltransferase in human cancer cells in response to increased production of reactive oxygen species. Biochem Pharmacol. 1998;55(7):1119-23.

42. Higashi K et al. Intense correlation between protein-conjugated acrolein and primary Sjögren's syndrome. Clin Chim Acta. 2010;411(5-6):359-63.

43. Konsta OD et al. Defective DNA methylation in salivary gland epithelial acini from patients with Sjögren's syndrome is associated with SSB gene expression, anti-SSB/LA detection, and lymphocyte infiltration. J Autoimmun. 2016;68:30-8.

44. Thabet Y et al. Epigenetic dysregulation in salivary glands from patients with primary Sjögren's syndrome may be ascribed to infiltrating B cells. J Autoimmun. 2013;41:175-81.

45. Thabet Y et al. Altered patterns of epigenetic changes in systemic lupus erythematosus and auto-antibody production: is there a link? J Autoimmun. 2012;39(3):154-60.

46. Zhang LF et al. Perinucleolar targeting of the inactive X during S phase: Evidence for a role in the maintenance of silencing. Cell. 2007;129(4):693-706.

47. Blaschke RJ, Rappold G. The pseudoautosomal regions, SHOX and disease. Curr Opin Genet Dev. 2006; 16(3):233-9.

48. Brooks WH. Increased polyamines alter chromatin and stabilize autoantigens in autoimmune diseases. Front Immunol. 2013;4:91.

49. Ross MT et al. The DNA sequence

of the human X chromosome. Nature. 2005;434(7031):325-37.

50. Li JZ, Steinman CR. Plasma DNA in systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 1989;32(6):726-33.

51. Le Dantec C et al. Human endogenous retrovirus group E and its involvement in diseases. Viruses. 2015;7(3):1238-57.

52. Fali T et al. DNA methylation modulates HRES1/p28 expression in B cells from patients with Lupus. Autoimmunity. 2014; 47(4):265-71.

53. Garaud S et al. IL-6 modulates CD5 expression in B cells from patients with lupus by regulating DNA methylation. J Immunol. 2009;182(9):5623-32.

54. Nesher G et al. In vitro effects of methotrexate on polyamine levels in lymphocytes from rheumatoid arthritis patients. Clin Exp Rheumatol. 1996; 14(4):395-9.

55. Karouzakis E et al. Increased recycling of polyamines is associated with global DNA hypomethylation in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. Arthritis Rheum. 2012;64(6):1809-17.

56. Wang X et al. The effect of polyamines on the binding of anti-DNA antibodies from patients with SLE and normal human subjects. Clin Immunol. 2014;153(1): 94-103.

57. Ahmad A et al. Antigenicity of deoxyadenosine 5'-monophosphate cross-linked with polyamine. Biotechnol Appl Biochem. 1998;27(Pt 1):31-5.

58. Ali M et al. SLE autoantibodies recognize spermine induced Z-conformation of native calf thymus DNA. Biochem Mol Biol Int. 1996;40(4):787-97.

59. Chagnon P et al. Identification and characterization of an Xp22.33;Yp11.2 translocation causing a triplication of several genes of the pseudoautosomal region 1 in an XX male patient with severe systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Rheum. 2006;54(4):1270-8.

60. Garaud S et al. CD5 promotes IL-10 production in chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells through STAT3 and NFAT2 activation. J Immunol. 2011;186(8): 4835-44.

61. Wang J et al. Unusual maintenance of X chromosome inactivation predisposes female lymphocytes for increased expression from the inactive X. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2016;113(14):E2029-38.

62. Lu Q et al. Demethylation of CD40LG on the inactive X in T cells from women with lupus. J Immunol. 2007;179(9): 6352-8.

PAIN DURING ILLUSORY OWN ARM MOVEMENT: A STUDY IN IMMERSIVE VIRTUAL REALITY

Alessandro Zanini, Martina Montalti, Barbara Caola, Antony Leadbetter, *Matteo Martini

School of Psychology, University of East London, London, UK *Correspondence to m.martini@uel.ac.uk

Disclosure: The authors have declared no conflicts of interest.
Acknowledgements: The authors are thankful to Cameron Magrath and Jackson Davies for their help with data collection.
Support: This research was supported by UEL Research Capital Fund.
Received: 01.11.16 Accepted: 03.01.17
Citation: EMJ. 2017;2[2]:90-97.

ABSTRACT

Previous studies have demonstrated that the vision of one's own body, or of external embodied limbs, can lead to pain relieving outcomes. Analgesic effects have also been related to the vision of illusory limb movements. Nonetheless, whether these two processes can be put together to obtain a summatory analgesic effect is not yet clear. The aim of this work was to investigate if it is possible to combine the analgesic effects of looking at one's own body with those deriving from the illusion that one's own limb is moving. Thirty-eight healthy participants underwent four visual conditions in immersive virtual reality while their heat pain thresholds were measured. In different conditions the subject watched from a first-person perspective: i) a still virtual arm, ii) a moving virtual arm, iii) a still non-corporeal object, and iv) a moving non-corporeal object. All participants were asked to keep their arms completely still during the visual exposures. After each condition, participants answered questions about their illusory experience. Our results show that the vision of the 'own' body significantly increased participants' pain threshold as compared to the vision of the non-corporeal object. However, no statistically significant analgesic effect of vision of the virtual arm movement was found. The implications and limitations of this study are discussed.

<u>Keywords:</u> Virtual arm, virtual reality (VR), body ownership, pain threshold, pain modulation, multisensory integration, illusory kinaesthesia.

INTRODUCTION

The relationship between pain perception and body-part movement is not new. Many studies have shown how strong the bidirectional relationship between the two can be.¹ However, what is relatively new are studies relating limb pain and movement representation techniques such as mirror therapy, motor imagery, and movement observation.^{2,3} For instance, in the classic mirror therapy technique, patients with phantom limb pain move the healthy limb while watching its reflection on a mirror positioned in front of them, namely between the healthy limb and the residual limb. In this way, the patient has the illusion that the missing limb is back on its site and is fully functioning. The visual exposure to the illusory movement allows the reduction of the patient's perceived pain.^{4,5}

This is because of a modification of the body representation, which embodies the reflected limb, replacing the missing paralysed phantom one.⁶ At a neural level, studies making use of brain stimulation techniques have shown a link between pain states and motor neural networks, finding that a stimulation of the latter may positively translate into effective pain management.7-10 In one study combining transcranial direct current stimulation of the motor cortex and visual illusion on patients with spinal cord injuries, Soler et al.¹¹ found that, despite transcranial direct current stimulation and visual illusion being both valid analgesic techniques, the combination of the two yielded the greatest and longest lasting pain relief. In a successive work, Villiger et al.¹² found that the exposure to illusory own limb movements via a non-immersive virtual reality (VR)-augmented technique improved

neuropathic pain in patients with incomplete spinal cord injury. Similarly, watching a video of hand movements led to a body site-specific increase of the pressure pain threshold in a group of healthy participants.¹³

Interestingly, not only the vision of limb movement, but also the vision of the own body has been shown to yield analgesic benefits. Although some studies failed to find such an effect, the majority of studies have found a reduction of pain at the sight of the own body that holds true even during the observation of prosthetic or virtual body parts provided that these were perceived as belonging to the participants' own body.¹⁴

In support of this body-related visually induced analgesia, studies have pointed at an activation of the inhibitory GABAergic interneurons in the somatosensory areas in response to the vision of the own body.¹⁵⁻¹⁷ After all, a strong connection between internal body representation and pain conditions has been highlighted in several studies taking into account chronic pain patients that reported a distorted body image.¹⁸

VR is a tool that has been effectively used in neuro-rehabilitation and neuroscience, including pain management. For instance, it has been shown that VR can be effectively used as an adjunctive treatment in patients with severe burns, and that its effects are comparable to opioids.¹⁹⁻²¹ Interestingly, immersive VR ("a typical immersive VR system delivers stereo vision that is updated as a function of head tracking, possibly directional audio, and sometimes some type of limited haptic interface")²² gives the possibility to display digital characters (avatars) that can be seen from a first-person perspective (1pp). In this way, it is possible to deceive the brain and challenge the user's normal body representation, generating body ownership illusions (BOIs) over the avatar's body.²³ Based on these premises, in the current study we wanted to investigate whether the analgesic effects of vision of the own body could be added to the analgesic effect of the vision of illusory limb movement. To do so, participants were exposed to four different visual conditions in immersive VR, where either an avatar's arm or a non-corporeal object (i.e. a purple tube) were displayed in place of their real arm. Both the avatar's arm and the tube either performed a regular movement or kept still, while participants' arms were always still. Importantly, in a previous experiment (unpublished data) we found that it is possible to

induce BOI over a moving avatar's arm seen from a 1pp, despite the visuo-motor mismatch between the participant's still limb and the avatar's moving limb. Increasing ramps of heat stimuli were applied to the participants' wrists during the visual exposures. Our hypotheses were that participants' pain thresholds would be higher during the conditions where the avatar's arm was displayed, and highest during the vision of the moving avatar's arm. We also expected to find stronger BOIs in the body conditions, which were likely to be highest during the vision of the still avatar's arm (because of multisensory correspondence with the real arm). The strongest feeling of own arm movement illusion was predicted to be found in the avatar's arm moving condition.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Participants

Forty-two subjects were initially recruited for the experiment, a sample size based on previous similar studies.²⁴⁻²⁸ Four of these were discarded because their pain threshold was <40°C,²⁹ one because of an instructions breach, and another one because they were ambidextrous. Therefore, 36 healthy participants (20 females, mean±standard deviation [SD] age: 24.9±4.7 years, age range: 20-45) were included in the final analysis. They were all righthanded (mean±SD: 91.42±11.65, range: 62.5-100) according to the short version of the Edinburgh Handedness Inventory.³⁰ This was important because stimuli induction and visual representation involved the use of the right arm; therefore, only right-handed participants were considered in order to rule out possible confounding factors due to laterality, and to increase homogeneity within the sample. They had normal or corrected-to-normal vision, no history of neurological disorders, and no other condition potentially interfering with pain sensitivity (e.g. drug intake). Upon arrival at the laboratory they were asked to read and sign a consent form. The experiment was approved by the local ethics committee and was in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

Virtual Reality System

The stereoscopic head-mounted display (HMD) was an Oculus Rift DK2 (Oculus VR, Irvine, California, USA) with a resolution of 960x1080 per eye and a field of view of 100°, displayed at 60 Hz. The virtual environment was programmed using the Unity platform (Unity Technologies, San Francisco, California, USA). Noise isolation was ensured by the administration of pink noise via headphones, with a constant volume set at 70 dB sound pressure level.

Thermal Stimulation

Thermal heat stimuli were delivered by means of a TSA-II Neuro Sensory Analyzer (Medoc Ltd., Ramat Yishai, Israel), with a 30x30 mm thermode tied with a Velcro[®] strap on the palmar side of the right wrist. The probe temperature was increased from normal skin temperature (constant baseline temperature=32°C) at 2°C/s. Participants were asked to press a button with their left hand as soon as they perceived the stimulation as being painful. Immediately after pushing the kill-switch button the temperature reached was recorded as the pain threshold and the probe temperature rapidly decreased to the baseline level (32°C). A fixed maximal temperature of 51°C was set for safety reasons.

Procedure

Upon arrival, participants were invited to sit on a chair and to read and sign the consent form. Then an experimenter secured the thermode on the participant's right volar forearm close to the wrist, with a Velcro strap, ensuring the surface of the thermode remained in contact with the skin evenly. Before donning the HMD, participants were familiarised with the heat stimuli.

As the participants donned the HMD the room lights were turned off and the pink noise played. Regardless of the visual condition they were asked to visually explore the virtual scenario, and in particular to look down as if they were looking at their real body. All subjects went through the same four visual conditions (within subject design): i) a virtual body (avatar) seen from the 1pp, with its right arm still, ii) as in 'i' but the avatar's right arm moved, iii) no virtual body, only a virtual tube in replacement of the virtual right arm, and iv) as in 'iii' but the tube moved (see Figure 1 for all visual conditions). The conditions differed on the movement because the virtual object could be still or in motion, and on the nature of the virtual object, which could be similar to a real human arm or a simple purple tube. All participants completed the four conditions, with the order of the conditions being balanced across participants. The movement consisted of a constant angular speed (ω) of 5.0, and the object moved 22.5° towards the right and 22.5° towards the left horizontally, using the elbow as a pivot.

To match participants' physical features as much as possible, both the sex (male or female) and the avatar's skin colour (black or white) was pre-selected. Care was taken to match the position of the real participant's body to the virtual body as well as the real right arm and the right virtual arm/tube; the participants were asked to mimic the avatar's body posture as much as possible, particularly for the right arm position, until they felt perfectly co-located with the virtual body. Participants were asked to keep their arms still during all VR conditions and to focus their attention on the right virtual arm/tube. Before the visualisation of the virtual scenario, participants were asked to lay their right elbow on top of a small box, rendered in VR below the avatar's right elbow. This was done to limit the sensorial mismatch between the still real arm and the moving avatar's arm/tube (in the movement conditions) to the movement itself, and to limit the expected tactile sensation that would have been produced by the avatar's arm rubbing the table during the movement. To match the avatar's arms position, participants' lower arms were kept perpendicular to the shoulder-shoulder axis and at ~20 cm distance from the torso.

During each visual condition four heat stimuli were provided, with an inter-stimulus interval of 30 seconds; since the avatar's arm movement was kept constant and the end of the thermal stimulation was under the participants' control, the recording of the specific avatar's arm position by the time the heat stimulation was stopped was not possible, nor within the scope of this study. Each observational condition lasted for about 2 minutes. At the end of each condition, the thermal pain threshold was obtained by averaging the four participants' thresholds. A total of 16 heat ramps were administered by the end of the experiment. After the fourth heat pain threshold had been recorded the visual condition terminated with the removal of the HMD and the subject responded to the questionnaire.

Subjective Measures

A questionnaire at the end of each experimental condition was administered to measure the subjective feelings experienced by the subjects during exposure to VR. Items were partly selected from a questionnaire used in seminal work on virtual arm ownership.³¹ The order of the items was randomised per each condition and participant. Importantly, before the administration of the

questionnaires, participants were told that there
were no right or wrong responses and that the only
'right' response was the one that corresponded
to their feelings. This was done to ensure that
the data reflected the genuine experience of the
participants, hence limiting confounding factors
such as compliance with 'ideal' expected responses.
To ensure that each item was correctly interpreted,
the questionnaire was read to the participant by
the experimenter. Participants answered verbally
using a 7-point Likert scale, with 1 meaning 'totally
disagree' and 7 representing 'totally agree'.

Items:

- Q1: During the experiment there were moments in which I had the sensation of having more than one right arm.
- Q2: During the experiment there were moments in which I felt as if the virtual arm/tube was my own arm.
- Q3: During the experiment there were moments in which I felt as if my real arm was becoming virtual.

- Q4: During the experiment there were moments in which the virtual arm/tube started to look like my own arm in some aspects.
- Q5: During the experiment there were moments in which I had the sensation that the heat was coming from the virtual arm/tube.
- Q6: My attention was totally focussed on other things, for example, in what I was watching¹ or totally on the thermal stimulus.⁷
- Q7: During the experiment there were moments in which it seemed that my real arm was moving.

Data Handling

Single trial pain thresholds (in °C) were averaged for each visual condition and subject. Given the high variability between participants, a check of the outliers was carried out. Out of 144 values, 19 values were identified as outliers (>1.5-times the SD from the group's mean) and replaced with the mean scores of the group for the same visual condition.



Figure 1: Screenshots of the experimental conditions. From top left to bottom right: 1) arm still, 2) tube still, 3) arm move, 4) tube move.







Figure 2: Top row: mean and standard errors of the pain thresholds reported by the participants in each condition (from the left: 'Arm S', 'Arm M', 'Tube S', 'Tube M'). Centre and bottom: mean and standard errors of scores reported at each item of the questionnaire. Colours match the same conditions as in the ones depicted in the pain plot. Only significant contrasts are denoted.

*p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 (Bonferroni p-corrected level=0.0125). Arm S: arm still; Arm M: arm move; Tube S: tube still; Tube M: tube move. Resulting data from all conditions were normally distributed according to the Jargue-Bera and the Shapiro-Wilk tests³² (all p.>0.05). A 2x2 repeated-measures ANOVA (two factors: 'Body' and 'Movement', both with two levels) was then conducted on mean pain thresholds. The level of significance was set at p<0.05. Questionnaire scores were averaged across subjects per each item and visual condition. The resulting mean scores related to each question were subjected to Friedman ANOVAs. Post-hoc analysis was carried out with Wilcoxon Matched Pairs Tests, with a Bonferroni correction applied for the number of possible comparisons. These comparisons were carried out between 'arm still' versus 'arm move', 'arm still' versus 'tube still', 'arm move' versus 'tube move', and 'tube still' versus 'tube move'. This resulted in a significance level set at p<0.0125.

RESULTS

Pain Threshold

The one-way repeated-measures ANOVA revealed a main effect of the factor 'body' (F_{135} =5.30, p=0.027, Partial Eta squared=0.13) so that irrespective of the presence of movement, the vision of the avatar's arm was linked to a significantly higher pain threshold as compared with the vision of the object (Figure 2). No main effect of the factor 'movement', nor an interaction between the two factors 'body' and 'movement' were found to be significant (respectively: F_{135} =0.008 and F_{135} =0.88, all p_s >0.05). So, our first hypothesis that there would be a higher pain threshold during the vision of the avatar's arm was confirmed, while the second hypothesis that the highest pain threshold would be during the vision of the avatar's arm movement was not statistically supported.

Embodiment Scores

Analysis using Friedman ANOVA of Q1 scores reported a significant p-level (χ^2_3 =27.06, p=0.00001). The sensation of having more than one right arm reported in the 'arm still' condition was significantly higher compared with the 'tube still' condition (Wilcoxon post-hoc test, p=0.007) and that in the 'arm move' versus the 'tube move' condition (p=0.0003), despite the mean values from all conditions being very low.

On Q2 scores, the analysis with Friedman ANOVA showed a significant p-level (χ^2_3 =44.78, p<0.0001). As hypothesised, the sensation of

ownership towards the virtual corporeal or non-corporeal object reported in the 'arm still' condition was significantly higher than in the 'arm move' condition (Wilcoxon post-hoc test, p=0.0018) and also higher than the one in the 'tube still' condition (p=0.00004). Furthermore, the sensation of ownership reported in the 'arm move' condition was significantly higher than the one in the 'tube move' condition (p=0.00084).

The analysis with Friedman ANOVA on Q3 scores reported a significant p-level (χ^2_3 =30.50, p<0.00001). The illusion that the real arm was becoming virtual was significantly stronger in the 'arm still' condition compared with the 'tube still' one (Wilcoxon post-hoc test, p=0.001), and it was also significantly stronger in the 'arm move' condition compared with the 'tube move' condition (p=0.003).

Q4 scores, analysed with Friedman ANOVA, showed a significant p-level (χ^2_3 =64.14, p<0.00001). As expected, the sensation of similarity between the real arm and the virtual object reported in the 'arm still' condition was higher than the one reported in the 'tube still' condition (Wilcoxon post-hoc test, p<0.00001), and the same pattern is reported between the 'arm move' condition versus the 'tube move' (p=0.00001).

Analysis using Friedman ANOVA on Q5 scores reported a significant p-level (χ^2_3 =20.59, p=0.0001). In particular, the sensation that the heat was coming from the virtual arm/tube was stronger in the 'arm still' condition compared with the 'tube still' (Wilcoxon post-hoc test, p=0.0026). The analysis with Friedman ANOVA on Q6 scores failed to report a significant p-level (χ^2_3 =7.7, p>0.05). That meant that no significant differences were found in terms of attentional resources drawn by the different conditions.

Lastly, the analysis with Friedman ANOVA on Q7 scores reported a significant p-level (χ^2_3 =13.75, p=0.003). A slightly stronger sensation of own arm movement was found in the 'tube move' condition as compared with the 'tube still' condition (p=0.008). Thus, our original prediction that the highest arm movement illusion would be during the vision of the avatar's arm was not statistically supported. No other comparison was found to be significant.

DISCUSSION

The present study aimed at investigating whether it is possible to boost analgesia through the combination of the vision of the body and limb movement observation. However, with our set-up, we did not find a statistically relevant higher pain threshold during the vision of the avatar's arm movement. What we found is a main effect of the vision of the body, in line with previous studies reporting an analgesic effect by looking either at the real or the dummy body.³³⁻³⁵ At a subjective level, we found that the conditions where the arm was displayed reported significantly stronger levels of BOI (Q2) compared to the tube ones. If this result could be, on one hand, expected, on the other hand it appears less obvious when we consider that the tube, like the avatar's arm, was co-located with the real arm, and that even in the condition when the avatar's arm is moving the BOI was significantly stronger compared to the tube one. One could argue that the difference in pain threshold reported by this study could be due to a stronger capturing of participants' attention by the arm conditions compared to the tube conditions. Indeed, attention is one of the most important pain modulators,^{36,37} and VR-based distraction has been effectively used to reduce the pain felt by patients with severe burns undergoing clinical treatments.^{20,21} However, we did not find any significant difference between conditions in terms of attentional resources drawn, in fact the arm and tube conditions followed very similar trends on Q6. Hence, the variation in thermal pain thresholds may be because of the subjective experience related to BOI. In fact, overall, we found a significant difference between the arm conditions and the tube ones in the first four questions. Under BOI paradigms the illusion of having more than one right arm (Q1), the illusion that the real arm is becoming virtual/rubber (Q2), and that the virtual/rubber arm resembles the real one (Q3) are usually considered as control questions, but recently a relation between these illusory feelings and high levels of BOI has been found in some studies.³⁸⁻⁴⁰

Nonetheless, we failed at finding a significant effect of the movement factor on pain threshold, either alone or in combination with the body factor. This may be because the avatar's arm movement can be considered as an asynchronous feature, and previous studies demonstrated how synchronous and asynchronous conditions can affect the level of BOI.^{25,40} So, as shown by the subjective reports for the item on illusory movement (Q7), the feeling that "...my real arm was moving" is likely dampened by the multisensorial mismatch. In any case, although not statistically relevant, we still observed a clear trend in which the arm movement condition reported the highest pain threshold, even higher than in the condition where the avatar's arm is still; that is where the visual and the proprioceptive inputs are coherent. Recently it has been shown how the spatial correspondence between the real and the virtual arm is key to make the body-related visually induced analgesia stand out.41 In the present work, we found that despite the continuous visuo-spatial mismatch, the arm moving condition reported a slightly higher pain threshold compared to the arm still condition. Thus, despite the non-significant effect of movement, results are encouraging and future studies may want to further investigate the role of illusory own limb movement with slightly different experimental designs and/or set-ups. For instance, future works could investigate if different features of limb movement, such as speed, amplitude, or type of movement, may induce higher level of body ownership and of kinaesthetic illusion in the participants, to see whether and how this translates into pain modulation.

We are aware that the current study presents some limitations: for instance, the evaluation of the body ownership via self-reported questionnaire could have been accompanied by more objective measures, such as galvanic skin responses to a threat menacing the virtual arm. Also, a more realistic virtual arm could have helped improve the BOI during the avatar's arm conditions. Yet, it is notable that our results show that it is possible to generate an illusory sense of ownership over a moving virtual arm despite a strong visuo-motor mismatch between vision and proprioception. This may have therapeutic implications targeting patients with limb movement disorders or immobilised limbs.

REFERENCES

1. Laubenstein S, Beissner K. Exercise and Movement-based Therapies in Geriatric Pain Management. Clin Geriatr Med. 2016; 32(4):737-62.

2. Thieme H et al. The Efficacy of Movement Representation Techniques for

Treatment of Limb pain -- A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. J Pain. 2016; 17(2):167-80.

3. Bowering KJ et al. The effects of graded motor imagery and its components on chronic pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Pain. 2013;14(1):3-13.

4. Ramachandran VS et al. Size reduction using Mirror Visual Feedback (MVF) reduces phantom pain. Neurocase. 2009; 15(5):357-60. 5. Chan BL et al. Mirror therapy for phantom limb pain. N Engl J Med. 2007; 357(21):2206-7.

6. Ramachandran VS, Rogers-Ramachandran D. Synaesthesia in phantom limbs induced with mirrors. Proc Biol Sci. 1996;263(1369):377-86.

7. Bolognini N et al. Motor and parietal cortex stimulation for phantom limb pain and sensations. Pain. 2013;154(8):1274-80.

8. Dubé JA, Mercier C. Effect of pain and pain expectation on primary motor cortex excitability. Clin Neurophysiol. 2011; 122(11):2318-23.

9. Arle JE, Shils JL. Motor cortex stimulation for pain and movement disorders. Neurotherapeutics. 2008;5(1):37-49.

10. Reyns N et al. Motor cortex stimulation modulates defective central beta rhythms in patients with neuropathic pain. Clin Neurophysiol. 2013;124(4):761-9.

11. Soler MD et al. Effectiveness of transcranial direct current stimulation and visual illusion on neuropathic pain in spinal cord injury. Brain. 2010;133(9): 2565-77.

12. Villiger M et al. Virtual realityaugmented neurorehabilitation improves motor function and reduces neuropathic pain in patients with incomplete spinal cord injury. Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2013;27(8):675-83.

13. Volz MS et al. Movement observationinduced modulation of pain perception and motor cortex excitability. Clin Neurophysiol. 2015;126(6):1204-11.

14. Martini M. Real, rubber or virtual: The vision of "one's own" body as a means for pain modulation. A narrative review. Conscious Cogn. 2016;43:143-51.

15. Longo MR et al. Linking pain and the body: neural correlates of visually induced analgesia. J Neurosci. 2012;32(8):2601-7.

16. Cardini F et al. Vision of the body modulates somatosensory intracortical inhibition. Cereb Cortex. 2011;21(9): 2014-22. 17. Mancini F et al. Changes in cortical oscillations linked to multisensory modulation of nociception. Eur J Neurosci. 2013;37(5):768-76.

18. Senkowski D, Heinz A. Chronic pain and distorted body image: Implications for multisensory feedback interventions. Neurosci Biobehav Rev. 2016;69:252-9.

19. Hoffman HG et al. Use of virtual reality for adjunctive treatment of adult burn pain during physical therapy: a controlled study. Clin J Pain. 2000;16(3):244-50.

20. Hoffman HG et al. Virtual reality as an adjunctive pain control during burn wound care in adolescent patients. Pain. 2000;85(1-2):305-9.

21. Hoffman HG et al. The analgesic effects of oploids and immersive virtual reality distraction: evidence from subjective and functional brain imaging assessments. Anesth Analg. 2007;105(6):1776-83.

22. Slater M. Place illusion and plausibility can lead to realistic behaviour in immersive virtual environments. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci. 2009;364 (1535):3549-57.

23. Maselli A, Slater M. The building blocks of the full body ownership illusion. Front Hum Neurosci. 2013;7:83.

24. Martini M et al. What Color is My Arm? Changes in Skin Color of an Embodied Virtual Arm Modulates Pain Threshold. Front Hum Neurosci. 2013;7:438.

25. Martini M et al. Modulation of pain threshold by virtual body ownership. Eur J Pain. 2014;18(7):1040-8.

26. Martini M et al. The body fades away: investigating the effects of transparency of an embodied virtual body on pain threshold and body ownership. Sci Rep. 2015;5:13948.

27. Hegedüs G et al. The rubber hand illusion increases heat pain threshold. Eur J Pain. 2014;18(8):1173-81.

28. Osumi M et al. Negative body image associated with changes in the visual body appearance increases pain

perception. PLoS One. 2014;9(9):e107376.

29. Dubin AE, Patapoutian A. Nociceptors: the sensors of the pain pathway. J Clin Invest. 2010;120(11):3760-72.

30. Veale JF. Edinburgh Handedness Inventory - Short Form: a revised version based on confirmatory factor analysis. Laterality. 2014;19(2):164-77.

31. Slater M et al. Inducing illusory ownership of a virtual body. Front Neurosci. 2009;3(2):214-20.

32. Thadewald T, Büning H. Jarque-Bera Test and its Competitors for Testing Normality - A Power Comparison. J Appl Stat. 2007;34(1):87-105.

33. Longo MR et al. Visually induced analgesia: seeing the body reduces pain. J Neurosci. 2009;29(39):12125-30.

34. Siedlecka M et al. Rubber hand illusion reduces discomfort caused by cold stimulus. PLoS One. 2014;9(10):e109909.

35. Hegedüs G et al. The rubber hand illusion increases heat pain threshold. Eur J Pain. 2014;18(8):1173-81.

36. McCabe C et al. Don't look now! Pain and attention. Clin Med (Lond). 2005;5(5):482-6.

37. Villemure C, Bushnell MC. Cognitive modulation of pain: how do attention and emotion influence pain processing? Pain. 2002;95(3):195-9.

38. Perez-Marcos D et al. Is my hand connected to my body? The impact of body continuity and arm alignment on the virtual hand illusion. Cogn Neurodyn. 2012;6(4):295-305.

39. Slater M et al. Towards a digital body: the virtual arm illusion. Front Hum Neurosci. 2008;2:6.

40. Hänsel A et al. Seeing and identifying with a virtual body decreases pain perception. Eur J Pain. 2011;15(8):874-9.

41. Nierula B et al. Seeing an embodied virtual hand is analgesic contingent on co-location. J Pain. 2017;pii: S1526-5900(17):30017-2. [Epub ahead of print].

PARADIGM SHIFT FOR THROMBOLYSIS IN PATIENTS WITH ACUTE ISCHAEMIC STROKE, FROM EXTENSION OF THE TIME WINDOW TO RAPID RECANALISATION AFTER SYMPTOM ONSET

Hye Seon Jeong, *Jei Kim

Department of Neurology and Daejeon-Chungnam Regional Cerebrovascular Center, Hospital and School of Medicine, Chungnam National University, Daejeon, South Korea *Correspondence to jeikim@cnu.ac.kr

Disclosure: The authors have declared no conflicts of interest. **Received:** 01.02.16 **Accepted:** 14.06.16 **Citation:** EMJ. 2017;2[2]:98-103.

ABSTRACT

Intravenous thrombolysis (IVT) and intra-arterial thrombolysis (IAT) are useful therapeutic tools to improve functional outcomes after recanalisation of occluded vessels in patients with acute ischaemic stroke. IVT could be performed for more patients by extending the time interval to 4.5 hours from onset to IVT initiation; however, this does not significantly improve functional outcomes. Recent studies indicated that IAT, particularly intra-arterial thrombectomy (IA-thrombectomy), significantly improved functional outcomes after recanalisation of occluded vessels, particularly when the recanalisation was performed within 6 hours of symptom onset. The focus of thrombolysis for acute ischaemic stroke patients is changing from extending the time window for IVT to successfully achieving good functional outcomes with IA-thrombectomy, by performing it within the 6-hour time limit. In this review, we discuss the present status of and limitations of extending IA-thrombectomy for improved functional outcomes after thrombolysis.

<u>Keywords:</u> Thrombolysis, intravenous thrombolysis (IVT), intra-arterial thrombolysis (IAT), intra-arterial thrombectomy (IA-thrombectomy).

INTRODUCTION

Thrombolysis, within the appropriate therapeutic window, is an essential tool that should be considered for patients with acute ischaemic stroke. Intravenous thrombolysis (IVT) has been considered as a primary thrombolysis for these patients.¹ Recently, the time frame for which IVT is effective has been extended from <3 to 4.5 hours from symptom onset to the administration of intravenous thrombolytic agent.^{2,3} However, when IVT is performed for acute ischaemic stroke within the extended time period, functional outcomes are not always significantly improved.^{2,4}

Intra-arterial thrombolysis (IAT) has been used as a bridging therapy after IVT failure or as primary thrombolysis within a 6-hour window for patients with acute ischaemic stroke.⁵ A higher

recanalisation rate has been reported with IAT than with IVT alone.⁵ Furthermore, compared with IVT or IAT using thrombolytic agents, significantly better functional outcomes and recanalisation rates have recently been achieved with the direct removal of the thrombus using intra-arterial thrombectomy (IA-thrombectomy) in acute ischaemic stroke patients.⁶⁻¹⁰

After the recent successes with IA-thrombectomy, it immediately became the thrombolytic tool of choice when performed within the therapeutic window.^{11,12} However, IVT is still recommended as the primary thrombolytic method for acute stroke patients, even if endovascular treatments are being considered, as this delivers high recanalisation rates and better clinical outcomes.¹³ IAT as the primary or bridging therapeutic option has several barriers to its nationwide or global use, such

as medical cost, limited availability of modern imaging tools, and experienced personnel.^{14,15} Here, we review the present status of thrombolysis and the benefits and limitations of IA-thrombectomy to achieve successful functional outcomes after thrombolysis in patients with acute ischaemic stroke.

CHANGES TO GUIDELINES FOR INTRAVENOUS THROMBOLYSIS

IVT can be rapidly initiated after confirmation of the inclusion criteria and time since onset for acute stroke patients.^{1,3} Following the publication of the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (NINDS) trial for IVT,¹ the appropriate dose and extension of the time window have been sought, primarily to decrease the haemorrhagic side effects and increase the number of patients who benefit from IVT.

Efforts to Change Dose of Thrombolytic Agent for Intravenous Thrombolysis

The recommended standard dose of tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) for IVT is 0.9 mg/kg body weight (maximum 90 mg); administration should be a bolus injection of 10% of the calculated dose, followed by administration of the remaining 90% of the dose at a constant rate over 60 minutes.¹ In previous Asian studies, a lower dose of 0.6 mg/kg tPA was evaluated for safety and to determine if it could achieve the same efficacy as the 0.9 mg/kg dose.¹⁶ This low-dose tPA, when initiated within 4.5 hours, had comparable effectiveness and safety as with the standard dose in South Korean stroke patients.¹⁷ However, the efficacy and safety of low-dose tPA need to be evaluated in a controlled trial.¹⁸ The ENCHANTED trial, which is a randomised controlled trial to evaluate low-dose tPA, recently completed recruitment.¹⁹

Changes in the Time Window for Intravenous Thrombolysis

Rapid recanalisation of the occluded intracranial artery is an important factor in achieving good clinical outcome after thrombolysis for acute ischaemic stroke patients.^{20,21} However, extending the time window for IVT from 3 to 4.5 hours was another important attempt to increase the number of acute ischaemic stroke patients eligible to receive thrombolysis. After the suggestion to extend the time window to >3 hours,²² the safety and clinical outcomes of IVT performed within

4.5 hours were similar to those within 3 hours in randomised trials including the SITS-ISTR²³ and ECASSIII³ trials. Extension of the time window to up to 6 hours for IVT was suggested in acute ischaemic stroke patients with penumbral area evaluated diffusion and perfusion mismatch on magnetic resonance imaging.^{24,25} Even though subsequent studies showed the functional benefits of extension of the time window up to 4.5 hours for IVT,²⁶ further studies are necessary to verify the safety and efficacy of this change.^{27,28} The 4.5-hour time window for IVT is recommended in the 2015 American Heart Association/American Stroke Association (AHA/ASA) guideline for acute ischaemic stroke patients.¹³

CHANGES TO GUIDELINES FOR INTRA-ARTERIAL THROMBOLYSIS

Compared with IVT, IAT and particularly IA-thrombectomy using advanced interventional devices could achieve recanalisation more reliably and lead to better functional outcomes for acute stroke patients.^{5,12} In the updated guidelines for IAT, the primary changes involve the devices used, and, time point for bridging or primary thrombolysis.¹³

Changes in the Thrombolytic Devices for Intra-Arterial Thrombolysis

After a successful randomised trial of direct intra-arterial injection of thrombolytic agents,²⁹ thrombolytic tools for IAT subsequently advanced to mechanical disruption^{30,31} and recently to direct removal of the thrombus using retrievable With stents^{32,33} and suction devices.³⁴ the advances in the IAT tools, the recanalisation rate significantly improved from >60% with direct injection⁵ to >80% with direct removal.³⁵ Ultimately, IA-thrombectomy using stent retrievers was recommended over direct intra-arterial injection as the primary IAT for acute stroke patients in the 2015 AHA/ASA guideline.¹³

Unlike IVT, the recanalisation status of the occluded vessels can be confirmed after IAT. Therefore, the time interval from onset-to-recanalisation (OTR) as well as the onset-to-treatment (OTT) time can be evaluated during IAT, including IA-thrombectomy. In the analysis of the functional outcomes following IAT, the OTT criteria of <6 hours was used. However, OTR is frequently >6 hours because IAT interventions usually take several hours to complete. Although knowledge of OTT is useful

to understand how quickly IAT is initiated, OTR is a better indicator of the start of reperfusion in the infarcted area. Therefore, to evaluate the benefits of IAT, including IA-thrombectomy, OTR might be more useful than OTT.

Three well-known studies that used only OTT to analyse functional outcomes after IAT failed to determine a benefit for these outcomes in acute ischaemic stroke patients.³⁶⁻³⁸ However, five pivotal studies that were subsequently conducted reported that good functional outcomes were achieved significantly more often in patients for whom OTR was within 6 hours.⁶⁻¹⁰ Another study looking at IA-thrombectomy, better showed functional outcomes (determined by a modified Rankin score 0-2) when OTR was <6 hours.³⁹ Evidence shows that rapid recanalisation, defined as a 6-hour time limit for OTR, was more important than rapid initiation of IAT, defined as a 6-hour time window for OTT, to achieve a good post-IAT functional outcome. In the 2015 AHA/ASA guidelines, a 6-hour time window for OTT is recommended for IAT, including IA-thrombectomy, as bridging or primary thrombolysis in patients who have a contraindication for IVT.¹³ However, the 6-hour time limit for OTR should be considered for the successful achievement of functional outcomes after IAT intervention forfuture acute ischaemic stroke patients.

Bridging Intra-Arterial Thrombolysis After Intravenous Thrombolysis Failure

Although rapid IVT within a 4.5-hour time window is recommended as the primary thrombolysis for acute ischaemic stroke patients with large artery occlusion, the rates of recanalisation and good functional outcome after IVT are <27%^{40,41} and <40%, respectively.⁵ Bridging IAT within a 6-hour time window has been attempted after a failed initial IVT and achieved a higher recanalisation rate of approximately 60%.⁵ Unfortunately, a previous randomised study failed to show clinical benefits in patients who underwent bridging IA-thrombectomy within the 6-hour OTT time window.³⁶ However, another randomised bridging study that achieved OTR within 6 hours observed significant improvement in the functional а outcome in patients who underwent bridging Now, IA-thrombectomy is IA-thrombectomy.⁷ recommended for bridging after unsuccessful IVT or primary therapy within a 6-hour time frame for OTT.¹³

FACTORS INFLUENCING FUNCTIONAL OUTCOMES AFTER INTRA-ARTERIAL THROMBOLYSIS

A 6-hour time limit for OTR, rather than the time frame for OTT, is an important factor for a good functional outcome in patients undergoing IAT. In addition to the OTR time limit, three types of factors are related with a good functional outcome after IAT: patient-related, infarction severity-related, and procedure-related factors.

Patient-Related Factors

Patient-related factors that are associated with prognosis or increased haemorrhagic risk with IVT^{42,43} and with functional outcome with IA-thrombectomy^{7,44,45} include older age, presence of cardiovascular risk factors, and presence of comorbid diseases before the start of thrombolysis. Atrial fibrillation might be an independent factor for functional outcome with IAT, including IAthrombectomy.⁴⁶ Intra-cerebral haemodynamic alterations⁴⁷ caused by systemic haemodynamic changes has been shown in patients with atrial fibrillation.⁴⁸ Altered intra-cerebral haemodynamic status in patients with atrial fibrillation could decrease the blood flow in the occluded hemisphere.47 Ultimately, clinical outcomes following acute ischaemic stroke may be worse in patients with co-morbid atrial fibrillation compared to those without this condition.⁴⁶ In addition, age-related vessel changes such as vascular tortuosity, distortion of the aortic arch and aorta, and high atherosclerotic burden inside the vessels delay catheter arrival to the thrombus and cause intervention-related infarctions in elderly patients.⁴⁹

Infarction Severity-Related Factors

Infarction severity-related factors include the initial clinical and radiological status before IAT. A high National Institutes of Health Stroke Score,^{45,50} low Alberta Stroke Program Early Computed Tomography score,^{45,46} extensive (>8 mm) clot burden,⁴⁶ and terminal ICA occlusion³⁹ on initial imaging are prognostic factors that correlate with poor functional outcome after IAT. The presence of collateral support to the ischaemic lesion pre-intervention angiography is on useful prognostically as it suggests there will be less infarct growth. Good collaterals to the ischaemic lesion are independently related with early improvement in functional outcome after IAT.46 Furthermore, good collateral circulation to the

ischaemic lesion is related with a higher recanalisation rate, shorter recanalisation time, and fewer haemorrhagic complications after IAT.⁵²⁻⁵⁴

Procedure-Related Factors

Procedure-related factors include recanalisation development of grade and haemorrhagic complications after IAT as well as the use of advanced intervention tools and shortened time intervals from symptom onset to recanalisation. As already discussed, using retractable stents and/or suction devices markedly increase the recanalisation rate with IAT. General anaesthesia with intubation and conscious sedation has been used for acute ischaemic stroke patients receiving endovascular therapy.55 Even though the individualised selection of conscious sedation and general anaesthesia was recommended during endovascular therapy in the 2015 AHA/ASA guideline,¹³ randomised trial data are still needed to determine the anaesthesia technique for endovascular treatment. In addition, shortened OTRs are related to enhanced functional outcomes after IAT. In previous studies, a successful recanalisation grade was useful for predicting good functional outcome^{5,56} and severe а haemorrhagic complications were associated with poor post-IAT outcomes.⁵⁷ However, in other previous studies, although the recanalisation grade and haemorrhagic complications were correlated with clinical outcomes after IAT and IAthrombectomy in univariate analysis, these two factors were not related with functional outcomes in the multivariate analysis.^{39,46}

EFFORTS TO EXTEND INTRA-ARTERIAL THROMBECTOMY

Although the five recent pivotal IA-thrombectomy studies showed the importance of a 6-hour OTR time limit to achieve a good functional outcome for patients with acute ischaemic stroke, it is not easy to quickly disseminate the practice of IA-thrombectomy nationwide in many countries.

One primary reason for this difficulty is the need to establish comprehensive stroke centres, in which experienced personnel and the critical pathway, including angiographic tools, are available 24/7. This is necessary to achieve the 6-hour OTR for recanalisation of the occluded vessels using IA-thrombectomy. These centres have been established in the USA and several European countries.^{58,59} However, in other, particularly

developing countries, the nationwide extension of comprehensive stroke centres might be limited by the availability of local expertise and economic support. Government initiatives could support a model to rapidly establish comprehensive stroke centres, as in South Korea.⁶⁰

Another primary issue is extension of IA-thrombectomy to more rural areas of a country that only have primary stroke centres or local hospitals. In rural primary stroke centres it might only be possible to start IVT for acute ischaemic stroke patients. Therefore, for patients living in these areas, a transfer network for bridging IVT/IA-thrombectomy is needed, with IVT performed first in a primary stroke centre, followed by IA-thrombectomy in a comprehensive stroke centre within the OTR time limit. The transfer network between local hospital and primary and comprehensive stroke centres might be the most important component for extending IA-thrombectomy to rural areas in the near future.

CONCLUSION

For patients with acute ischaemic stroke, IVT is recommended as primary thrombolysis within a 4.5-hour OTT time window.¹³ However, the rate of a good functional outcome, namely independent ambulation at discharge, remains at approximately 33% despite an extended time window of 4.5 hours.4 IA-thrombectomy Therefore is recommended, within a 6-hour time window, as a bridge after IVT failure, and primarv thrombolysis in patients who are contraindicated for IVT.¹³ IA-thrombectomy increases the overall rate of good functional outcomes to 47% for patients who undergo IAT within the 6-hour OTT time window and to 66% for patients who are re-canalised within the 6-hour OTR time limit after IAT.39

To date, there has been a lot of interest in increasing the probability of thrombolysis by extending the time window for acute stroke patients. Given the recent pivotal studies of IA-thrombectomy, attention should be given to increasing the probability of good functional outcomes. Now, we should try to start IVT within the extended 4.5-hour OTT time window. In addition, we need to increase the chance of IA-thrombectomy for acute intracranial large artery occlusion withinthe 6-hour OTR time limit to achieve good post-IAT functional outcomes, despite the barriers that exist in real-life settings.

REFERENCES

1. Tissue plasminogen activator for acute ischemic stroke. The National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke rt-PA Stroke Study Group. N Engl J Med. 1995;333(24):1581-7.

2. Wardlaw JM et al. Recombinant tissue plasminogen activator for acute ischaemic stroke: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2012; 379:2364-72.

3. Hacke W et al. Thrombolysis with alteplase 3 to 4.5 hours after acute ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med. 2008; 359(13):1317-29.

4. Saver JL et al. Time to treatment with intravenous tissue plasminogen activator and outcome from acute ischemic stroke. JAMA. 2013;309(23):2480-8.

5. Rha JH, Saver JL. The impact of recanalization on ischemic stroke outcome: A meta-analysis. Stroke. 2007; 38(3):967-73.

6. Campbell BC et al. Endovascular therapy for ischemic stroke with perfusion-imaging selection. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(11);1009-18.

7. Goyal M et al. Randomized assessment of rapid endovascular treatment of ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med. 2015; 372(11):1019-30.

8. Saver JL et al. Stent-retriever thrombectomy after intravenous t-PA vs. t-PA alone in stroke. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(24):2285-95.

9. Jovin TG et al. Thrombectomy within 8 hours after symptom onset in ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med. 2015; 372(24):2296-306.

10. Berkhemer OA et al. A randomized trial of intraarterial treatment for acute ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med. 2015; 372(1):11-20.

11. Ding D. Endovascular mechanical thrombectomy for acute ischemic stroke: A new standard of care. J Stroke. 2015; 17(2):123-6.

12. Balasubramaian A et al. Evolution of endovascular therapy in acute stroke: Implications of device development. J Stroke. 2015;17(2):127-37.

13. Powers WJ et al. 2015 American Heart Association/American Stroke Association focused update of the 2013 guidelines for the early management of patients with acute ischemic stroke regarding endovascular treatment: Guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/ American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2015;46(10):3020-35.

14. Kim JS. Endovascular therapy: A standard treatment? J Stroke. 2015; 17(2):93.

15. Tatlisumak T. Implication of the recent positive endovascular intervention trials for organizing acute stroke care: European perspective. Stroke. 2015;46(6):1468-73.

16. Mori E et al. Effects of 0.6 mg/kg intravenous alteplase on vascular and clinical outcomes in middle cerebral artery occlusion: Japan Alteplase Clinical Trial II (J-ACT II). Stroke. 2010;41(3):461-5.

17. Kim BJ et al. Low-versus standard-dose alteplase for ischemic strokes within 4.5 hours: A comparative effectiveness and safety study. Stroke. 2015;46(9):2541-8.

18. Ng KW, Sharma VK. Low-dose versus standard-dose tissue plasminogen activator for intravenous thrombolysis in Asian acute ischemic stroke patients. Stroke. 2010;41(8):e545-6.

19. Anderson CS et al. Statistical analysis plan for evaluating low- vs. standarddose alteplase in the ENhanced Control of Hypertension and Thrombolysis strokE stuDy (ENCHANTED). Int J Stroke. 2015; 10(8):1313-5.

20. Khatri P et al. Good clinical outcome after ischemic stroke with successful revascularization is time-dependent. Neurology. 2009;73(13):1066-72.

21. Yeo LL et al. Timing of recanalization after intravenous thrombolysis and functional outcomes after acute ischemic stroke. JAMA Neurol. 2013;70(3):353-8.

22. Hacke W et al. Association of outcome with early stroke treatment: Pooled analysis of ATLANTIS, ECASS, and NINDS rt-PA stroke trials. Lancet. 2004;363(9411):768-74.

23. Wahlgren N et al. Thrombolysis with alteplase 3-4.5 h after acute ischaemic stroke (SITS-ISTR): An observational study. Lancet. 2008;372(9646):1303-9.

24. Davis SM et al. Effects of alteplase beyond 3 h after stroke in the Echoplanar Imaging Thrombolytic Evaluation Trial (EPITHET): A placebo-controlled randomised trial. Lancet Neurol. 2008; 7(4):299-309.

25. Olivot JM et al. Relationships between infarct growth, clinical outcome, and early recanalization in diffusion and perfusion imaging for understanding stroke evolution (DEFUSE). Stroke. 2008; 39(8):2257-63.

26. Yeo LL et al. Early and continuous neurologic improvements after intravenous thrombolysis are strong predictors of favorable long-term outcomes in acute ischemic stroke. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2013;22(8): e590-6.

27. Wechsler LR. The 4.5-hour time window for intravenous thrombolysis with intravenous tissue-type plasminogen

activator is not firmly established. Stroke. 2014;45(3):914-5.

28. Fisher M, Hachinski V. European Cooperative Acute Stroke Study III: support for and questions about a truly emerging therapy. Stroke. 2009; 40(6):2262-3.

29. Furlan A et al. Intra-arterial prourokinase for acute ischemic stroke. The PROACT II study: A randomized controlled trial. Prolyse in Acute Cerebral Thromboembolism. JAMA. 1999;282(21): 2003-11.

30. Noser EA et al. Aggressive mechanical clot disruption: a safe adjunct to thrombolytic therapy in acute stroke? Stroke 2005;36(2):292-6.

31. Sorimachi T et al. Recanalization by mechanical embolus disruption during intra-arterial thrombolysis in the carotid territory. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol 2004; 25(8):1391-402.

32. Smith WS et al. Mechanical thrombectomy for acute ischemic stroke: Final results of the Multi MERCI trial. Stroke. 2008;39:1205-12.

33. Flint AC et al. Mechanical thrombectomy of intracranial internal carotid occlusion: Pooled results of the MERCI and Multi MERCI Part I trials. Stroke. 2007;38(4):1274-80.

34. Penumbra Pivotal Stroke Trial Investigators. The Penumbra Pivotal Stroke Trial: Safety and effectiveness of a new generation of mechanical devices for clot removal in intracranial large vessel occlusive disease. Stroke. 2009; 40(8):2761-8.

35. Hong KS et al. Endovascular recanalization therapy in acute ischemic stroke: Updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Stroke. 2015;17(3):268-81.

36. Broderick JP et al.; Interventional Management of Stroke (IMS) III Investigators. Endovascular therapy after intravenous t-PA versus t-PA alone for stroke. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(10): 893-903.

37. Ciccone A et al. Endovascular treatment for acute ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(25):2433-4.

38. Kidwell CS et al; MR RESCUE Investigators. A trial of imaging selection and endovascular treatment for ischemic stroke. N Engl J Med. 2013;368(10):914-23.

39. Jeong HS et al. Impacts of rapid recanalization and collateral circulation on clinical outcome after intraarterial thrombolysis. J Stroke. 2015;17(1):76-83.

40. Lee KY et al. Early recanalization after intravenous administration of recombinant tissue plasminogen activator

as assessed by pre- and post-thrombolytic angiography in acute ischemic stroke patients. Stroke. 2007;38(1):192-3.

41. Bhatia R et al. Low rates of acute recanalization with intravenous recombinant tissue plasminogen activator in ischemic stroke: Real-world experience and a call for action. Stroke. 2010;41(10):2254-8.

42. Strbian D et al. Predicting outcome of IV thrombolysis-treated ischemic stroke patients: The DRAGON score. Neurology. 2012;78(6):427-32.

43. Strbian D et al. Symptomatic intracranial hemorrhage after stroke thrombolysis: the SEDAN score. Ann Neurol. 2012;71(5):634-41.

44. Castonguay AC et al. Influence of age on clinical and revascularization outcomes in the North American Solitaire Stent-Retriever Acute Stroke Registry. Stroke. 2014;45(12):3631-6.

45. Raoult H et al. Prognostic factors for outcomes after mechanical thrombectomy with solitaire stent. J Neuroradiol. 2013;40(4):252-9.

46. Jeong HS et al. Predictive factors for early clinical improvement after intra-arterial thrombolytic therapy in acute ischemic stroke. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2014;23(4):e283-9.

47. Lavy S et al. Effect of chronic atrial fibrillation on regional cerebral blood flow. Stroke. 1980;11(1):35-8.

48. Abildskov JA et al. Atrial fibrillation. Am J Cardiol. 1971;28(3):263-7.

49. Ribo M et al. Difficult catheter access to the occluded vessel during endovascular treatment of acute ischemic stroke is associated with worse clinical outcome. J Neurointervent Surg. 2013;5 Suppl 1:i70-3.

50. Kurre W et al. Predictors of outcome after mechanical thrombectomy for anterior circulation large vessel occlusion in patients aged \geq 80 years. Cerebrovasc Dis. 2013;36(5-6):430-6.

51. Kamalian S et al. Clot length distribution and predictors in anterior circulation stroke: Implications for IA therapy. Stroke. 2013;44(12): 3553-6.

52. Marks MP et al. Effect of collateral blood flow on patients undergoing endovascular therapy for acute ischemic stroke. Stroke. 2014;45(4):1035-9.

53. Liebeskind DS et al. Collaterals at angiography and outcomes in the Interventional Management of Stroke (IMS) III trial. Stroke. 2014;45(3):759-64.

54. Bang OY et al. Collateral flow predicts response to endovascular therapy for acute ischemic stroke. Stroke. 2011;42(3):693-9.

55. Anastasian ZH. Anaesthetic management of the patient with acute ischaemic stroke. Br J Anaesth. 2014; 113(suppl 2):ii9-16.

56. Mazighi M et al. Dramatic recovery in acute ischemic stroke is associated with arterial recanalization grade and speed. Stroke. 2012;43(11):2998-3002.

57. Khatri P et al. Intracranial hemorrhage associated with revascularization therapies. Stroke. 2007;38(2):431-40.

58. Gorelick PB. Primary and comprehensive stroke centers: history, value and certification criteria. J Stroke. 2013;15(2):78-89.

59. Leys D et al. Facilities available in European hospitals treating stroke patients. Stroke. 2007;38(11):2985-91.

60. Kim J et al. Establishment of government-initiated comprehensive stroke centers for acute ischemic stroke management in South Korea. Stroke. 2014;45(8):2391-6.

If you would like reprints of any article, contact: +44 (0) 1245 334450.

EM EUROPEAN MEDICAL JOURNAL

SUBSCRIBE TO RECEIVE THE LATEST

PUBLICATIONS,

NFWS

& UPDATES

FTTERS

FROM A HOST OF THERAPEUTIC AREAS

If you are interested in submitting a paper to EMJ, contact editor@emireviews.com



europeanmedical-journal.com



EUROPEAN UNION European Regional Development Fund 2007-13